
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG  

 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PANEL 

AGENDA 
 

Venue: This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not 
take place in a physical location  

Date:   Friday, 9th April, 2021 
Time:   3.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby            Tel: 07385 362806 

 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 21 August 2020  1 - 4 

4. Local Plan - Verbal Update   

5. Shopfront Design Guide  5 - 42 

6. Conservation Area Appraisals  43 - 352 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Membership: Councillors Carl Walmsley (Chair), James Date, Jeanette Forster, Linda Jones-
Bulman, Michael McVeigh, Graham Minshaw (Deputy Chair) and Andy Pratt 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 07385 362806 
   E-mail:  clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PANEL 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY, 21 AUGUST 2020 
 

Present: Councillors Carl Walmsley, in the Chair; James Date, Jeanette Forster, 
Graham Minshaw and Andy Pratt 
 
Officers: Chris Hoban (Strategic Planning Manager), Karen Adams (Strategic 
Planning Officer), Leanne Parr (Principal Strategic Planner), Ellie Church 
(Strategic Planner), Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer) and Rose 
Blaney (Electoral and Democratic Services Officer) 
 
 

LDF 20/1 Apologies for Absence  
 
There were no Apologies for absence received.  
 

LDF 20/2 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no Declarations of Interests made at this meeting. 
 

LDF 20/3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 5 November 2019  
 
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2019 be 
signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

LDF 20/4 Local Plan Preferred Options Draft Report  
 
The Strategic Planning Manager presented the Copeland Local Plan Preferred 
Options Draft  
2017-2035 to the Panel. 
 
Members of the Strategic Planning team then provided more detail for each 
section of the Plan. 
 
By way of background, the Panel was advised that the Council consulted on the 
Issues and Options for the new Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 between 
November 2019 and January 2020.  
Feedback from that consultation (which generated 43 responses), together with 
updated evidence based reports and assessments had informed the Preferred 
Options. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



The Preferred Options had been tested for the sustainability and their potential 
impacts on the environment through the Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. 
 
The Panel was advised that if the recommendation was agreed and also agreed 
by Council, the Preferred Options would be subject to an eight week public 
consultation commencing on 21 September 2020 to gather views on the 
proposals, policies and sites . 
 
The Strategic Planning team were thanked for their hard work in preparing the 
Local Plan Preferred Options Draft report and for their presentation 
 
A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 5 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 
RESOLVED:-  that the Copeland Borough Local Plan Preferred Options Draft 
report be approved and forwarded to Council on 8 September 2020 for 
consideration, with a recommendation that an 8 week public consultation be 
commenced. 
 

LDF 20/5 Local Development Scheme 2020  
 
The Strategic Planning Manager informed Members that the Local Development 
Scheme, which was approved by Council on 19 November 2019, required some 
minor updates and these were presented to the Panel. 
 
A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 5 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 
RESOLVED:- that the Local Development Scheme 2020 as the Council’s work 
programme for producing the new Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 be agreed 
and forwarded to Council on  
8 September 2020 for adoption. 
 

LDF 20/6 Revised Statement of Community Involvement 2020  
 

The Strategic Planning Manager informed Members of amendments made to 
the Revised Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 2016 to take account 
of the restrictions due to Covid-19, the updated Development Management 
processes and the fact that planning applications were now available on-line, 
and an update to the Council’s Neighbourhood Planning Protocol.  

Page 2



 
A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 5 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 
RESOLVED:- that the changes to the Statement of Community Involvement, 
including the temporary limitations in public/face to face engagement due to 
the Covid-19 restrictions be supported and forwarded to Council on 8 
September 2020 for adoption. 
 
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 3.50 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

LDF Panel 090421 

Draft Shopfront Design Guide SPD 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER:   Councillor Andy Pratt 
LEAD OFFICER:  Chris Hoban 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Chris Hoban/Sammy Woodford 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

To present the Draft Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) to Members, seek comments on the document and gain 
approval to consult on the draft Design Guide.   

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Members consider the issues and guidance proposed in the Draft SPD, 
and agree that the Draft SPD be presented at Full Council with a 
recommendation that the Council undertakes a six-week public consultation 
on the Draft SPD between Monday 10th May and Monday 21st June 2021. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Council is producing a Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) to help ensure attractive and effective 
shopfronts are provided and maintained in order to support the vitality 
of the borough’s town centres and villages.   

1.2 Many of the shops are traditional in style and within historic buildings 
within the towns and villages, and so this Shopfront SPD will 
complement and add more detail to the Conservation Area Design Guide 
SPD. 

1.3 Supplementary Planning Documents need to go through a consultation 
process before they can be adopted, and this report briefly outlines that 
process and the content of the Draft SPD.  It is proposed to consult on 
the document for six-weeks Monday 10th May and Monday 21 June. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

2 

 

1.4 It is expected that following the consultation the amended SPD will be 
presented to Members for adoption in the Autumn. 

1.5 Once adopted the SPD will provide further detail and guidance on the 
implementation of policies and proposals contained in the Copeland 
Local Plan and will be a material consideration when determining 
planning applications. 

 

2.0 PRODUCING THE SHOPFORNT DESIGN GUIDE SPD 

2.1 Supplementary Planning Documents are non-statutory documents which 
are not subject to an independent examination and do not have 
Development Plan status; instead their purpose is to provide greater 
detail to support policies in the Local Plan.   

2.2 The Council’s Conservation and Design Officer has produced a draft 
document.  The Draft SPD identifies key elements of shopfronts, and 
provides a history of how they have evolved over time, to give owners 
and businesses an understanding of their buildings and shopfronts.  It 
then highlights things to consider, good practice and things to avoid for 
anyone maintaining or providing a new shopfront so it can maximise its 
effectiveness for the business and the building. 

2.3 SPDs usually require a Sustainability Appraisal in order to assess the 

potential impacts on social, economic and environmental objectives, 

however it has been confirmed by the statutory consultees that a 

Sustainability Appraisal is not required for this document. 

2.4 The Draft SPD will be subject to a thorough process of public 

consultation, in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI), and it is proposed to hold this consultation between 

Monday 10th May and Monday 21st June 2021.  

2.5 Following the public consultation, the proposed amendments to take 

account of the issues raised will be reported back to the LDF Panel later 

in the year for consideration and approval.  Following this it will be 

presented at Full Council with a recommendation to adopt the Shopfront 

Design Guide as a Supplementary Planning Document. 

 

Page 6



 

3 

 

3.0  CONCLUSION 

3.1 The Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document will be a 
useful tool in ensuring that traditional shopfronts in the borough’s towns 
and villages are as attractive and effective as possible. 

3.2 The process of producing an SPD requires public consultation and this 
report seeks comments on the draft document and approval for a six 
week public consultation. 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1: Draft Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

   

  
DRAFT COPELAND 

SHOPFRONT DESIGN GUIDE 
 

APRIL 2021 
 

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

P
age 9



 

 

 

Consultation on Draft Copeland Design Guide SPD 

This draft document is available for comment between Monday 10th 

May and Monday 21st June 2021 as part of a six week public 

consultation. 

To view and download an electronic copy of this Draft Copeland 

Shopfront Design Guide please visit the Copeland Borough Council 

website: www.copeland.gov.uk.   

The document can also be viewed at all libraries in the Borough and 

the Copeland Borough Council offices as the buildings’ opening 

hours and procedures allow. 

Please make any comments on the accompanying Comment Form 

and return it no later than Monday 21st June 2021 to: 

Strategic Planning 

Copeland Borough Council 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

Cumbria 

CA28 7JG 

Email: localplanconsultation@copeland.gov.uk  

Telephone: 01946 598300  

P
age 10

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/
mailto:localplanconsultation@copeland.gov.uk


 

 

 

1. Introduction ................................................................................ 1 

1.1. Purpose of this document ................................................... 1 

1.2. Do I need a new shopfront? ................................................ 1 

1.3. Do I need permission? ......................................................... 1 

2. Policy Context ............................................................................. 2 

2.1. National Legislation ............................................................. 2 

2.2. National Policy ..................................................................... 2 

2.3. Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies DPD ...................................... 3 

2.4. Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft 

Policies ............................................................................................ 5 

3. Some Key Parts of a Shopfront ................................................... 7 

4. How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time ................................ 9 

4.1. Georgian Period (approx. 1700-1840) ................................ 9 

4.2. Victorian Period (approx. 1840-1900) ............................... 10 

4.3. Edwardian Period (approx. 1900-First World War) .......... 11 

4.4. Modernist Period (First World War-approx. 1980) ........... 12 

4.5. Contemporary Shopfronts (Since 1980s) .......................... 13 

5. Things to consider ..................................................................... 14 

5.1. Proportions and detailing .................................................. 14 

5.2. How will it be lit? ............................................................... 15 

5.3. How is the signage designed? ........................................... 15 

5.4. Choice of timber ............................................................... 15 

5.5. Historic colour schemes .................................................... 16 

6. What to Avoid .......................................................................... 17 

6.1. Bad Practice Example ........................................................ 18 

6.2. Poor Proportions ............................................................... 19 

6.3. Oversized Fascias .............................................................. 20 

6.4. Garish Colours and Patterns ............................................. 20 

6.5. Clutter and Poor Quality Projecting Signs......................... 21 

6.6. Poor Maintenance ............................................................ 22 

6.7. Unattractive Shutters ........................................................ 23 

6.8. Flatness ............................................................................. 23 

7. Good Practice ........................................................................... 24 

7.1. A Checklist ......................................................................... 24 

7.2. Good Practice Example ..................................................... 25 

7.3. Some Good Practice Case Studies .................................... 26 

8. Contact Details ......................................................................... 31 

 

 

P
age 11



 

 
1 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 1 Introduction 

  1. Introduction 

1.1. Purpose of this document 

This guide is a supplementary planning document, meaning it is 

a material consideration in the planning decision-making 

process. 

It applies to the part of Copeland that’s outside the Lake District 

National Park. There are many settlements in this area with 

historic shopfronts, and many more with historic buildings that 

have lost their shopfronts. 

This document highlights the importance of these often 

overlooked and poorly adapted elements – maintaining them, 

repairing them, and creating well designed replacements where 

necessary. 

It will be of use to anyone involved in altering or creating a 

shopfront. 

1.2. Do I need a new shopfront? 

Repair is far better than replacement in cases where historic 

shopfronts survive, even when they have been damaged in 

localised areas, lost historic features such as glazing bars, or have 

had detail obscured by layers of paint. Unlike plastic, timber can 

be easily repaired. 

 

 
1.3. Do I need permission? 

Proposals that make a material alteration to the external 

appearance of a building may need planning permission.  

Additionally, if the building is listed, proposals that could affect 

its special historic or architectural interest will need listed 

building consent.  

Straightforward maintenance such as splicing in replacement 

timber or repainting will not need planning permission and is 

unlikely to need listed building consent. 

Advertisement consent is required for some forms of signage.  

Most work to shopfronts won’t require approval under the 

Building Regulations, however, changes that affect the access or 

make structural changes may require approval. 

 

The Council offers advice for free, so please get in touch to ask 

and we’ll be happy to help. 

See Section 8: Contact Details 

 

P
age 12



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

2 

2. Policy Context 

This section will soon be updated to reflect Copeland’s new Local 

Plan 2017-35.  

In this transitional edition of the Design Guide, both the current 

and the emerging Local Plan policies are reproduced together. 

2.1. National Legislation 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: 

 Section 16(2) establishes a need “in considering whether 

to grant listed building consent for any works [for the 

Local Planning Authority to] have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 

features of special architectural or historic interest”.  

 Section 66(1) also extends this to the granting of 

planning permission affecting a listing building or its 

setting 

 Section 72(1) states that “special attention shall be paid 

to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance of [a conservation] area.” 

 

 

2.2. National Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Paragraph 192 states that “In determining applications, 

local planning authorities should take account of the 

desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance 

of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses 

consistent with their conservation…” 

 Paragraph 193 states, in the case of designated heritage 

assets [e.g. listed building], “great weight should be given 

to the asset’s conservation.” 

 Paragraph 197 states the effect on the significance of a 

non-designated heritage asset [e.g. a historic but unlisted 

building] should be taken into account when making 

decisions. 

 Paragraph 200 urges that, in new development 

opportunities should be sought to enhance or better 

reveal the significance of conservation areas. 

 Paragraph 201 refers to heritage assets in conservation 

areas, stating that loss of an element that makes a 

positive contribution to the area should be treated as 

either substantial or less-than-substantial harm.  

 

 

P
age 13



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

3 

2.3. Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies DPD 

 ST1C(ii) highlights the importance of protecting, enhancing 

and restoring the Borough’s cultural and heritage features 

and their settings.  

 ST1D emphases the council’s commitment to creating and 

retaining quality places. 

 ST3B & C places regeneration sites in south and central 

Whitehaven (the town centre and harbourside, Pow Beck 

Valley, Coastal Fringe and the South Whitehaven Housing 

Market Renewal Area), and town centre renewal areas in 

Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom, as strategic 

development priorities 

 ENV4A stresses the importance of protecting designated 

heritage assets, including conservation areas and other 

features considered to be of historic, archaeological or 

cultural value. 

 ENV4C aims to strengthen the distinctive character of 

Copeland’s settlements through high quality urban design 

and architecture that respect character and setting. 

 ER7B & C contain development objectives, including to: 

o Support Whitehaven’s role as a tourist and visitor 

destination linked to its unique heritage and 

independent and specialist retailers; 

o Protect and where possible enhance the services 

and facilities provided in the Key Service Centres of 

Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom. 

 ER8I Development in Whitehaven Town Centre should 

maintain a high standard of design consistent with a 

conservation area of national significance. 

 ER9 Retail and service development which promotes the 

vitality and viability of Key Service Centres, Local Centres 

and other smaller centres, and is consistent with the spatial 

development strategy as defined in Policy ST2 and Figure 

3.2, will be supported.  

 DM6A The Council will protect and promote the vitality and 

viability of the defined town centres by requiring non-retail 

uses in premises with shop frontages to incorporate a 

suitable window display. 

 DM10 emphasises the need for high quality design and 

quality places. 

 DM27A outlines support in principle for developments that 

“protect, conserve and where possible enhance the historic, 

cultural and architectural character of the borough’s historic 

sites and their settings”. 

 DM27C outlines the restriction in principle of development 

within conservation areas to that which preserves or 

enhances the character or appearance of the area. 

 DM27D highlights the necessity of avoiding disrespectful 

alterations, substantial demolition, adverse effects on 

setting or views, or changes of use that harm the 

conservation or economic viability of a listed building. 

 DM29 contains policies on appropriate advertisements 

 

P
age 14



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

4 

 

 

The Conservation Area Design Guide is a supplementary planning 

document adopted in 2017, which is a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications within conservation areas.  

It offers more general design guidance, not focused solely on 

shopfronts, and should be read in conjunction with this guide. 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 15



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

5 

2.4. Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft 

Policies 

 DS4PO: Strategic Development Priority Projects 

Development that helps establish the Lake District Coast 
brand and enhances the experience economy and our 
natural and built environment is a strategic priority that will 
help transform our Borough, support economic growth and 
diversification and improve social and community 
infrastructure 

 DS5PO: Development Principles 
o Protection, enhancement and restoration of the 

Borough’s valued natural and cultural assets 
o Creation and retention of quality places 

 DS7PO: Design Standards 
The Council will expect all new development to meet high 
quality standards of design 

 E1PO: Economic Growth 
Promoting investment in the public realm of employment 
sites and working with owners to achieve improvement and 
regeneration of appropriate sites  

 R1PO: Vitality and Viability of Town Centres and other 
Identified Villages within the Hierarchy 
The Council will seek to enhance the vitality and viability of 
town centres and other defined villages identified in the 
settlement hierarchy by working with partners and 
applicants 

 R5PO: Whitehaven Town Centre 
Development that supports the role of Whitehaven Town 
Centre as the Principal Town will be encouraged and 
supported where it: 

o Provides improvements to public realm, shop front 
aesthetics, linkages and signage; 

o Improves the aesthetics of shop frontages and/or 
historic attributes; 

 R6PO: Whitehaven Town Centre Primary Shopping Area 
Whitehaven Primary Shopping Area is the focus for retail 
use in Copeland. To support and promote the vitality and 
viability of the centre, proposals for other main town uses 
(i.e. non A1) will be supported within the defined primary 
shopping area where the proposal complements the retail 
function and makes a positive contribution to the vitality, 
viability and diversity of the town centre, in terms of 
maintaining well designed active, continuous  frontages, 
appropriate signage and hours of opening 

 R7aPO: Cleator Moor Town Centre 
Development that provides opportunities to reduce the high 
level of vacancy rates, improve the viability, vitality and 
community spirit of Cleator Moor Town Centre will be 
encouraged and supported where it accords with the 
Development Plan and results in the repair, regeneration 
and refurbishment of derelict  buildings within the centre; 

 R7bPO: Egremont Town Centre 
Development that provides opportunities to reduce the high 
level of vacancy rates, improve the viability, vitality and lack 
of investment in the Town Centre will be encouraged and 
supported where it accords with the Development Plan and: 

o Results in the repair and renovation of derelict 
buildings; 

o Involves the repair and renovation of vacant units in 
the gateways to the town 

P
age 16



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 2 Policy Context 

6 

 R7cPO: Millom Town Centre 
Development that provides opportunities to decrease the 
need to shop on line, reduces the high level of vacancy 
rates,  and improves the viability and vitality in the Town 
Centre will be encouraged and supported where it accords 
with the Development Plan and: 

o Results in the regeneration of historic buildings; 
o Results in the repair and renovation of derelict  

buildings 

 R10PO: Non-retail development in Town Centres 
o Proposals should make a positive contribution to the 

vitality, viability and diversity of the town centres in 
terms of maintaining active continuous well-
designed frontages, appropriate signage  

o The proposal should not give rise, either alone or 
cumulatively, to a detrimental effect on the 
character and amenity of the town centres 

 R11PO: Shopfronts 
Well designed and appropriate shopfronts, whether original 
or reproduction, should be retained wherever practicable 
and restored when opportunity arises. Shopfronts should 
relate in scale, proportion, materials and decorative 
treatment to the façade of the building, conservation area 
and relate well to the upper floors and adjacent buildings 
and/or shopfronts. Proposals relating to shopfronts should 
accord relevant design guidance prepared by the Council 

 R12PO: Hot Food Takeaways 
Hot food takeaways (use class A5) will not be permitted 
where they harm the amenity of neighbouring uses and the 
character and appearance of the environment 

 BE1PO: Heritage Assets 
Heritage assets and their settings will be conserved and 
enhanced by: 

o Ensuring that new development is sympathetic to 
local character and history 

o Promoting heritage-led regeneration initiatives in 
the Borough, particularly within the town centre 

o Supporting proposals that increase the 
enhancement, promotion and interpretation of the 
Borough’s architectural and archaeological resources 

o Strengthening the distinctive character of the 
Borough’s settlements, through the application of 
high quality design and architecture that respects 
this character and enhances the setting of heritage 
assets 

 BE2PO: Designated Heritage Assets 
Development should preserve or enhance heritage assets 
and their setting. Proposals that better reveal the 
significance of heritage assets will be supported in principle 

 BE4PO: Non-designated heritage assets 
Development should preserve or enhance heritage assets 
and their setting. Proposals that better reveal the 
significance of heritage assets will be supported in principle. 
Proposals affecting heritage assets or their setting should 
demonstrate that consideration has been given to the 
significance of any heritage assets affected, including any 
contribution made by their setting. Where the scale of any 
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset 
outweighs the benefits of the proposal the development 
will be resisted  

P
age 17



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 3 Some Key Parts of a Shopfront 

7 7 

3. Some Key Parts of a Shopfront 

  

P
age 18



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 3 Some Key Parts of a Shopfront 

8 8 

 
1 

Engaged column – A curved shaft that is attached to the wall and typically load bearing. Here, the engaged columns are used to 

emphasize the entrance and support the arch above. 

Mullion (vertical) and transom (horizontal) – These elements divide up the expanse of a window into smaller areas, allowing for 

smaller panes to make up a bigger area of glass, and introducing directional emphasis. Note how the transom lines up with the lintel 

over the entrance door. The small panes above the transom are called transom lights. 

Fascia signage – The fascia is the horizontal band at the top of the shopfront. Signage should be slim, discreet and not overwhelm the 

proportions of the façade. 

Alignment of shopfront with façade – Here, the entrance lines up with façade elements above and the divisions of the shopfront 

respect the proportions and rhythm of the windows and bays above. 

Enrichment of entrance – Details create elaboration at the entrance, introducing hierarchy, a sense of occasion and clarity to the 

front of the building. 

Fanlight – This is positioned over, not in, the door and makes the entrance appear taller while allowing light access. 

Pilaster – Similar to an engaged column but not structural, pilasters are an ornamental remnant of the classicism of many shopfronts, 

and they also provide framing that divides up the façade. 

Console – Consoles and corbels are often confused, but whereas corbels are structural elements that support something above them, 

consoles are decorative only. They often appear on Victorian fronts, curved, scrolled and otherwise decorated. 

Stallriser – The solid element of the wall below the window sill, typically divided up by the bases of pilasters. Earlier shopfronts tend 

to have taller stallrisers as they were more closely related to domestic architecture 

2

 

3

 

4

 

5

 

6

 

8

 
9

 

7

 

P
age 19



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

9 

4. How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

The following section is intended to be helpful in the creation of a new shopfront. How old is your building? What style might be appropriate? 

4.1. Georgian Period (approx. 1700-1840) 

Georgian shopfronts are characterised, mostly, by simplicity, with small panes of glass (as manufacturing processes for larger panes had not 

been developed) and taller stallrisers. Shop fronts, generally speaking, draw origins from the temple architecture of classical antiquity. 

 

Figure 1 A Georgian-style shopfront, showing the connection to its classical origins. The labels are elements of a classical façade, showing 
how they are present within this design. The diagram features an earlier bay window on the left and a later bow window on the right 

P
age 20



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

10 

4.2. Victorian Period (approx. 1840-1900) 

Victorian shopfronts are usually more elaborate. Arches may feature across the main panes of the shopfront window, and cast ironwork, 

often in the form of colonettes. 

 

Figure 2 A Victorian style shopfront reminiscent of the latter 19th century. (A) An iron colonette serving as a mullion; (B) The pilaster is fluted, 
meaning it has grooves that introduce rhythm and lightness  

P
age 21



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

11 

4.3. Edwardian Period (approx. 1900-First World War) 

The Edwardian period was short but has its own distinct character as a result of technological advancements and the First World War. The 

Edwardian period is characterised by full-sized panes of glass, lower stallrisers, but still a richness of materials and proportion that is today 

viewed as characteristically historic. Entrance doors were often centrally mounted and recessed, sometimes with a lamp above and/or 

mosaic design on the step. 

 

Figure 3 An Edwardian style shopfront with retractable blind. You may wish to consider incorporating a blind of this design on your own shop. 

P
age 22



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

12 

4.4. Modernist Period (First World War-approx. 1980) 

Following the First World War, modernism became the predominant overarching typology, moving away from the classicism that had 

characterised two centuries of shopfronts by that point. This lasted until about 1980. 

Art deco could be seen as a kind of stepping stone between generally late-19th century styles such as Arts and Crafts and the sweeping, high-

tech modernism that characterised much of the 20th century. It evolved, from its lavish inception in the 1920s, into the more restrained 

industrially influenced Streamline Moderne that was internationally popular in the 1930s and 40s. It evolved again into the more locally-

responsive Brutalist solutions popular in the 1960s and 70s. 

 

Figure 4 An Art deco style building, which might have been built in the 1930s. Interwar cladding (faience, Vitrolite glass, granite etc.) is fragile 
and often difficult to repair/replace, so great care should be taken with it. 

P
age 23



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 4 How Shopfronts Have Changed Over Time 

13 

4.5. Contemporary Shopfronts (Since 1980s) 

Contemporary shopfronts tend to be characterised by large areas of glazing, bold, clear graphics and flat areas of aluminium cladding. 

Ornamentation is not in fashion and hasn’t been for decades, but this is perhaps due for a change as the pared-back, catalogue-specified and 

cost-driven shopfronts that have typified recent years start to appear lifeless. 

The Apple Store model has been very influential since the millennium, with the shopfront designed in a way that is as transparent as possible, 

emphasising the interior of the shop. However, many imitators have failed to attain the carefully contrived level of design needed to pull this 

off, resulting in a shopfront that lacks presence without the compensation of a truly frameless effect or an interior worth showing off. 

 

Figure 5 A shopfront of the 1980-2020 period. There is little in the way of philosophy or craft underpinning this design. It is simple and highly 
transparent, but is not committed to any particular ideas about what a shop is or how it should function. Note the unattractive external 
rollerblind shutter. A better security solution may be possible, e.g. an internal shutter.

P
age 24



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 5 Things to consider 

14 14 

  5. Things to consider 

5.1. Proportions and detailing 

Symmetricity – Where does the door go? 

 

 

 

Figure 6 (L) A shopfront with the door on the right hand side and 
three windows, splitting the area into quarters. (R) A wider 
symmetrical shopfront where the door is central 

Lining up elements with the rest of the façade to create a unified 

whole.  

 

Figure 7 Alignment with the facade elements above 

Should the windows be subdivided by transoms, mullions, 

glazing bars?  

Figure 8 Four different styles of window: (1) A plain picture 
window; (2) A single mullion; (3) Mullion and transoms; (4) 
Mullion, transoms and glazing bars 

Should the door be recessed? If so, is there a step? If so, is the 

step decorated e.g. by a mosaic? 

 

Figure 9 (Top) A flush door; (Bottom) A recessed door 

P
age 25



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 5 Things to consider 

15 15 

  5.2. How will it be lit? 

 

Figure 10 Lighting should be discreet. Here, uplighting is hidden 
above a fascia sign's architrave 

5.3. How is the signage designed? 

 

 

Figure 11 (Top) The most attractive option is often hand-lettered 
signwriting painted straight onto the fascia; (Bottom) However, 
a modest and proportionate fascia sign is generally fine too 

5.4. Choice of timber 

Modified timbers have excellent rot resistance and dimensional 

stability, meaning a shopfront so constructed will not decay, 

warp or split for years if well maintained. These are typically 

softwoods that have been modified by heat or acetylation. 

Embodied energy and woodland management should be 

considered when specifying. Many treated woods require large 

amounts of energy to treat and are also shipped large distances.  

The “Grown in Britain” certification provides an impetus to 

reduce transport waste and encouraging management of British 

broad-leafed woodland.  

Heat treated timber is often difficult to work, so would probably 

be unsuitable for ornate ornamental work such as a console 

bracket. Sustainably sourced hardwoods such as sapele or iroko 

are also viable options.  

Only certain plywoods are suitable for external use. Orientated 

strand board (OSB) is unlikely to be suitable for building a 

shopfront. 

See the Timber Research and Development Association for 

comprehensive info: www.trada.co.uk  

Poor lighting can be a major factor in causing 

light pollution and amenity issues, and affect 

the character of the place. 

It is also possible that objects projecting over 

the highway will need a license from Cumbria 

County Council, so this should be considered. 

P
age 26

http://www.trada.co.uk/


 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 5 Things to consider 

16 16 

5.5. Historic colour schemes 

There is flexibility with colours, but these samples show a few 

shades that would have been used historically. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Art Deco 

Doors/woodwork 

Gloss black 

 

Metalwork 

Stainless steel, brass 

 

 

Cladding 

This became a major departure – black granite, 

marble, travertine, faience (glazed terracotta 

tiles) and structural glass (e.g. Vitrolite) 

Edwardian 

Sash windows and render 

Off-white, cream or pale stone shades 

 

Doors/woodwork 

A range of greens, blues and creams was 

popular.  

Sometimes etched glazing 

 

 

Exterior metalwork 

Brass became popular 

 

Victorian 

Sash windows and render 

Off-white, cream or pale stone shades 

 

 

Doors/woodwork 

Brunswick greens, bronze greens, dark 

reds/maroons, purple-browns 

 

 

 

Railings 

Blue-grey (early 19th century) or bronze-

green (later 19th century) 

 

Georgian 

Sash windows and render 

Off-white, cream or pale stone shades 

 

Doors/woodwork 

Dark saturated brown, murky green 

Furniture is black, not polished brass 

 

Railings 

Blue-grey 

 

P
age 27



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

17 17 

6. What to Avoid

P
age 28



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

18 18 

6.1. Bad Practice Example 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

Poor quality lighting that clutters the façade and causes light 

pollution. Is lighting really necessary? If so, how can it be 

concealed? 

Signage is intrusive, badly designed and dominates the shopfronts. 

Signage should generally not reach as high as the first floor window 

sills. 

The shopfronts have no relationship to the facades above, lacking 

any rhythm or cohesion. They appear chaotic and cobbled-

together. 

Posters, alarm boxes, cables, brackets etc. can create clutter that 

detracts from a frontage. Care must be taken to site additions 

discreetly, remove redundant accretions. Posters in windows 

should be avoided where possible, and attractively designed where 

needed. 

Colour schemes that are lurid and discordant. They dominate the 

street and project an unsophisticated image. 

 

Security shutters should preferably be of attractive design and 

located internally. External steel roller shutters present an 

unwelcoming appearance when closed and are often unattractive 

when open, if not integrated well. 

The following sub-sections show pitfalls 

to look out for in real life 

P
age 29



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

19 19 

6.2. Poor Proportions 

A shopfront is a part of the frontage of a building, and each 

building frontage is a part of the entire street. 

It is therefore important to understand the rhythm and form of 

the frontages on the street, and how the building sits within it. 

 

Figure 12 This shopfront has lost its original corner door, 
undermining the architectural effect.  

Additionally, the fascia is unsympathetically designed and the 
arrangement of openings underneath is both unbalanced in its 
own right and dissociated from the forms of the building and the 
street. 

 

Figure 13 The distinctive arrangement of buildings in a 
streetscape will tell you something of how a shopfront should fit 
in. 

 

Figure 14 These shopfronts are not accordant with rules of 
proportion. The lack of pilasters causes vertical emphasis, and 
definition of bays and plot widths, to be lost. 

P
age 30



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

20 20 

6.3. Oversized Fascias 

The fascia is the horizontal strip at the top of the shopfront. It 

corresponds to the frieze in the entablature of a classical temple 

façade (See page 9).  

It should not be too large or overbearing. It should generally stop 

short of the first floor window sills, and not dominate the 

proportions of the shopfront. 

 

Figure 15 This fascia is oversized. It occupies almost half the 
vertical height of the shopfront.  

In most cases, the fascia should not reach as high as the first floor 
window sills. 

 

6.4. Garish Colours and Patterns 

Bright colours should be used carefully. Care should be taken 

that the numbers of different colours is fairly minimal and that 

they are chosen to complement. 

 

Figure 16 This fascia design combines various bright colours.  

Although bright colours can have a warming and cheerful effect 
used sparingly, they can easily become overwhelming and 
detract from the rest of the façade.  

P
age 31



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

21 21 

 

Figure 17 This design would benefit from a simpler and more 
toned-down colour palette. When text is added, the effect is 
rather busy. This shopfront is also composed only of its signage: 
framing and organising elements would help its readability. 

 

Figure 18 As a general rule, the brighter the colour the more 
cautiously it needs deploying; tangerine and lime green are 
particularly volatile in combination. 

6.5. Clutter and Poor Quality Projecting Signs 

Shopfronts can become overwhelmed by small additional 

elements like standalone signs, railings, cables, lights, alarm 

boxes etc. 

Care must be taken to incorporate these as neatly as possible, 

and dispense with those that are not needed. 

 

Figure 19 This building has accumulated a number of accretions 
over the years that prevent it looking as good as it might: signage 
without a consistent appearance including projecting signs, 
lighting, cables, a litter bin, alarm boxes, and external shutter 
boxes. 

In cases like this it may be possible to remove elements that are 
no longer necessary or integrate them more discreetly.  

P
age 32



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

22 22 

6.6. Poor Maintenance 

Water damage is a major issue. 

Rainwater goods that are not properly cleaned and maintained 

can overtop and run water down the entire front of a building. 

Defective lead flashing across the top of a shopfront will allow 

water to penetrate down the back. 

Most softwoods compound this problem as they are not durable.  

 

Figure 20 A shopfront where the right pilaster has been rotted 
away by a missing rainwater pipe that has run water over it 
without being fixed.  

The shopfront was brand new only eight years before this photo 
was taken. Longevity and maintenance need factoring in. 

 

Figure 21 Algae and dirt caused by rain splashing on the base of 
the render. This is an easy fix with cleaning and repainting, if the 
render is sound. 

 

Figure 22 This shopfront’s difficulties are compounded by the 
dilapidation of the building it’s attached to. 

P
age 33



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 6 What to Avoid 

23 23 

6.7. Unattractive Shutters 

Security is important, but not all security measures are equally 

impactful. 

 

Figure 23 Heavy-handed external shutter. This project a poor 
appearance when closed and necessitates the fitment of bulky 
housings for when it’s rolled up. 

Installing laminated or toughened glass may be justifiable in 

critical locations. Where shutters can be justified, an open mesh 

design on the inside of the glass should be used. 

Mullions, transoms and glazing bars are their own form of 

security – smaller panes are harder to access through and 

cheaper to replace should they become broken. 

6.8. Flatness 

This is one of the most common problems affecting new 

shopfronts: there should be relief, elements that stand out. If 

not, the shopfront appears flat, almost “painted on”. 

Consider how your design looks in section, or from the side. 

Which elements stand forward? Which take a framing role? 

Which are more recessed? 

 

Figure 24 Here, the gablet (small gabled element) is deep enough 
to have its own lead capping, with the downpipe neatly 
integrated behind, between stone blocks that subtly resemble the 
curved console brackets underneath the gablet.  

Note the depth of the cornice, the projecting moulding at the top, 
with small blocks – called dentils – underneath it. 

Recall the parts of an entablature shown on page 9. 

P
age 34



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

24 24 

7. Good Practice  

7.1. A Checklist 

1. Repair an existing historic shopfront if possible, rather than replacing it. 

2. If creating a new shopfront, understand that it is part of the entire façade, and the façade is a component of the streetscape.  

3. Do not limit your imagination. Good design can take a variety of forms. A shopfront does not have to take a traditional style, however 

this may be the most appropriate choice for a traditional shop on a traditional street. 

4. Create a shopfront that is durable and will last many years. 

5. Contribute to local character and the sense of place. 

6. Does the shopfront appear “designed for” the building? The shopfront should articulate separate bays of the frontage, suit its 

proportions, and have a clear entrance. Make sure signs, lighting, shutters etc. are discreet and well integrated. Colour schemes should 

be harmonious across shopfronts and the façades to which they belong. 

7. Ensure signage is attractive and fits well with the shopfront and surroundings. House styles/branding should be adapted as necessary. 

8. Understand what you are aiming for in advance. Do not achieve something half-hearted or watered-down for lack of a detailed plan. 

9. Remember, a shopfront is a framing device. It is intended to make the building more beautiful and inviting to visitors. It adds definition 

to the front of the building, provides rhythm and colour to the street scene, and displays the contents, style and character of your shop. 

A well designed and maintained shopfront is one of the best adverts to passers-by. 

10. Shopfronts are cumulative: groups of attractive shopfronts create an attractive street where people will want to be. By contrast, ugly, 

dilapidated shopfronts harm the business of everyone in the area, and can, when widespread, lead to people losing faith in their town or 

village. 

P
age 35



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

25 25 

7.2. Good Practice Example   

  

D 

C 

B 

A 

Shopfronts should respect the rhythm of 

the building, and not span multiple bays 

in unbroken expanses. 

 

 

Signage is carefully designed, discreet 

and complementary to the 

surroundings. 

 

 

Quantity of posters, stickers, images, 

banners and adverts in windows should 

be minimised. 

 

 

Colour schemes are chosen to be 

attractive and harmonious, not merely 

bright 

 

P
age 36



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

26 26 

7.3. Some Good Practice Case Studies

 

Figure 25 An example on Wellington Street in Millom  

A simple, attractive colour scheme and discreet signage make 

the most of this original Victorian shopfront.  

This is interesting in making use of sliding sash windows, allowing 

a view in but also conveying a cosy appearance.  

The effect has been complemented by some neat etched-style 

signwriting and a selection of decorations – pastel-hued bunting 

and pot plants – to show off the purpose and character of the 

shop.  

The frontage itself is in a good state of repair, clutter is kept to a 

minimum, and the entrances are clear and inviting. 

 

Figure 26 A larger shop just opposite on Wellington Street,  

This impressive Victorian shopfront is also largely complete, and 

complements the grander status of this building.  

This shopfront would benefit from redecorating and a different 

arrangement of glazing bars, but would nonetheless provide an 

excellent window onto the interior if occupied.  

This clearly demonstrates the role of a shopfront both as a 

framing device for the shop contents – a kind of display case – 

and an architectural feature of the building façade. 

 

 

P
age 37



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

27 27 

 

Figure 27 This shop on Lapstone Road in Millom is unusual in 
being fronted by a pair of canted bay windows.  

Here, the facia and cornice visually tie the bays and the entrance 

between them together, and the symmetry matches the 

symmetry of the façade.  

The shopfront is clearly a designed part of the overall building, 

and the colour scheme and mouldings unite the composition.  

The windows are not obscured by images or adverts, but are 

simply signwritten and used to display produce. 

 

 

 

Figure 28 An impressive example on South Street in Egremont  

Large, broad and richly ornamented pilasters with triangular 

gablets, fluting and swags (the pendant decoration) to mark out 

the three bays of the façade. Note that even though the 

shopfront is tall, it still stops well short of the first floor window 

sills.  

This example also makes clear the effect poor quality 

refenestration and choice of colour can have. The black scheme 

is likely not a reflection of the original, but the brilliant white 

section inserted on the right obscures rather than reveals the 

qualities here.  

The colour schemes outlined on page 16 would be a good 

starting point for redecoration ideas. 

 

P
age 38



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

28 28 

 

Figure 29 A more modest example that is nonetheless positive 

This shopfront is not executed perfectly, and the building it’s 

attached to is of no great elegance, but this image demonstrates 

what can be achieved fairly simply by focusing on signage, colour 

and general neatness.  

It’s simple, understated, and makes the most of this property. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 30 An attractive Victorian building in Cleator Moor  

This makes use of large display windows with arched tracery and 

simple signage to show off its collection of wares.  

The symmetry of the shopfront matches the façade above and 

looks designed for it, rather than an afterthought.  

The location of the entrance is clear. Note the gate providing 

security – an attractive alternative to a shutter. 

One small change that could improve this example is switching 

from brilliant white to a colour that suits the red sandstone 

better. 

 

P
age 39



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

29 29 

 

Figure 31 Surviving Victorian elements on King Street in 
Whitehaven  

This may initially not seem very special as the fascia is completely 

blank, but on closer inspection you will notice the wonderful 

Composite-style pilasters at either side, with their curled volutes 

at the top, leafy foliation, vertical fluting strakes and inlaid 

marble panels.  

Also very fine are the iron colonettes between the panes of glass. 

They feature pierced spandrels at the top, which flare out to 

create the impression of graceful arches. A great deal of 

attention has been put into creating something beautiful here. 

Brilliant white paint has been avoided, and the pilasters retain 

their authentic Victorian colour scheme, and there is no clutter 

of signage and graphics; just a display of produce and a pair of 

hanging flower baskets. 

 

Figure 32 The shopfront as it appeared in the early 20th century: 
T. Glessal’s outfitters. 

 

 

P
age 40



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 7 Good Practice 

30 30 

 

Figure 33 This building on Tangier Street, Whitehaven, dates from 
the turn of the 19th/20th centuries. It retains all its original 
detailing, including this excellent shop front. 

Although a dark colour scheme has been used it is not black and 

does not obscure and flatten the detailing; the signage in the 

windows is fairly minimal. The sign above the door is small and 

fitted to the fascia; corporate colours have been avoided for the 

background and limited to the logo only. The sign on the side is 

minimal: just a logo on a background that matches the shop front 

colour. 

The shop front is subtly curved to follow the curve of the 

building, and pilasters are used to frame the two sections. 

 

 

 

 

If tempted to dismiss shopfront design as “traditional”, 

meaning outmoded, fusty or backward-looking, it’s all too 

easy to also dismiss the attention to detail and sheer pride 

that went into them. 

Rediscovering this dedication to design – whether in 

classical, modernist or more contemporary forms – is key to 

the regeneration of our high streets. 

 

P
age 41



 

 

Draft Copeland Shopfront Design Guide 8 Contact Details 

31 

8. Contact Details 

 

Guidance prepared by: 

Dr Sammy Woodford 

Conservation and Design Officer 

Copeland Borough Council 

 

Contact: 

Copeland Borough Council 

01946 598 300 

info@copeland.gov.uk 

 

Visit our front desk, or write to Development 

Management using the post box located at: 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

 

P
age 42

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk


1 

 

LDF Panel 090421 
 

Conservation Area Appraisals 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER:   Councillor Andy Pratt 
LEAD OFFICER:  Chris Hoban 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Ellie Church/Sammy Woodford 
 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To present the Conservation Area Appraisals that have been produced for 
Cleator Moor, Egremont, Hensingham, Millom and St Bees. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That Members note the Conservation Area Appraisals and their role as 
evidence for the Copeland Local Plan and when considering planning 
applications in Conservation Areas. 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Conservation Area designation brings the following work under planning 

control: 
 

 Demolition of buildings 

 Works to or removal of trees 

 Development that may be permitted elsewhere, e.g. some house 
extensions 

 
1.2 Local Planning Authorities have a responsibility under law to “from time 

to time determine which parts of their area are areas of special 
architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it 
is desirable to preserve or enhance” Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 69(1).These are designated as 
Conservation Areas. The Local Authority has a duty to review these areas 
and make a commitment to consider the effect of proposed 
development on the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area. 

 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



2 

 

1.3 A Conservation Area Appraisal is a tool that explores and defines what is 
special about the architecture and history of an area, and therefore 
worth preserving or enhancing. This identifies the features that make a 
positive or negative contribution to the Conservation Area, opportunities 
for enhancement and the need for protection through the planning 
system. 

 
1.4 Conservation Area Appraisals make up an important part of the evidence 

base for the emerging Copeland Local Plan (2017-2035), contributing to 
the development of the historic environment policies and ensuring that 
the land allocations and policies within the plan are not at the detriment 
of the setting of Copeland’s Conservation Areas. 

 
1.5 The appraisals will also be used during the Development Management 

process to assess the impact of potential developments and can be a 
useful self-assessment tool for those submitting the applications. 

 
2.0 CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISALS IN COPELAND 
 
2.1 Copeland Borough Council currently administers eight Conservation 

Areas in: 
 

 Beckermet 

 Cleator Moor 

 Corkickle 

 Egremont 

 Hensingham 

 Millom  

 St Bees 

 Whitehaven 
 
2.2 A further Conservation Area, Ravenglass, is located within Copeland but 

administered by the Lake District National Park Authority. 
 
2.3 Whitehaven, Corkickle and Beckermet Conservation Areas have had 

Conservation Area Appraisals produced in recent years to support 
regeneration and understand the potential impacts of development. 

 

Page 44



3 

 

2.4 In order to ensure the evidence base is up to date the Council has now 
undertaken Appraisals for the remaining five of Copeland’s Conservation 
Areas in Cleator Moor, Egremont, Hensingham, Millom and St Bees. 

 
3.0 CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
3.1 The Council’s Conservation and Design Officer has been producing 

Appraisals for these Conservation Areas over the course of the past year, 
and each Appraisal was undertaken in line with Historic England’s 2016 
advice document as follows: 

 

 A detailed assessment of the area was made using secondary data 

 Site visits to the area then followed to provide a holistic understanding 
of the historic environment and the production of a draft appraisal 

 Each draft appraisal was then made available for a four week public 
consultation period when people could make comments. This was then 
followed by a virtual meeting which members of the public could attend 
to discuss matters and give feedback  

 
3.2 Following the feedback received, the appraisals were updated as 

required.  This work has now been completed and the Conservation Area 
Appraisals are attached in Appendices 1-5 for your information. 

 
3.3 They will be published as supporting evidence that explain the 

characteristics of the Conservation Areas.  They can then help decision 
making when considering planning applications and producing the 
Copeland Local Plan. 

 
 

APPENDICES 
Appendix 1: Cleator Moor Conservation Area Appraisal 
Appendix 2: Egremont Conservation Area Appraisal 
Appendix 3: Hensingham Conservation Area Appraisal 
Appendix 4: Millom Conservation Area Appraisal 
Appendix 5: St Bees Conservation Area Appraisal 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cleator Moor Conservation Area Appraisal 
2021 

 

  

Page 47

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/


 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Background ............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.2. What is a conservation area? .................................................................................................. 2 

1.3. What is the purpose of this document? ................................................................................. 3 

2. Location, History and Development ............................................................................................... 4 

2.1. Overview of Cleator Moor Conservation Area........................................................................ 4 

2.2. Historic Development ............................................................................................................. 5 

2.2.1. Origins ............................................................................................................................. 5 

2.2.2. Development History ...................................................................................................... 5 

2.2.3. Map Progression ............................................................................................................. 6 

3. Character ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

3.1. Built Environment ................................................................................................................... 8 

3.1.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form .............................................................................. 8 

3.1.2. Materials ....................................................................................................................... 24 

3.1.3. Uses ............................................................................................................................... 25 

3.2. Public Realm .......................................................................................................................... 25 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses ................................................................................................. 25 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths ............................................................................................................ 27 

3.2.3. Boundaries .................................................................................................................... 29 

3.3. Natural Environment............................................................................................................. 30 

3.3.1. Open Spaces .................................................................................................................. 30 

3.3.2. Water ............................................................................................................................ 30 

3.3.3. Trees .............................................................................................................................. 30 

4. Key Characteristics ........................................................................................................................ 31 

5. Summary of Issues ........................................................................................................................ 32 

6. Appendices .................................................................................................................................... 34 

6.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) ....................................... 34 

6.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets ............................................................................. 35 

6.3. Area Maps ............................................................................................................................. 36 

7. Bibliography .................................................................................................................................. 39 

 

  

Page 48



 

Index of Selected Places 

Cragg Road 
Columba Club .................................................................................................................................... 14 
Former Auction Mart ........................................................................................................................ 16 
Methodist Church ............................................................................................................................. 15 

Earl Street 
Phoenix Court.................................................................................................................................... 16 
Sunday School ................................................................................................................................... 15 

High Street 
01-04 ................................................................................................................................................. 22 
07-09 ................................................................................................................................................. 21 
10-12 ................................................................................................................................................. 20 
13-20 ................................................................................................................................................. 19 
40-47 ................................................................................................................................................. 18 
48 ...................................................................................................................................................... 18 
55 (former Conservative Club) .......................................................................................................... 23 
58 (former Natwest) ......................................................................................................................... 23 
84 ...................................................................................................................................................... 22 
The Commercial ................................................................................................................................ 21 

Jacktrees Road 
05 ...................................................................................................................................................... 12 
14-23 ................................................................................................................................................. 13 

Market Place 
Local Government Offices ................................................................................................................... 8 
Memorial Fountain ........................................................................................................................... 10 
Public Library ....................................................................................................................................... 9 

Market Square 
Civic Hall ............................................................................................................................................ 11 

Market Street 
01-03 ................................................................................................................................................. 18 
former Masonic Hall ......................................................................................................................... 18 
vacant plot ........................................................................................................................................ 17 

 

  

Page 49



 

Glossary 

Acanthus A carved decorative representation of the leaf of an acanthus plant 

Architrave The lowest part of an entablature, sitting on columns in a classical façade. Also a 

moulded surround for a doorway, window or arch 

Article 4 A local authority direction that restricts specified permitted development rights 

Ashlar  Masonry consisting of squared, close-jointed blocks 

Capital  The distinct, broadened pad at the top of a column 

Chamfer A sloping face at an edge or corner 

Cornice  A projecting ornamental band at the top of a façade; the top section of an entablature 

Entablature The upper section of a classical façade, supported by columns, consisting of three 

layers: an architrave, above that a frieze, and above that a cornice 

Fenestration The arrangement of windows 

Fluting  A set of narrow, parallel grooves used as decoration 

Frieze  A horizontal band in the middle of an entablature, sometimes decorated 

Hipped  (Of a roof) Having pitched ends over the gable walls 

Kneeler A horizontal, slightly projecting stone at the ends of the roof eaves, parallel with the 

gable wall 

Pediment An ornamental gable, often triangular or arched, used above windows and doors 

Pilaster A vertical strip of projecting masonry or timber, resembling a column, used as 

decoration 

Portico  A porch in the form of a projecting roof with columns 

String Course An ornamental horizontal band formed by raised or carved masonry 

Stucco  Fine, smooth plaster for wall facing and forming decorative features 

Rectilinear Consisting of straight lines 

RSJ  Rolled steel joist 

Wesleyan Relating to the teachings of John Wesley, founder of Methodism 

 

Page 50



1 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Background 

Copeland Borough Council (the Council) currently administers eight conservation areas 

(Whitehaven, Corkickle, Hensingham, Egremont, Cleator Moor, Beckermet, St Bees, and Millom). 

A further conservation area, Ravenglass, is located within Copeland but administered by the Lake 

District National Park Authority. 

These range in size and character, with Whitehaven, the country’s first post-medieval planned 

town and one of its most complete, being the largest in area (approximately 80 hectares) and the 

first designated (1969). Hensingham is the smallest at approximately two hectares. 

Cleator Moor was designated in 2001. More recently, a brief overview was provided in the 

Borough’s Conservation Area Design Guide (2017), but this appraisal has the capacity for a more 

in-depth assessment. 

 

Figure 1 Cleator Moor within Copeland 

 

  

Page 51



2 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? 

Local Planning Authorities have a responsibility under law to: 

…from time to time determine which parts of their area are areas of special 

architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable 

to preserve or enhance… [Underlines added] 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 69(1) 

These areas are designated as conservation areas, and the authority also has a duty to from time 

to time review the areas designated (Section 69(2)). This means the Council has made a 

commitment to take account of the effect on character and appearance of any development 

proposed within the area, and this applies to its entirety, not merely its buildings. 

The special interest of a conservation area is engendered by all its positive qualities, and a job of 

the planning process is to ensure that change in a conservation area avoids harm to its positive 

aspects while allowing its negative aspects to be addressed. In order to do this, its character in 

positive, neutral and negative terms must be understood, stated and agreed upon. This is the job 

of the character appraisal (a requirement of Section 71(1) of the Act). 

The appraisal is created through a process of public engagement with local people, whereby 

attendees at a meeting have the opportunity to present their views (1990 Act Sections 71(3-4)). 

Once finalised, conservation area designation brings the following work under planning control: 

 Demolition of buildings (where demolition is not already controlled) 

 Works to or removal of trees 

 Development that may be permitted elsewhere, e.g. some house extensions 

Generally, home owners benefit from conservation area designation as the controls sustain 

and/or enhance property values, a finding that has been confirmed by research from the London 

School of Economics (Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland, 2012). 

Planning applications made in conservation areas are typically made in full rather than in outline 

as this allows their implications to be fully understood. This process is not only governed by the 

1990 Act mentioned above, but also from guidance such as the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) and local policy such as found in the Copeland Local Plan.  

Additionally, conservation area appraisals are useful in discharging Section 72(1) of the 1990 Act, 

in which “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance” of the area. The appraisal does an important job in describing that 

character and appearance comprehensively. 

 

Page 52



3 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? 

A conservation area appraisal is a tool that explores and defines what is special about the area’s 

architecture and history, and therefore worth preserving or enhancing: 

A good appraisal will consider what features make a positive or negative contribution 

to the significance of the conservation area, thereby identifying opportunities for 

beneficial change or the need for planning protection. 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 025 Reference ID: 18a-025-20190723 

Appraisal takes a broad approach, looking at the development and evolution of an area, the 

relationships within and outside it, how it is used and has been used in the past, and if it has any 

associations with notable people, movements, innovations or practices.  

A place’s street pattern may be of importance, along with the style, appearance, construction and 

arrangement of its buildings. Key views, connections, boundaries, nodes where people meet, 

junctions, routes and zones are important: in other words, what makes the place what it is, what 

makes it valuable, and what makes it distinct from other places. 

With this process there is the opportunity to reappraise what is already known about the area. 

Places are in constant flux, both in terms of their physical makeup and in what we understand of 

them. 

The appraisal will be used during the development control process to gauge the impact of 

potential developments. It can also be used by those making planning applications as a resource 

to assist in self-assessment, and may be of interest to people living in or studying the area, either 

generally or in the course of commenting on a planning application.  

The relationship between a conservation area and its occupants is particularly important because 

the maintenance of property within the area is one of the key ways by which its character can be 

preserved and enhanced, and harm avoided. 

This appraisal has been prepared following detailed assessment of Cleator Moor using Historic 

England’s 2016 advice document on conservation area character appraisals. It contains 

appendices mapping building quality and landscape analysis, which should be viewed in 

conjunction with the descriptive sections. While it attempts to reach a sufficiently high level of 

detail, it is not possible to describe all that is significant and interesting, so where aspects have 

been omitted or overlooked this should not be taken to mean that they lack architectural or 

historical importance. 

  

Page 53



4 

2. Location, History and Development 

2.1. Overview of Cleator Moor Conservation Area 

Cleator Moor conservation area was designated in 2001, making it the second most recent of 

Copeland’s areas to be designated. It is a relatively small area centred on the Market Square, 

including a short section of the High Street. 

 

Figure 2 The conservation area within Cleator Moor 

The area contains six listed structures, one of which is a terrace comprising eight premises (13-20 

High Street). Additionally, it contains 58 High Street, formerly the NatWest Bank, 5 Jacktrees Road 

including its cast iron and glass veranda, and three structures within the square itself: the Victorian 

local government offices, Edwardian library, and the 1903 memorial fountain that stands before 

them adjacent to High Street. All these structures are listed grade II. 

The pattern of the conservation area’s urban grain is rectilinear, with streets meeting at right 

angles and lying parallel with each other. This gives a strong sense of corners with straight edges 

enclosing blocks between them. 

Buildings are a mixture of two and three storeys, with those lying around the square generally 

taller than those within it, which gives a sense of an open space that is partly given over to car 

parking, surrounded by a clearly defined edge. Though the attractive 13-20 High Street lies on the 

north side of the square, apart from this the north side is generally less strongly defined than the 

remainder, with a less consistent series of facades. High Street is framed by a series of two and 

three storey frontages that are varied in quality. This section of the conservation area features 

Page 54



5 

two or three attractive higher status buildings that are slightly taller and more elaborate than 

those around them, including the listed former NatWest branch at number 58. 

The conservation area was added to Historic England’s Heritage at Risk register in 2019 on account 

of its poor and deteriorating condition. 

2.2. Historic Development 

2.2.1. Origins 

Cleator Moor’s conservation area is primarily a product of industrial and mining activity during 

the late Victorian period, however the town’s history extends back as far as the 12th century. 

High quality haematite prompted the development of the town from a few cottages into a  

booming settlement with a peak population of over 10,000 people in the early 1880s.  

Though Cleator Moor’s population increased dramatically during the latter half of the 19th 

century, it was the late 17th century that first saw iron smelting take place in the area, 1694 

when the village of Cleator became the site of Cumbria’s first blast furnace. Coal mining also 

took place in the town, with the first coal being extracted from the later 18th century onwards. 

A significant proportion of those arriving in Cleator Moor for work in its heyday were from 

Ireland, leading to the nickname “Little Ireland” and a corresponding level of Catholicism in 

the town that was uncharacteristically high compared with the majority of England.  

2.2.2. Development History 

A key aspect of Cleator Moor’s growth from a scattered rural settlement into the hive of 

industry it became was the availability of Irish workers who arrived in the North-West of 

England following the Great Famine in the 1840s. This ready source of labour, combined with 

the presence of high-grade raw materials, spurred the creation of the town. It was during this 

period that the grain of Cleator Moor began to transform from little scattered clusters to the 

regimented arrangement of terraced houses, interspersed by larger buildings, recognisable 

today. 

The attractiveness of Cumbria’s iron ore was due to its low phosphor content, which made it 

suitable for the Bessemer process of steel manufacture, the first such inexpensive mass 

production technique. During the 1860s and 1870s, expansion of Cleator Moor’s population 

led to a housing shortage, although levels of prosperity in the town were relatively high due 

to the demand for steel. 

This transformation was accompanied and accomplished by the introduction of a network of 

railway lines, served by two stations, which connected to the Whitehaven, Cleator and 

Egremont Railway and the Cleator and Workington Junction Railway respectively. However, 

by the early 20th century other forms of steel manufacture were gaining traction, which left 

the relatively expensive Cumbrian haematite at a disadvantage. Following the First Word War, 

mining in the area steadily declined. In this sense, the story of Cleator Moor closely resembles 

that of Millom in the south of the Borough, which expanded during the same decades 

(between about 1860, when the railways arrived, and 1920, or the end of the First World War) 

on the viability of iron ore mining and steel working. 

Page 55



6 

2.2.3. Map Progression 

 

Figure 3 OS Map 1860 – Urban development is fairly light, consisting of two small clusters of 
terraced houses at the intersections of Birks Road and Crossfield Road with the Ennerdale 
Road. Despite the lack of housing that was to become problematic in the 1870s and 80s, a 
number of pits and the haematite ironworks are already marked and connected by railways. 

 

Figure 4 OS Map 1898 – By 1898, Cleator Moor has expanded quite noticeably. Housing is 
being developed in two main clusters: around Crossfield Road and St John’s Church, and 
around the junction of Birks Road, where the majority of the buildings within the 
conservation area have been built, including the Market Square. 

Page 56



7 

 

Figure 5 OS Map 1923 – Between 1898 and 1923, relatively little changes. The majority of 
the development Cleator Moor experienced in the 20th century postdates World War Two and 
has been focused on residential provision and decommissioning/redevelopment of mining 
sites. The listed library on Market Place is a notable exception, dating from 1906. 

 

Figure 6 OS Map 2020 – Post-war residential development has significantly increased the 
surface area of the town and all of the mining and steel working related infrastructure has 
been removed. The site of the iron and steel works has been redeveloped into an industrial 
estate; the path of the railway that bisected the town is left now as an unusual area of “no-
man’s land”, creating a town of two halves. The paths of the railways are still visible as strips 
of vegetation. 

Page 57



8 

3. Character 

3.1. Built Environment 

3.1.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form 

Virtually all of Cleator Moor’s conservation area’s built environment dates from the late 19th 

century, with a small amount from the early 20th. Within Market Square, and facing its forward 

section adjoining Market Street, which is known as Market Place, the original and central 

building is the grade II listed Local Government Offices. This dates from 1877-79 and is of red 

sandstone in a classical style as is common for public buildings from this period, to a design by 

GE Grayson. This building was originally a market hall and public offices, and was augmented 

by library spaces in 1894, however, this use was not to last as a dedicated library was built 

next door in 1906. This later building is still Cleator Moor’s library and is of a similar style and 

appearance to the Local Government Offices. 

 

Figure 7 Local Government Offices, listed grade II 

The Local Government Offices is a handsome, symmetrical building consisting of a single tall 

storey with cellars. It is well proportioned and detailed, with a hipped slated roof with iron 

rainwater goods. Chimneys are retained. Ashlar moulding and string courses break up the 

squared, coursed rubble that constitutes the majority of its masonry. Sash windows with plain 

panels below are arranged two per side to flank a porticoed main entrance with engaged 

columns and dog-legged stairs. This approach to design is quite typical of the period, whereby 

civic buildings are given a temple-like appearance, reflecting their stature as places set apart 

from and above the workings of daily life. 

Page 58



9 

 

Figure 8 Local Government Offices, listed grade II, along with two of the Square’s three 
sculptures by local artist Conrad Atkinson (1988). 

The neighbouring 1906 library is similarly listed grade II and styled in the classical way, which 

essentially lasted until the Second World War but quickly came to be seen as passé in the post-

war years. Nonetheless, this and the Local Government Offices make an attractive pair and a 

high quality centrepiece to the conservation area, dignifying the Market Place with a stature 

that is unapologetically civic and accentuated by the space allowed around the buildings, 

setting them apart from their surroundings. 

 

Figure 9 Public Library, listed grade II 

This public library is a Carnegie Library, which is to say an example funded using a grant from 

the Carnegie Corporation, which for a thirty year period between approximately 1890 and 

Page 59



10 

1920 engaged in the greatest period of philanthropic support of public buildings there has 

ever been. This endeavour has been called the “advent of transatlantic standards for public 

space” because the same organisation was funding the same types of buildings concurrently 

in both the UK and US. The library dates from 1906, which was during the middle of the period, 

in which the Corporation was transitioning to a more tightly controlled approach to the 

architecture of the buildings it was funding. This was a period in which Carnegie’s secretary 

James Bertram was taking a more central role in the organisation of the funding process, 

which culminated in his publication in 1911 of the pamphlet “Notes on the Erection of Library 

Buildings”, which essentially provided six template layouts to suit different site sizes and 

shapes. The aim of this was to minimise the scheme’s expenditure on grandiose architecture. 

In Market Place, to the front of the Local Government Offices, stands the grade II listed 

memorial fountain. This is not a war memorial, but a dedication to the town’s benefactor John 

Stirling on the occasion of his golden wedding anniversary. It dates from 1903, and was 

originally topped with a finial in the shape of a heron or pelican, which had been lost by the 

time of listing in 1973. It is conceivable that this still exists somewhere in the locale, but no 

information about it is currently known. 

 

Figure 10 The 1903 memorial fountain, listed grade II, which used to be topped by a finial 
shaped like a bird 

The impression of Market Square has been eroded by the large quantity of railings that were 

fitted during a public realm scheme in the early 1990s. They are not objectionable by 

themselves, and are indeed of good quality in isolation, but collectively they overpower the 

space, making it appear cluttered and partitioned. 

Page 60



11 

 

Figure 11 Iron railings, dating from the early 1990s 

The impression is further eroded by the Civic Hall, an unfortunate post-war building, the harm 

of which is fortunately limited by it being only a single storey. It replaced an earlier market 

hall that dated from the first phase of the Square in 1879 but burnt down in 1966 following 

its use to a plastics factory.  

The current hall does feature an octagonal annexe, which is a slightly interesting addition, 

although it is not externally detailed to a high standard. Alteration involving higher quality 

fenestration, coupled with a more attractive solution for the rest of the building, could do 

much to improve and add definition to the whole rear half of the square, bounded by Jacktrees 

Road, Cragg Road and Market Street. Most recently, this site has been added to with a meeting 

room, granted consent in 2007. Interestingly, this building closely resembles a Victorian goods 

shed. It is in red-orange brick, with coped and kneelered gables, slate roof and semicircular-

headed windows. It is of quite minimalist design and sits unobtrusively within its surroundings 

despite being something of an anachronism, this site never having been used for rail freight. 

Page 61



12 

 

Figure 12 Civic Hall 

On the corner of Jacktrees Road and High Street there used to stand a substantial three storey 

building with shop fronts around its base, however, following fire in 1921 this was mostly 

demolished, leaving a gap site that does little to define the junction. 

 

Figure 13 The vacant corner plot of Jacktrees Road and High Street. This robs an important 
junction (between High Street and the Market Square) of a lot of stature. 

Surrounding Market Square there are several buildings that contribute to the conservation 

area’s character and distinctiveness. 5 Jacktrees Road, the former Co-Operative building, is 

listed grade II and is notable for its cast-iron veranda carried on thirteen fluted Gothic 

columns. The building itself has a simple, handsome façade of thirteen bays that features 

fluted pilasters at its ground floor. It is a rebuild and enlargement of the original premises, 

Page 62



13 

which were constructed at the time of the establishment of this part of the town, probably in 

the 1860s, and today constitute the central part of the building. The veranda is likely part of 

the rebuild, and therefore dates to the early 20th century, at which time the building was 

lengthened at the ends and the gables/ridges raised to a consistent height.  

The building’s current colour scheme, like that of most of the buildings surrounding the 

square, is very muted, with an essentially white-on-white theme that, while it does accentuate 

the dark green of the ironwork, fails to add much vivacity to the townscape. 

 

Figure 14 5 Jacktrees Road and its veranda, listed Grade II 

A terrace of small but engaging two-storey houses adjoins 5 Jacktrees Road, enclosing the 

western end of that street and defining one side of the corner along with the Columba Club 

on Cragg Road. Numbers 14 and 15 appear to be pairs of houses that have been merged 

together Cragg Road, which forms the “back” of the Square, was mostly laid out by the end of 

the 19th century, consisting of the three storey Columba Club building, a Wesleyan Methodist 

church, a former flour mill and a former auction mart.  

Page 63



14 

 

Figure 15 Numbers 16-23 Jacktrees Road. Plastic windows and doors, pebbledash, satellite 
dishes and roof tiles are very much in evidence, but the row has much potential. 

 

Figure 16 Columba Club. Aside from the need for external redecoration, this building suffers 
from an inactive ground floor, which could be altered to make more of this corner. 

Page 64



15 

 

Figure 17 Methodist church and Phoenix Court 

The Methodist church is gothically styled in red sandstone. Adjoining it to the rear is a Sunday 

school in the international style. This is an unusual but not unwelcome addition to the 

conservation area and presents a handsome façade to Earl Street composed of a mixture of 

pink, brown and umber bricks. This building dates to during or shortly after World War Two, 

although the pink brick sections of the façade appear later and are poor. Its two main 

doorways are beautifully executed in bricks of various sizes and colours with butterscotch 

coloured pointing, but both have been disfigured by the inept insertion of steel joists, 

presumably to support the lintels.  

 

Figure 18 Sunday school doorway on Earl Street. This excellent brickwork would greatly 
benefit from the replacement of the RSJs with something more subtle, and greater care in 
future repairs with the pointing. 

Page 65



16 

On the other side of Earl Street is a substantial pair of buildings formerly used as a flour mill 

and dating from shortly after 1892, when the original 1882 mill on the site burnt down. Both 

these buildings are currently operated by Phoenix Enterprise Centre, which uses them as 

offices in addition to 5 Jacktrees Road. The first builing, closest to the Square, consists of three-

and-a-half tall red brick storeys with windows featuring segmental arched heads in red 

sandstone. It sits on a plinth of squared sandstone rubble. Behind it on Earl Street is the largest 

building in Cleator Moor’s conservation area, a substantial and impressive red sandstone mill 

of four tall stories with a tower adding another three stories’ worth of height at the north end. 

This forms a landmark across much of the surrounding area. It is constructed from coursed 

squared rubble and features segmentally arched window heads, plain raised sill courses, and 

a slightly projecting entrance on Earl’s Road with a cornice. It is finished in white render on its 

north, south and east sides. 

 

Figure 19 The former flour mill on Earl Street 

Beside the mill, and forming a corner to the conservation area on Montreal Avenue, is a 

former auction mart, now part of Phoenix Court, constructed in the early twentieth century. 

The long, single-storey range extending back down Montreal Avenue is a simple, largely 

windowless volume that nonetheless defines an edge to the square and encloses a yard 

between itself and the mill, providing a hidden area for car parking. 

Page 66



17 

 

Figure 20 Former auction mart on corner of Cragg Road and Montreal Avenue 

On Market Street on the east side of the square, there were formerly two buildings that have 

now been demolished, both of which dated from the early 20th century. One of these was a 

picture theatre. Currently, their sites form a vacant square of grass.  

 

Figure 21 Site of the former picture theatre. Although the square is missing a piece here, it 
does allow a lovely view of the mountains. The concrete, garages and weeds, however, do not 
allow the view to be fully enjoyed. 

Victoria Street, which intersects Market Street, contains housing that is earlier than the 

buildings mentioned above, dating from the late 19th century. Most of this is excluded from 

the conservation area, but the end buildings on Market Street, which are three stories on the 

southern side (the Masonic Hall of 1898) and two stories with a set of attractive pedimented 

Page 67



18 

dormers that give the impression of three storeys on the north, establish a prevailing façade 

height that is continued northward with 48 High Street on the corner of Market Street. 

 

Figure 22 Number 48 High Street and the end of Victoria Street, viewed from the front of 
Market Place 

The three storey facades continue some way down High Street in a row of shops with 

residential uses above, and terminate with a short row of two storey houses that ends at 

number 40. Opposite this is a row of two storey shops and houses that are quite modest in 

appearance. 

 

Figure 23 Looking east along High Street from the corner of Union Street towards the edge of 
the conservation area 

Page 68



19 

 

Figure 24 Numbers 43, 44, 45 and 46 High Street 

Note the ground floor treatments of 43, 44 and 45. Fortunately, at first and second floor 

height, ornate console brackets, string courses and window pediments survive. The paint 

scheme of Number 45 has had had the effect of both hiding its ornamentation and failing to 

match with 44. Note that the roof of 45 has also lost its ridge tiles and no longer matches 44. 

The is a distinct contrast between the windows of 43-45, and those at 46. There exists much 

potential to improve these buildings using Copeland’s guidance on shopfronts. 

At the corner of High Street and Union Street, which forms the opposite side of a crossroads 

with Market Street, stands one of the conservation area’s most attractive buildings, 13-20 

High Street. This listed building is similarly three stories, with shop fronts on the ground floor 

and sash windows above, those on the first floor being in eight pairs with pediments of either 

a segmental or triangular design. The windows are in plain surrounds, but the pediments, 

which are deeply moulded, are supported on half columns with corbels shaped like masks. 

The second floor windows are also in plain surrounds. They lack pediments but the surrounds 

are splayed at the base and sit on a sill course. The eight shop fronts are separated by pilasters 

that feature acanthus capitals below a frieze that carries the shop signage, with a cornice 

above, upon which sit the first floor windowsills.   

Page 69



20 

 

Figure 25 13-20 High Street, listed grade II 

Between 13-20 High Street and Aldby Street stand 10, 11 and 12 High Street. These are low, 

two storey buildings that have lost much of their historic detailing. Number 10, which stands 

on the corner, retains its chamfered corner containing the door but has lost its attractive 

pierced bargeboards and spiked ridge tiles. All three of these properties once featured 

rounded corners on the ground floor windows, and the upper floor ones too at Number 10, 

but these have all been lost and replaced with standard rectangular openings. 

 

Figure 26 Number 10, 11 and 12 Market Place. Almost no facets of their original beauty have 
survived 

The entrance to Aldby Street is both one of the most conspicuous locations in the conservation 

area as it is at the “front” of the square, facing the area of highest footfall and traffic, and one 

Page 70



21 

of its least successful. The buildings to either side of the junction are low and irregular and 

suffer from poor quality detailing and alteration. 9 High Street, on the west side of the 

junction, makes a particularly negative impression. It is a single storey unit in brown brick 

which is to the detriment of this conspicuous part of the conservation area. It appears to 

originally have been a continuation of the adjoining number 8, which extended to the corner. 

 

Figure 27 Entrance to Aldby Street from High Street, showing the building housing Numbers 7 
and 8 High Street (the two storey building), which formerly extended to the corner now 
occupied by the single storey number 9 

On the corner of High Street and North Street is the Commercial, a public house of three 

stories with a distinctive curved Dutch gable on its corner. It also features five dormer 

windows flush with the facades, two on High Street and three on North Street. It has the 

potential to be an attractive part of the local area, although this potential is not currently 

capitalised upon. This building, and the junction of Jacktrees Road and High Street, serve as a 

gateway into and out of the square for traffic taking the road to Hensingham and Whitehaven. 

Page 71



22 

 

Figure 28 The Commercial public house on the corner of High Street and North Street 

The conservation area projects a short way down High Street until it reaches Montreal Street. 

The buildings in this section are a mix of two and three storeys. Most of the two storey ones 

are modestly ornamented, consisting of shop units at ground floor with residential space 

above. 84 High Street features an interesting corner detail with a Dutch gable, however the 

corner door and its moulded surrounded, and that of the window above, have been lost. This 

building was not originally rendered. 

 

Figure 29 Facing the entrances to North Street and Birks Road from the corner of Market 
Place 

Page 72



23 

These are interspersed with higher status buildings of two tall storeys, in red sandstone, which 

form attractive additions to this varied section of streetscape, which has a characteristically 

late Victorian appearance. These buildings are of an ornate style, featuring pilasters and 

pediments and were designed from the outset as banks. Number 58 High Street, formerly 

NatWest, is the only listed building in this section of the conservation area. It is grade II listed. 

 

Figure 30 The grade II listed former Natwest at 58 High Street 

Number 55 High Street is another such red sandstone building, as is the former conservative 

club that was built in 1883 with funding from local mine owner John Stirling to designs by T.L 

Banks, who also designed the Methodist church and Market Hall in Whitehaven. Adjacent to 

the conservative club was Montreal Church of England School, one of the town’s finest 

buildings, completed and subsequently enlarged between 1865 and 1890. It was completed 

in a grand gothic style, with a ninety-eight foot high clocktower and space for over a thousand 

children. This was demolished following the Second World War due to damage caused by 

subsidence, an ironic legacy of Cleator Moor’s mining years. 

Page 73



24 

 

Figure 31 The fomer conservative club of 1883. Note the ornamentation to the windows and 
the lettered frieze and pediment at the top. Timberwork such as this is vulnerable and requires 
regular inspection. 

3.1.2. Materials 

The majority of the buildings in Cleator Moor’s conservation area are faced with render, 

although some that were originally masonry have since been rendered. Pebbledash features 

here and there, although is mostly restricted to the less historic buildings and domestic 

properties. 

Higher status buildings sometimes make use of the local red sandstone, likely to have been 

quarried near St Bees, although the use of stucco is notable on 13-20 High Street, which allows 

the attractive window mouldings to be picked out in contrasting colours. The library and local 

government offices in Market Place are notable for having porticos ornamented with grey 

granite columns. 

The smaller front building of Phoenix Mill on Cragg Road is constructed from red brick, and 

the international style Sunday school nearby on Earl Street is mostly in brown and burnt 

umber bricks, with some more modern pink/red brick added. 

Apart from these, the main wall finish is likely to be a plain cement render, usually painted 

white. 

Graduated slate roofs have survived well. Some have been replaced in tile, although this has 

been fairly minimal. 

Use of inappropriate windows has particularly affected the residential properties in the 

conservation area, most likely as a consequence of permitted development rights. This could 

be restricted through the use of an Article 4 direction, however, one is not currently in place. 

Page 74



25 

3.1.3. Uses 

Uses are varied within Cleator Moor conservation area. Shops and other services are to be 

found on High Street, occupying ground floors with either accommodation or back-of-house 

uses above.  

A number of offices and other commercial spaces can be found surrounding the Square on its 

east and south sides, along with terraced houses. 

The Square itself is occupied by civic buildings and car parking. 

3.2. Public Realm 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses 

Views are fairly limited from within the conservation area as the space mostly consists of the 

Square, which is surrounded by taller buildings. One exception is where two buildings in the 

south-east corner have been removed, permitting a view out towards the Lake District. 

 

Figure 32 View eastward across end of Market Street, toward the Lake District hills 

There are several vistas of interest, mainly taking in the buildings in and around the Square. 

Page 75



26 

 

Figure 33 Vista from the corner of High Street and Jacktrees Road, taking in 5 Jacktrees Road 
and its veranda, and the local government offices and old library. This is framed at the rear by 
the Columba Club, Methodist Chapel and Phoenix Mill on Cragg Road. 

 

Figure 34 A vista opens up at the end of Market Street, looking left past the front of the library 
across Market Place, and ahead to 13-20 High Street 

Page 76



27 

 

Figure 35 Vista from High Street, looking west past Market Place and 13-20 Jacktrees Road. At 
the centre of this vista is a gap site, where the building on the corner of Jacktrees Road and 
High Street has been demolished. 

The removal of the corner building on Jacktrees Road and High Street has had a negative effect 

on the vista shown in Figure 35, which would be a far stronger embodiment of the 

conservation area were it resolved fully. Also apparent here is the potential for the Market 

Place public realm to be improved, bringing a more useable public area and less partitioning 

between the street, the buildings and the interstitial space. 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths 

The square is characterised to an greater than ideal extent by car parking, primarily on its east 

and west sides. Though parking is a valid and needed function, this creates a poorly defined 

area that is not useable for anything other than parking. 

 

Figure 36 Surface car parking to the rear of Market Square creates seas of grey, ill-defined 
tarmac 

Page 77



28 

The vast majority of the surfacing of pavements and other public realm within the Square 

dates from the early 1990s. It is neither especially good nor especially poor quality, and is 

today rather dated in appearance without having any historic character. 

 

Figure 37 Concrete and tarmac surfaces abound 

The surfacing of pavements and the road itself is otherwise tarmac in poor condition, with 

some pavements on High Street being a slightly more attractive grey cement paving slab.  

 

Figure 38 An area of original stone setts outside a door at Phoenix Mill on Ehen Road. This is 
one of very few original areas of surfacing left 

 

Page 78



29 

3.2.3. Boundaries 

Iron railings dating from the early 1990s public realm works characterise and dominate much 

of Market Square, and particularly Market Place adjacent to High Street. These are not 

unattractive in and of themselves, but are overpowering together and distract from anything 

else. 

They are placed in conjunction with dwarf walls in red sandstone. Some of these relate to the 

construction of the local government offices and the library, but others have been added 

subsequently to delineate various parts of the Square, which is mainly used for car parking 

around its periphery.  

 

Figure 39 Edges in Market Square are characterised by slightly haphazard and untidy 
collections of fencing, bollards etc. These are not optimal. 

Bollards are also frequently used as part of this scheme to separate vehicle access areas from 

those for pedestrians, and this adds to the clutter and lack of meaningful hierarchies or 

relationships between the buildings and the spaces around them. 

These pseudo edges are composed variously of bollards, fencing and low walls. They are also 

demarcated by two different kinds of lamppost, litter bins, benches and trees in protectors, 

all in various states of dilapidation. Together, they give an impression of edges almost like tide 

lines, where objects have washed up alongside one another without much in the way of 

organisation. 

Boundaries are formed in a lot of places by the facades of the buildings themselves, which 

extend up to the rear of the pavement. This is one of the key differences in feel between 

Market Square and the areas around it: in the former the boundaries are made by the 

numerous objects described above, in the latter they are mostly made by the buildings. 

Page 79



30 

3.3. Natural Environment 

3.3.1. Open Spaces 

Natural open space characterises little of the conservation area. It is highly urbanised, with 

only a view out toward the Lake District permitted where two buildings have been demolished 

and not replaced (see above). 

3.3.2. Water 

There are no designed or adventitious water features of note in the conservation area, apart 

from the memorial fountain, which does not appear to have operated in decades. 

3.3.3. Trees 

Trees are not numerous, being limited to a number of examples that date from the early 1990s 

public realm works. These are located in tree pits, mostly with metal protectors around them 

at regular intervals around the perimeter of the Square. Some of them have died, and none is 

a particularly fine example. They do not frame or highlight any particular qualities of the area, 

and instead clutter and obscure views across it, but do at least provide softening and greenery 

to break up the mass of hard surfaces. 

 

Figure 40 Trees in pits dating from the 1993 public realm works 

Page 80



31 

4. Key Characteristics 

 

Figure 41 Market Place as viewed from Crowgarth House on the corner of Market Street and High 
Street 

 Cleator Moor town, and hence conservation area, has a short history, essentially dating to 

between about 1850 and 1910. Following the First World War, its prosperity declined along 

with the market for its haematite and steel. The town, like many former industrial towns in 

the UK, has struggled to capture a new source of prosperity and has experienced a protracted 

period of underinvestment. 

 The conservation area is laid out on a grid, arranged around a square, with streets extending 

from the sides and corners. 

 Materials, building heights, styles and uses are all quite varied but are almost all of a solid wall 

construction, later development having taken place in other parts of Cleator Moor.  

 Although predicated on the arrival of the railway, Cleator Moor’s conservation area does not 

closely relate to it. The urban area developed in two clusters to the east and west of the 

railways, which connected further to various mining and industrial sites. From within the 

conservation area, the influence of the railway is not appreciable. 

 The character of the Square is quite different from that of the surrounding streets, with the 

former being characterised to a greater extent by open space, but cluttered with parked cars, 

fencing and other street furniture. The surrounding streets are characterised by taller 

buildings in varied styles set flush with the rears of the pavements. 

Page 81



32 

5. Summary of Issues 

 

Figure 42 High Street looking to the west, showing unsympathetic fenestration, loss of shop fronts and 
unattractive signs. Note also the nearest building, which has lost its corner doorway at some point, 
upsetting the emphasis of its façade. The streetscape is particularly uninspiring, comprising tarmac, 
concrete and steel, none of it deployed with any thought for attractiveness. 

 The Square has been compromised by clutter and car parking, which robs it of much spatial 

hierarchy, flow and definition, and confuses it to the point circulation and the vistas across 

the buildings are harmed. 

 Maintenance problems and poor quality alterations are also much in evidence, particularly 

among the commercial and residential buildings, which make up the majority of the building 

stock. 

 The locations of the car parks result in parked cars being one of the primary uses of the Square, 

which was laid out several decades before car ownership started to become widespread in 

the early twentieth century. 

 In several locations, buildings have been demolished and either replaced with very poor 

quality buildings of the wrong size and appearance, or not replaced at all, leaving a gap site. 

Page 82



33 

 

Figure 43 The side elevation of the Methodist Church bears particular witness to the damage that can 
be caused by hard cement pointing. Much of the stone has delaminated and powdered as a result.  

Solid walls constructed from soft, porous materials such as sandstone require soft, porous materials to 
repoint, render and plaster them. The Council can give advice on the use of lime, which is the 
recommended material. 

 

 

Page 83



34 

6. Appendices 

6.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) 

 Strengths 

o Generally good survival of historic fabric and original layout 

o Some attractive, high quality buildings 

o The conservation area is small, meaning its problems can be addressed in a focussed way 

o The conservation area retains good footfall  

 Weaknesses 

o Widespread loss of historic detailing, poor maintenance and sense of tiredness 

o High vacancy levels of shops 

o Public realm is cluttered and tired 

o Surfaces are frequently made from unattractive materials (tarmac, concrete) and in poor condition  

o Excessive traffic and parked cars 

o Several gap sites 

o Several buildings of poor quality 

o The setting of the conservation area is poor; surrounding urban fabric is in poor condition, often unattractive and disjointed 

 Opportunities 

o Gap sites provide scope for new buildings to make a great improvement to local character and distinctiveness 

o Public realm work could return the core of the conservation area to a space that functions for more than car parking 

o There is scope to greatly improve the appearance of the buildings through sensitive modification and repair, better design of signage, 

more attractive windows etc. 

o There are fairly large amounts of office space in the conservation area, improving the potential customer base for local shops 

 Threats 

o Continued decline and lack of investment 

o Cleator Moor is unlikely to change radically for the worse, but is likely to continue its slow downward spiral without significant investment 

and management 

  

P
age 84



35 

6.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets 

Refer to the National Heritage List for England (historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/)  

List Entry No. Name Address Grade Date designated Date constructed 

1086697 13-20 High Street II 1973 Late-19th century 

1086698 Former Cooperative Supermarket, 

and Cast Iron Verandah 

5, Jacktrees Road II 1984 Late-19th/early-20th 

century 

1086699 Cleator Moor Library Market Square II 1973 1906 

1086700 Local Government Offices Market Square II 1973 1879 

1336034 National Westminster Bank 58, High Street II 1984 Late-19th century 

1336036 Memorial Fountain Market Square II 1973 1903 

 

  

P
age 85

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/


36 

6.3. Area Maps 

 

Figure 44 The conservation area boundary and listed buildings 

P
age 86



37 

 

Figure 45 Positive townscape elements, where the architectural quality remains and is either on full show or could be brought to the fore again. Listed 
buildings and the conservation area boundary are also shown. 

P
age 87



38 

 

Figure 46 Townscape elements

P
age 88



39 

7. Bibliography 
Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland (2012) An assessment of the effects of conservation areas on 

value London School of Economics 

Haig Pit Mining And Colliery Museum (2021) Coal mining in Cleator Moor. [online] Available at: 

www.haigpit.wordpress.com/coal-mining-in-cleator-moor  

Historic England (2019) Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management Second 

Edition, Historic England Advice Note 1. Historic England. Swindon 

Historic England (2021). National Heritage List For England. Online [Available at: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list] 

Little Ireland: Cleator Moor | Cumbria (2021) Description Of Cleator Moor, 1896. [online] 

Available at: www.littleireland.co.uk/2019/08/description-of-cleator-moor-1896.html  

Ordnance Survey (1863) Cumberland LXVII.12 (Arlecdon and Frizington) Surveyed 1860. Online 

[Available at: maps.nls.uk/view/121145582] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1899) Cumberland LXVII.12 (Arlecdon and Frizington) Revised 1898. Online 

[Available at: maps.nls.uk/view/121146665] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1925) Cumberland LXVII.12 (Arlecdon and Frizington) Revised 1923. Online 

[Available at: maps.nls.uk/view/121146668] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Oxford City Council (2021) Character Assessment Toolkit. Online [Available at: 

www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit) 

Prizeman O. (2012) Philanthropy and Light: Carnegie libraries and the advent of transatlantic 

standards for public space. Routledge 

Visit Cumbria (2021) Cleator Moor | Visit Cumbria. [online] Available at: 

www.visitcumbria.com/wc/cleator-moor  

Page 89

http://www.haigpit.wordpress.com/coal-mining-in-cleator-moor
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list
http://www.littleireland.co.uk/2019/08/description-of-cleator-moor-1896.html
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145582
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146665
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146668
http://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit
http://www.visitcumbria.com/wc/cleator-moor


 

Appraisal prepared by: 

Dr Sammy Woodford 

Conservation and Design Officer 

Copeland Borough Council 

 

Contact: 

Copeland Borough Council 

01946 598 300 

info@copeland.gov.uk 

 

Visit our front desk, or write to Development Management using the post box at: 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

Page 90

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Egremont Conservation Area Appraisal 
2021 

  

Page 91

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/


Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Background ............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.2. What is a conservation area? .................................................................................................. 2 

1.3. What is the purpose of this document? ................................................................................. 3 

2. Location, History and Development ............................................................................................... 4 

2.1. Overview of Egremont Conservation Area ............................................................................. 4 

2.2. Historic Development ............................................................................................................. 5 

2.2.1. Origins ............................................................................................................................. 5 

2.2.2. Development History ...................................................................................................... 6 

2.2.3. Map Progression ............................................................................................................. 8 

3. Character ....................................................................................................................................... 11 

3.1. Built Environment ................................................................................................................. 11 

3.1.1. Main Street ................................................................................................................... 11 

3.1.2. Market Place and St Bridget’s Lane .............................................................................. 27 

3.1.3. South Street and the Church Precinct ........................................................................... 33 

3.1.4. Materials ....................................................................................................................... 41 

3.1.5. Uses ............................................................................................................................... 42 

3.2. Public Realm .......................................................................................................................... 43 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses ................................................................................................. 43 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths ............................................................................................................ 46 

3.2.3. Boundaries .................................................................................................................... 48 

3.3. Natural Environment............................................................................................................. 50 

3.3.1. Open Spaces .................................................................................................................. 50 

3.3.2. Water ............................................................................................................................ 50 

3.3.3. Trees .............................................................................................................................. 50 

4. Key Characteristics ........................................................................................................................ 51 

5. Summary of Issues ........................................................................................................................ 52 

6. Appendices .................................................................................................................................... 53 

6.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) ....................................... 53 

6.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets ............................................................................. 54 

6.3. Area Maps ............................................................................................................................. 55 

6.4. Bibliography .......................................................................................................................... 58 

  

Page 92



Index of Selected Places 

Bookwell 
Castle Villas ....................................................................................................................................... 39 
De Lucy Community Garden ............................................................................................................. 37 
Egremont Castle .......................................................................................................... 5, 36, 38, 40, 41 
Egremont Castle, Market Square Cross .............................................................................................. 6 
Former Castle Cinema Site ................................................................................................................ 37 
Masonic Hall ...................................................................................................................................... 39 
Primary School .................................................................................................................................... 9 
Water Fountain ................................................................................................................................. 40 

Ehen Court Road 
Forence House .................................................................................................................................. 23 

Lamb Lane 
02-20 ................................................................................................................................................. 23 

Main Street 
01 ...................................................................................................................................................... 11 
11 ...................................................................................................................................................... 14 
12 (Lowes Court) ............................................................................................................................... 14 
13-14 ................................................................................................................................................. 15 
15 ...................................................................................................................................................... 16 
20-31 ................................................................................................................................................. 19 
28 ...................................................................................................................................................... 20 
35 (Heron Foods) .............................................................................................................................. 22 
40 (Co-Op) ......................................................................................................................................... 26 
45 ...................................................................................................................................................... 27 
54 ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 
55-56 ................................................................................................................................................. 25 
57 ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 
58 ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 
59-60 (Old Hall) ................................................................................................................................. 24 
64 ...................................................................................................................................................... 21 
65 ...................................................................................................................................................... 21 
66 (Westcroft House) ........................................................................................................................ 24 
87-88 ................................................................................................................................................. 12 
Methodist Church ............................................................................................................................. 17 
Salford Terrace, 01-04 ....................................................................................................................... 13 
Town Hall .......................................................................................................................................... 18 
West Lakes Academy .................................................................................................................... 7, 14 

Market Place 
01 ...................................................................................................................................................... 27 
02-05 ........................................................................................................................................... 28, 29 
09-10 ................................................................................................................................................. 29 
11 ................................................................................................................................................ 29, 30 
22-23 ........................................................................................................................................... 36, 37 
24, 25 ................................................................................................................................................ 30 
26-29 ................................................................................................................................................. 32 

Page 93



29 (NatWest) ..................................................................................................................................... 32 
St Bridget’s Lane ............................................................................................................................... 31 
WWI Memorial .................................................................................................................................. 30 

Market Street 
01 ...................................................................................................................................................... 19 
Braithwaite Court .............................................................................................................................. 19 
Market Hall ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

North Road 
former Station ..................................................................................................................................... 7 

South Street 
48 ...................................................................................................................................................... 33 
50 ...................................................................................................................................................... 33 
Bridge .................................................................................................................................................. 6 
Church of St Mary and St Michael .......................................................................................... 8, 34, 35 

 

  

Page 94



Glossary 

Architrave The lowest part of an entablature, sitting on columns in a classical façade. Also a 

moulded surround for a doorway, window or arch 

Chamfer A sloping face at an edge or corner 

Colonnade A row of columns, typically supporting a roof, series of arches, or entablature 

Cornice  A projecting ornamental band at the top of a façade; the top section of an entablature 

Entablature The upper section of a classical façade, supported by columns, consisting of three 

layers: an architrave, above that a frieze, and above that a cornice 

Frieze  A horizontal band in the middle of an entablature, sometimes decorated 

Gambrel A roof in which each long side is composed of two pitches, a steeper lower pitch and 

a shallower upper pitch. Where this is applied to all four sides of a roof, the result is 

called a mansard 

Kneeler A horizontal, slightly projecting stone at the ends of the roof eaves, parallel with the 

gable wall 

Mullion A vertical post, normally stone or timber, dividing up the area of a window into smaller 

panes 

Oriel A window that projects from a wall on brackets or a corbel without touching the 

ground; an upper floor bay window 

Parapet A continuation upwards of a wall above the eaves, concealing the roof behind 

Patera (Pl. paterae) A relief disc used for decoration often on friezes, walls and mouldings 

Paviour A small paving stone or sett 

Quoin Cornerstones, often forming an alternating stack of blocks at the corner of a building 

Snecked (Masonry or work) A strong, attractive masonry bond made using three different 

types of roughly squared stones  

Transom A horizontal beam, normally stone or timber, dividing up the area of a window into 

smaller panes, usually positioned nearer the top than the bottom so the panes 

above it are lower and those below taller 

 

  

Page 95



 

 

 

 

 

 

The town consists chiefly of one long and wide street, and is very clean and cheerful. There is, 

perhaps, not a prettier little town in Cumberland. 

 

  John Williams, 1869 

 

Page 96



1 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Background 

Copeland Borough Council (the Council) currently administers eight conservation areas 

(Whitehaven, Corkickle, Hensingham, Egremont, Cleator Moor, Beckermet, St Bees, and Millom). 

A further conservation area, Ravenglass, is located within Copeland but administered by the Lake 

District National Park Authority. 

These range in size and character, with Whitehaven, the country’s first post-medieval planned 

town and one of its most complete, being the largest in area (approximately 80 hectares) and the 

first designated (1969). Hensingham is the smallest at approximately two hectares. 

Egremont was designated in 1985. More recently, a brief overview was provided in the Borough’s 

Conservation Area Design Guide (2017), but this appraisal has the capacity for a more in-depth 

assessment. 

 

Figure 1 Egremont within Copeland 

 

 

 

Page 97



2 
 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? 

Local Planning Authorities have a responsibility under law to: 

…from time to time determine which parts of their area are areas of special 

architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable 

to preserve or enhance… [Underlines added] 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 69(1) 

These areas are designated as conservation areas, and the authority also has a duty to from time 

to time review the areas designated (Section 69(2)). This means the Council has made a 

commitment to take account of the effect on character and appearance of any development 

proposed within the area, and this applies to its entirety, not merely its buildings. 

The special interest of a conservation area is engendered by all its positive qualities, and a job of 

the planning process is to ensure that change in a conservation area avoids harm to its positive 

aspects while allowing its negative aspects to be addressed. In order to do this, its character in 

positive, neutral and negative terms must be understood, stated and agreed upon. This is the job 

of the character appraisal (a requirement of Section 71(1) of the Act). 

The appraisal is created through a process of public engagement with local people, whereby 

attendees at a meeting have the opportunity to present their views (1990 Act Sections 71(3-4)). 

Once finalised, conservation area designation brings the following work under planning control: 

 Demolition of buildings 

 Works to or removal of trees 

 Development that may be permitted elsewhere, e.g. some house extensions 

Generally, home owners benefit from conservation area designation as the controls sustain 

and/or enhance property values, a finding that has been confirmed by research from the London 

School of Economics (Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland, 2012). 

Planning applications made in conservation areas are typically made in full rather than in outline 

as this allows their implications to be fully understood. This process is not only governed by the 

1990 Act mentioned above, but also from guidance such as the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) and local policy such as found in the Copeland Local Plan.  

Additionally, conservation area appraisals are useful in discharging Section 72(1) of the 1990 Act, 

in which “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance” of the area. The appraisal does an important job in describing that 

character and appearance comprehensively. 

 

Page 98



3 
 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? 

A conservation area appraisal is a tool that explores and defines what is special about the area’s 

architecture and history, and therefore worth preserving or enhancing: 

A good appraisal will consider what features make a positive or negative contribution 

to the significance of the conservation area, thereby identifying opportunities for 

beneficial change or the need for planning protection. 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 025 Reference ID: 18a-025-20190723 

Appraisal takes a broad approach, looking at the development and evolution of an area, the 

relationships within and outside it, how it is used and has been used in the past, and if it has any 

associations with notable people, movements, innovations or practices.  

A place’s street pattern may be of importance, along with the style, appearance, construction and 

arrangement of its buildings. Key views, connections, boundaries, nodes where people meet, 

junctions, routes and zones are important: in other words, what makes the place what it is, what 

makes it valuable, and what makes it distinct from other places. 

With this process there is the opportunity to reappraise what is already known about the area, 

and whether there should be any revisions to its boundary. Places are in constant flux, both in 

terms of their physical makeup and in what we understand of them. 

The appraisal will be used during the development control process to gauge the impact of 

potential developments. It can also be used by those making planning applications as a resource 

to assist in self-assessment, and may be of interest to people living in or studying the area, either 

generally or in the course of commenting on a planning application.  

The relationship between a conservation area and its occupants is particularly important because 

the maintenance of property within the area is one of the key ways by which its character can be 

preserved and enhanced, and harm avoided. 

This appraisal has been prepared following detailed assessment of Egremont using Historic 

England’s 2016 advice document on conservation area character appraisals. It contains 

appendices mapping building quality and landscape analysis, which should be viewed in 

conjunction with the descriptive sections. While it attempts to reach a sufficiently high level of 

detail, it is not possible to describe all that is significant and interesting, so where aspects have 

been omitted or overlooked this should not be taken to mean that they lack architectural or 

historical importance. 

  

Page 99



4 
 

2. Location, History and Development 

2.1. Overview of Egremont Conservation Area 

Egremont conservation area was designated in 1985 and is one of the larger conservation areas 

in Copeland, with an area of approximately 8.5 hectares.  

 

Figure 2 Egremont conservation area, showing listed buildings (purple) and scheduled ancient 
monument (green) 

Page 100



5 
 

Egremont is an ancient settlement, in contrast to some of Copeland’s more modern industrial 

towns such as Millom and Cleator Moor, which were built during the mid- to late-Victorian period 

to exploit local coal and iron ore resources.  

Egremont’s urban grain attests to this difference. Prior to the arrival of various tracts of 

anonymous and car-dependent 20th century housing sprawl, it consisted of a ribbon development 

along Main Street, which runs north-south parallel with the River Ehen, and crosses it via a bridge 

at the south side of town where the river turns westward. In terms of its layout, it has more in 

common with villages such as Beckermet, which have a similar ribbon structure, as opposed to 

the grid types of layout found in Whitehaven, Millom and Cleator Moor. 

The conservation area generally follows the north-south length of Main Street, which is lined 

primarily with two storey buildings nearer its northern end and three storey buildings at its 

southern end, although there is a certain amount of mixing, gaps and exceptions. 

At the south end of Main Street is Market Place, a widening of the street set against a fork in the 

road, where it diverges to pass the north side of the ruined castle, and to reach the bridge over 

the River Ehen, south of the town, which lies outside the southern end of the conservation area. 

2.2. Historic Development 

2.2.1. Origins 

There has been a settlement on this location since the 1st century AD, when a fort was built in 

the location of the castle by the Danes. The castle itself dates originally to the 12th century and 

was first of a motte and bailey type, established following the Norman conquest along with a 

large number of such castles in England. Although the Norman conquest of England took place 

in 1066, Norman rule did not arrive in Cumbria until 1092, and the present castle was begun 

in about 1120 by William le Meschin.  

This was the seat of the Lordship of Egremont, which established Egremont as its lordly centre, 

but le Meschin was also responsible for establishing the priory at St Bees as a Benedictine cell 

of St Mary’s Abbey, York, thus making St Bees the religious centre of the Lordship of Egremont. 

A church approximately contemporary with le Meschin’s castle stood on the site of the current 

St Mary’s church, which replaced it in 1881. 

The castle is located in a strategic position on elevated ground near a crossing point of the 

River Ehen (variously called End, Egre or Enn until sometime in the post-medieval period), but 

has been in a dilapidated condition for a considerable length of time, being described as in a 

ruinous state as far back as the 16th century. A single room was retained in use as a courthouse 

until 1786. 

Egremont began to transform from a village into a town under the lordship of Richard de Lucy 

in the 12th century, and it was granted a market charter by King Henry III in 1266. This was 

probably shortly after the current Market Place began to establish itself. Market Place once 

featured a bell that was rung to signal the opening of market, with fines or confiscations 

imposed on those who tried to sell before the appointed time. There were three fairs: two 

hiring fairs (when farm labourers would seek new posts) on Whitsun (the seventh Sunday after 

Page 101



6 
 

Easter) and Martinmas (November 11th), and one on 8th September, which survives to this day 

as the Crab Fair (named for crab apples rather than the crustacean).  

The Market Place was marked by a stone cross, however there is now little of it left and it is 

also in another location. By the 16th century it appears to have lost its head, possibly on 

account of Reformation iconoclasts, and in 1922 the shaft, which had been in use as a sundial 

since 1683, was removed to the grounds of the Castle, where it can be found currently. It is 

not listed. 

The town began development at the south end with Market Place and the castle and worked 

northward up the street, which was the north-south route towards Cleator, in a series of 

burgage plots. These were long, narrow strips of land fronting the street and running 

backward, which remained the property of the lord and were developed by burgesses, rental 

occupiers. By the 14th century, the majority of the burgage plots had been established, 

suggesting that the layout of the area now within the conservation area would have been 

recognisable at that time. 

During the earlier medieval period, dyeing, weaving and fulling were the main occupations, 

but later and into the modern period, manufacture of linen, thread and leather goods was 

widespread, and the River Ehen played a key role in powering such industries. The area also 

produced a great deal of lime for use in building (as a mortar and render, primarily). 

2.2.2. Development History 

The buildings lining Main Street in the conservation area today are mostly 19th and 20th 

century. Some are 18th century and a few date as far back as the 17th century. Certainly, by 

the mid- to late-17th century, Main Street appears to have been lined with buildings on both 

sides, and from Market Place, St Bridget’s Lane extending westward was also populated with 

buildings on both sides. It is likely that certain of the current buildings may contain elements 

from earlier phases that have been reconfigured and obscured by more recent rebuilding. 

Masonry was sourced from the ruins of the castle and is likely to remain within a number of 

the buildings. 

To the south of the conservation area, a bridge on the River Ehen existed from 1565, and this 

was rebuilt in 1683. This appears to be in a slightly different location to the current bridge, 

which dates from 1822, as the street name “Old Bridge” and its location indicate an earlier 

structure located 50 yards downstream by the south side of the castle. 

Many of the buildings on Market Place, and perhaps more widely, used to feature timber 

colonnades for the display and protection of wares. These are described in 1839 by William 

Ford in his Description of Scenery in the Lake District: “The houses adjoining the market-place 

have many of them rude colonnades of wood in front, under which the corn is exposed for 

sale during rainy weather”. Though long gone, these can be seen in an engraving dating from 

1739. The 1777 History and Antiquities of Cumberland describes several of the houses as being 

“piazzaed” in front. This term typically refers to a front wall that is supported on columns, but 

bearing in mind the below engraving it appears in this case to refer to the timber colonnades. 

Page 102



7 
 

 

Figure 3 An 18th century engraving of Market Place from the west, showing colonnades in 
front of the houses, used for display of produce 

A mill, mill race and weir were granted lease in February 1760 and this became High Mill 

located on the Ehen to the east of the north end of Main Street, outside the conservation area 

boundary. This milled flax, and appears to have been disused by the end of the 19th century, 

by which time the land to the east of Main Street had been reconfigured by the development 

of Wyndham Mine and associated railways. There were other such mills on the river, including 

Ennerdale Mill, which dated from about the same time, Bleach Green Mill, Flint Mill and Great 

Mill, which were located south of the town. 

As with many of West Cumbria’s towns, Egremont profited in the 19th century from the 

resources of coal, red sandstone and iron ore located around it, however, quarrying and 

mining had been carried out on a less-than-industrial scale since approximately the 

development of the castle, as one would expect, given the demand for construction materials. 

The town station used to exist to the north of the current conservation area boundary. The 

1857 building on North Road survives although its platforms and tracks are long gone.  

A school was built in the early 20th century to the west of Main Street, close to Falcon Pit, and 

this later became England’s first comprehensive school in 1964. It was replaced with the 

current West Lakes Academy buildings in 2012. 

 

Page 103



8 
 

2.2.3. Map Progression 

 

Figure 4 Egremont as of the 1860 OS 25 Inch Map. This is prior to the arrival of the railway. 
The river provides a great deal of industrial power in the area. Prior to its pollution it had been 
filled with trout. This also shows the church in its medieval state, prior to rebuilding in 1881. 
Note also the density of buildings around South Street, how the town centre effectively 
connects with Bridge End over the water. 

Page 104



9 
 

 

 

Figure 5 Egremont as of the 1898 OS 25 Inch Series. At this stage, the housing development 
that now surrounds the conservation area is still essentially absent, but the railway can be seen 
to the east. Several pits, mills and farms are positioned on the outskirts, areas now mostly 
given over to housing.  

The buildings west of the Castle began developing in earnest in the early 19th century, following 
sale of land by the Earl of Egremont. Many of Bookwell’s buildings make a positive contribution 
to the setting of the conservation area. Of particular note is the school and an adjoining snicket 
of squared setts, and many of the houses, which are of characteristic and attractive sandstone 
construction. 

Page 105



10 
 

 

Figure 6 Egremont in the 1923 OS 25Inch Map. Note the Castle Croft housing estate, the first 
of the 20th century developments that now characterise a lot of the town. Its density would be 
considered low by some standards. 

 

  

Page 106



11 
 

3. Character 

3.1. Built Environment 

Egremont conservation area consists of several zones, although these are not clearly delineated 

and so this appraisal does not take the approach of defining character areas. These zones are: 

Main Street, Market Place, St Bridget’s Lane, the section of South Street between Market Place 

and the bridge, Bookwell, and the Castle. They are however used to outline the following sections 

to allow the document to be more easily navigable. 

3.1.1. Main Street 

This zone includes Main Street down as far as the Market Place, as well as the side junctions 

of Wyndham Way, Chapel Street, Market Street, Ehen Court Road and Lamb Lane. 

Numerically, the conservation area begins at its north end with 1 Main Street. This is occupied 

by the former police station, built in the late 19th century. It is an attractive red sandstone 

building from the front, two storey like many of the local buildings, with arched openings on 

the lower storey. These feature prominent vousoirs (the blocks above the arches) and quoins. 

With number 1A next door, it makes an attractive gateway onto Main Street. Both properties, 

as with many in the area, have suffered unfortunate alterations in the form of signage, 

lampposts, railings, aerials, windows and roof slates. 

 

Figure 7 Number 1 Main Street, the late 19th century former police station, now Calderwood 
House community housing project 

Though the view of this northern gateway is successful when viewed from the street (i.e. from 

opposite or when leaving the conservation area), the gable end of 1 Main Street is not 

particularly attractive, which means the gateway view into the conservation area from the 

roundabout on the A595 suffers. This is exacerbated by the corner being occupied by a surface 

car park, fencing and the shed for a garage. This is cluttered, ill-defined and permits a view 

onto the sides and backs of the buildings on Main Street, a missed opportunity to engender a 

positive and coherent sense of arrival. 

Page 107



12 
 

 

Figure 8 Arrival into conservation area, taking in clutter of fences, surface car parking, 
garage and the backs/sides of the buildings on Main Street. 

Opposite, on the west side of the street, is an attractive row of three storey houses fashioned 

from the local red sandstone. A number of these are rendered and painted. One or two are 

pebbledashed. Adjacent, numbers 87 and 88 appear to have been amalgamated at some 

point, leaving a façade without the rhythm of its neighbours. Several of these properties have 

featured shops in their ground floors but these have now disappeared, contracting Egremont’s 

retail area. At this end of the street, shops appear to have survived better on the east side 

than the west. 

 

Figure 9 Houses on Main Street, showing amalgamation of two, loss of roof slates, uPVC 
fenestration, and enlargement of a ground floor window so it no longer matches the others. 
Retention of chimneys and pots is, however, good. 

Page 108



13 
 

Adjacent to 1A Main Street is a 20th century single-storey infill building with its gable end-on 

to the street. This is an unusual arrangement, but the building broadly respects the scale of 

its neighbours. 

Adjacent to this is an attractive row of four villa-style houses constructed in 1900 called Salford 

Terrace. These handsome houses form an almost symmetrical row, with ground floor bay 

windows carrying a slated full-width porch, however, Number 4 has been unfortunately 

altered with an attic extension that has removed the distinctive dormer and changed the 

pitched roofline of the building into a gambrel. 

 

Figure 10 Salford Terrace, showing the mismatched roof arrangement at Number 4 

Wyndham School, located on the west side of Main Street and accessed from it by a road that 

required the clearance of several plots, became the first comprehensive in the country in 

1964. This site remains, although was razed and rebuilt in 2012 into the current West Lakes 

Academy. Though outside the conservation area, the modern academy building is readily 

visible from the junction from Main Street onto Wyndham Way. 

Page 109



14 
 

 

Figure 11 2012 West Lakes Academy building, outside the conservation area but visible from 
Main Street 

Opposite the entrance to Wyndham Way and to the south, on the east side of Main Street, is 

a row of interesting historic buildings (11-19 Main Street) that are quite varied, both in their 

design and their condition.  

Number 11 is a handsome symmetrical, two-storey house, featuring a central door. The door 

and windows feature mouldings carried on console brackets. The façade itself also has an 

entablature at the top, giving the appearance of a parapet, although the windows have been 

replaced with unsympathetic plastic units, as have almost all on Main Street. It is likely that 

the ground floor windows would once have had central mullions. 

Adjoining this, Number 12 is listed grade II. It dates from the late 17th or early 18th century 

and, though also two-storeys, is significantly shorter than the buildings on either side. An 

interesting feature of this property is the carriage arch that gives access to the rear. 

Page 110



15 
 

 

Figure 12 11 and 12 Main Street. 12 is known as Lowes Court, and is one of the most historic 
buildings to have survived in the town, dating from the 17th or 18th century. It houses a 
longstanding art gallery, and is a very positive element of the local character. 

Number 13 and 14 are a pair and have suffered from alteration to the extent that they would 

greatly benefit from rectification. Likely originally to have been two main storeys with a third 

low attic storey above, similar to Numbers 17-19, the attic storey has been increased to almost 

full height through the addition of a pair of dormers. These interrupt the guttering, 

necessitating a run of water pipes down the frontage, which is itself coated in a layer of 

pebbledash. The ground floor has received a particularly strange modification that has 

involved the widening and lowering of one window and the fitment of a kind of chamfered 

canopy that now appears to be two-thirds in the ownership of one half, and one third in the 

other.  

Page 111



16 
 

 

Figure 13 12-16 Main Street, showing the unfortunate state of 13-14 and the old common 
entry gate next door at Number 15 

Number 15 is interesting as it features a little passage that formerly gave access to common 

land and a house called Rose Cottage, which was demolished to make way for Wyndham iron 

ore mine in the late 19th century. 

 

Figure 14 Common entry path from 15 Main Street to Rose Cottage and the common by the 
river (1860) 

When the railway arrived, this path was routed underneath it, and survives in the form of an 

underpass below the A595 Egremont Bypass, which occupies the route of the former railway, 

although the 15 Main Street entry no longer connects to it, having been interrupted by 

extensions to Chapel Street and subdivisions of the land.  

Page 112



17 
 

 

Figure 15 The route of the former common entry from 15 Main Street to the subway under the 
A595 

Chapel Street is a relatively late addition to the high street, having been inserted at the same 

time that the Methodist Church was constructed in the 1870s. This building is not listed, but 

is a pleasant if unremarkable addition to the streetscape. With its masonry construction and 

gothic styling, it makes a positive impression on the junction, however it adopts a secondary 

position in the streetscape as it is opposite the grade II listed Town Hall, with its high clock 

tower. 

Page 113



18 
 

 

Figure 16 Egremont Methodist Church, from Chapel Street 

The Town Hall dates to the late 19th century and powerfully establishes its presence on the 

street. It is constructed from snecked red sandstone, with its two main volumes presented 

gable-on to the street. These are of two tall storeys and flank the tower, which is 

approximately double their height. The front door is central, at the base of the tower, and 

surmounted by an impressive lamp bracket. Windows are of good quality and openings 

segmentally arched. Combined with the Methodist Church, this small section of Main Street 

where Chapel Street and Market Street intersect it has a distinctly Victorian character. 

 

Figure 17 Town Council offices, formerly Market Hall, of 1883 with good quality extension in 
1951, and the town hall of 1889 with its clock tower, from Market Street looking towards Main 
Street and the Methodist Church 

Page 114



19 
 

The buildings adjoining the hall, both on Main Street and Market Street, are constructed in a 

similar attractive style, though appropriately secondary in scale. Number 1 Market Street, 

which adjoins the hall to the rear, is also listed grade II and dates from the same time. The 

Market Hall on Market Street, now Town Council office, is similarly dated and constructed of 

the red sneck work that was popular at the time. It consists of one high storey, and extends 

along the street, forming an attractive frontage.  

Opposite this building is Braithwaite Court, a collection of flats built in 1990. They are vaguely 

historic in appearance and generally unobtrusive. 

 

Figure 18 Braithwaite Court flats on Market Street, dating from 1990, in a historic pastiche 
style 

On the east side of Main Street, between the chapel and an alleyway on the south side of 

number 31, is a continuous row of two storey buildings that are in use as a mixture of 

commercial ground floors and residential above. This is part of the main shopping area of 

Egremont, where the majority of ground floors have some kind of shop, although the area has 

contracted since the 2007-8 financial crisis; the more northerly end of Main Street is now 

predominantly residential. These buildings are not individually of particular quality, but their 

collective impression is pleasing: a mixture of structures dating variously between the 18th and 

early 20th centuries (though probably mostly 19th and 20th), with many likely to be rebuilds of 

earlier ones. This is varied and engaging, and an ideal setting for a similarly varied and 

engaging series of shops.  

Page 115



20 
 

 

Figure 19 24-31 Main Street. 31 features a shopfront that takes an unusually minimalist 
approach 

Despite being two stories, the eaves heights are all different, lending a movement that has 

some liveliness. As with most of the conservation area, windows and doors have been 

replaced with unflattering ones, and many shop fronts have been removed. 

Number 28 is slightly different from the others, being a characteristically late 19th century 

building, labelled “Reading Room” in the 1898 OS map. It is in red sandstone, matching the 

Town Hall, and of two taller stories, with a parapet that hides the roof pitch from the street. 

It also features an iron balcony at the upper floor. Upper windows appeared until recently to 

retain some period stained glass. 

Page 116



21 
 

 

Figure 20 Number 28 Main Street. This is obviously a later insertion into the streetscape, and 
is labelled as a Reading Room in the 1898 OS Map. This building also used to feature stained 
glass lights in the upper windows until at least as recently as 2011, but these have disappeared. 

On the west side of the street at this location, 64 and 65 Main Street make an entirely 

disparate pair. The Veterans’ Club is not historic but is at least partly interesting, and is smart 

and well maintained. The oriel window and symmetrical façade with adjoining vertical volume 

create some character, but the ground floor is inactive, leaving only a blank wall onto the 

pavement. 65 is more historic, but has suffered from some suboptimal alteration, 

maintenance and signage, and a sense of having been marooned by the demolition of formerly 

adjoining context.  

 

Figure 21 64, the Veterans' Club, and 65 Main Street 

Page 117



22 
 

On the eastern side, this section terminates at Ehen Court Road with the Heron Foods budget 

supermarket and its appendant Ladbrokes betting shop. This combination is partially but not 

entirely unsuccessful as the principle volume is the same height as its surroundings, presents 

a pitched roof face to the road, and is constructed from brick that is of an attractive buff colour 

that sits well in its surroundings. The setback from the pavement diminishes the definition of 

the corner but does allow a public realm space.  

The side extension is not architecturally beneficial. It seems that much could be accomplished 

at this corner, allowing it to sit well alongside a public realm scheme to address the large blank 

area of paving wrapping around the building on its western and southern sides. 

 

Figure 22 Heron Foods on the corner of Ehen Court Road. Certain elements of this are 
successful, but the whole is held back somewhat by the signage and the side block. 

Page 118



23 
 

 

Figure 23 Florence House, dating from 2011 and architecturally a vast improvement on its 
predecessor, lies outside the conservation area boundary but is not visually separated from it; 
it forms a positive contribution to the setting of the conservation area, and a visual target 
down Ehen Court Road as viewed from Main Street. 

 

Figure 24 Numbers 2-20 Lamb Lane are included in the conservation area, the boundry of 
which projects eastward to include them.  

Numbers 2-20 Lamb Lane are constructed of brick, which is relatively rare in the conservation 

area and absent from Main Street. The work is in an English garden wall bond employing four 

courses of stretchers for each course of headers, likely to minimise brick usage. The 

polychrome effect appears to be the resut of painting and has seen better days. 

Unsympathetic fenestration and repointing have also affected the houses. 

Page 119



24 
 

On the west side of mid-Main Street, the sites are more divergent. Of interest is Westcroft 

House, currently in use as a doctors’ surgery, constructed in the early 20th century on a vacant 

plot. Unlike its surroundings, it was clearly originally a high status home, detached and set 

back from the road. It is of two general floors with attic dormers, and fronted by a pair of 

substantial red sandstone canted bays that flank a central doorway. To its north is an 

interesting red sandstone building with an arched entrance that appears to have been built 

between 1898 and 1932, possibly as a garage for a private car. This would have been the same 

time the house was built and would, if correct, be a somewhat unusual feature for the period. 

 

Figure 25 Westcroft House Surgery 

South of this, between Numbers 54 and 60 is an interesting and attractive collection of 

buildings. Of principle importance is the Old Hall, an 18th century building of three stories, with 

two storey building attached on the north side, originally two cottages. Windows are 

mullioned and transomed with casements, and in the north building mullioned only. The 

Tudor-style porch was added in the 19th century. Roofs are graduated slate with coped and 

kneelered gables. This pair of buildings is listed grade II. 

Page 120



25 
 

 

Figure 26 Old Hall, 59-60 Main Street, listed grade II, the setting of which is detracted from by 
the bus shelter 

To the south of the Old Hall, Number 58 was formerly a bank and dates from the latter half of 

the 19th century. This is also listed grade II and is asymmetrical on the ground floor, consisting 

of a passage entry, the front door, and a canted bay. Above, the building is in two symmetrical 

bays, with the roof characterised by a pair of segmentally-arched dormers. 

 

Figure 27 Numbers 57 and 58 Main Street, both listed grade II. The full compliment of chimney 
pots at 58 is to the building’s credit. 

South of these, Numbers 54 and 55-56 are an attractive grade II listed pair – a two storey 

cottage and a quite grand three storey house – dating from the mid-19th century. Between 

these and Number 58 is the grade II listed Number 57, which dates from the late 18th or early 

Page 121



26 
 

19th century, listed for group value as part of 54-60, a row that makes a very positive 

contribution to the character of Egremont conservation area.  

 

Figure 28 Numbers 54, 55-56, and 57 Main Street, listed grade II 

 

Figure 29 Co-Operative building on site of 1877 Sunday School at Number 40. Note the clever 
guttering design that avoids the need for downpipes on the frontage. 

The Co-Operative building, in use today as a Co-Op shop, is an impressive three storey 

structure. The building was not originally rendered, and appears to be in attractive squared 

coursed rubble underneath.The single storey extension to the north, combined with the single 

storey side element of the Heron Foods building, leaves the entrance to Ehen Court Road 

somewhat formless. The extension was built in 2001, at which time an archaeological 

watching brief found evidence of probably medieval and post-medieval date.  

Page 122



27 
 

This site was formerly the foregrounds of the old rectory, which sat back from the road in 

excess of a hundred metres, with a tree-lined drive at the side of the plot leading to a turning 

circle in front of the building, which also led onto Lamb Lane. This is now roughly the location 

of the eastern end of Florence House. 

The buildings on both sides of the street from this point down to the Market Place are an 

attractive mixture of 18th and 19th century structures in continuous or nearly continuous rows, 

with one exception. Main Street becomes more animated towards its southern end and this 

strip of frontages makes an attractive and characterful, if poorly fenestrated, contribution. 

 

Figure 30 The west side of the street where Main Street approaches Market Place, showing a 
range of mostly two storey gabled properties (27 Market Place to 47 Main Street in 
foreground). The late Victorian red sandstone bank is an attractive building although 
interrupts the rooflines of those around it. 

On the west side of the street, Number 45 stands out despite being small. It is listed grade II 

and bears an “I.P.” initialled date stone of 1662. The shop front is 19th century, and the upper 

floor features an attractive and unusual pair of sliding sashes with gothic tracery. 

3.1.2. Market Place and St Bridget’s Lane 

Number 1 Market Place, on the east side of the street, is a strong introduction to this part of 

the conservation area, although is somewhat overshadowed by the magnitude of the adjacent 

cleared plot. Nonetheless, it is an elegant and well-proportioned symmetrical building, with a 

trio of dormers and first floor window mouldings that add a dash of classical flair that elevates 

the building. 

Page 123



28 
 

 

Figure 31 Number 1 Market Place (44 Main Street to the left). Note the dual-level guttering 
that provides an elegent solution to the problem of draining the roof between the dormers 

Adjoining it, a considerable interruption of the building line occurred in early 2020 with the 

demolition of the Red Lion Hotel (Number 2) and Numbers 3, 4 and 5 Market Place. This 

occurred as a result of the buildings having been declared structurally unsound and a danger 

to public safety following years of poor maintenance and substandard alteration. As a result, 

there is a hole some 30m wide in the historic building line. These buildings were not listed but 

were quite historic. It is possible that they made use of stone recycled from the ruins of 

Egremont Castle, a practice that continued into the 20th century. 

 

Figure 32 Numbers 2-5 Market Place prior to demolition, 2019, also showing the “Greasy Pole” 
sculpture by artists Jeremy Deller and Alan Kane in the foreground. This sculpture was unveiled 
in 2008 and references a tradition of pole climbing that was part of the renowned Crab Fair 
until insurance costs discontinued it in 2004. 

Page 124



29 
 

 

Figure 33 Site of 2-5 Market Place, post demolition in 2020. 

This demolition has entailed harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area, 

and is a testament to the importance of judicious maintenance and alteration. Nonetheless, 

there now exists an opportunity to create an intervention that will reinvigorate the Market 

Place, which has clearly suffered decline in recent years. High quality, sophisticated 

architecture and specification are the only recourse that will allow Egremont conservation 

area to emerge from this episode demonstrably stronger. 

Further along, the unusual and attractive octagonal red sandstone chimneys of 11 Market 

Place can be seen, a valuable piece of character that has fortunately survived. 11 Market Place 

and Numbers 9 and 10 adjoining it do not otherwise appear particularly interesting, however 

Number 9 bears a stone dated “1667”, which, if representative, suggests these buildings are 

among the most ancient surviving in the conservation area. 

Page 125



30 
 

 

Figure 34 The gable end of 11 Market Place (right), with its distinctive chimneys, viewed from 
South Street 

 

Figure 35 Numbers 24 and 25 Market Place (background); grade II listed First World War 
memorial and railings (foreground). This dates from 1922. WWII inscriptions were added and 
dedicated in 1952. 

Prior to the memorial, this location featured a lamppost on a plinth and a nearby water 

fountain, which looked almost identical to the listed one currently on Bookwell, and may be 

the same one. The entrance to St Bridget’s lane is to the right of Number 25. 

Numbers 24 and 25 Market Place are handsome, well proportioned historic buildings that sit 

comfortably with those alongside. They retain slate roofs, although fenestration and signage 

Page 126



31 
 

have suffered, and the areas of vegetation at Number 25 attest to a lack of maintenance that 

may be causing dampness in the fabric.  

The war memorial and its railings are listed grade II and were erected in commemoration of 

those who fell in World War I. The memorial forms a visual termination to the view down Main 

Street and a focal point of the Market Place, although its setting is rather cluttered by car 

parking.  

St Bridget’s Lane is an ancient little side street, too narrow for a car, that now serves mainly 

as a pedestrian link between the Market Place and the early- and mid-20th century housing 

developments to the west of the conservation area. 

The buildings here are red sandstone, some roughcast, some unrendered. They are generally 

in quite dilapidated condition, but have an obviously agricultural connection that has 

fortunately survived since the 19th century, reminding us of the close connection there used 

to be between the town centre and the working countryside, a connection that has been 

forced back almost entirely by twentieth century housing developments. 

 

Figure 36 St Bridget's Lane, from Market Place, showing the agricultural character of some of 
the buildings 

St Bridget’s lane has suffered some unfortunate modification, with loss of historic openings, 

unsympathetic windows, and the use of hard grey cement pointing that does not match the 

red sandstone mechanically or aesthetically. There is great potential here for careful 

management to improve the lane over a period of time. 

Page 127



32 
 

 

 

Figure 37 Numbers 26-29 Market Place, a handsome 19th century row of buildings that frames 
the wider space well. Fenestration is mostly of good quality here in contrast to much of the 
rest of the conservation area, although suboptimal maintenance and alteration are still readily 
evident (e.g. the loss of slates, the sizeable plant growing out of the sill band) 

 

Figure 38 The bank at 29 Market Place 

Number 29 Market Place is a small although handsome bank of red sandstone, with classical 

ornamentation befitting a late Victorian civic building: pilasters with three little paterae at the 

top, the stylised console bracket at the end of the fascia, the early-Georgian style bay leaf 

band over the panelled door. The stonework is still crisp, although care should be taken not 

to damage it with cement pointing, as often happens with red sandstone. 

Page 128



33 
 

The Market Place is the heart of Egremont as a town. It has lost quite a bit of its detailing, but 

the street layout and general positions and massing of the buildings have likely remained fairly 

consistent since the late- or shortly post-medieval period. There is eight hundred years of 

history in this location, although the area has an air of neglect that sadly hasn’t correlated 

with a high survival of pre-19th century fabric or detailing, as is sometimes the case where 

development pressure has historically been low. 

3.1.3. South Street and the Church Precinct 

 

Figure 39 Number 50 South Street to 15 Market Place. Externally, these buildings have changed 
fairly little in more than a century. The white central building was formerly a pub. 50-51 (Left) 
features a particularly attractive shop front, likely dating from the early 20th century, although 
the building’s gutters appears to be overflowing and may damage it if not addressed. 

 

Figure 40 The gable of 48 South Street. This gardened area contained buildings until the 1960s. 

Page 129



34 
 

Figure 40 looking back up South Street shows the outline of the demolished row of buildings 

on the left, where previously the west side of South Street was quite densely urbanised, 

reflecting the river’s former importance to industry. 

 

Figure 41 The grade II listed iron gate piers and gates of the church; the walls and railings 
around the church are also listed. 

The iron gates and piers, made by William Head of Egremont in the late 19th century when the 

current church was built, are an impressive and well-surviving element of local character, and 

serve as reminders of Egremont’s industrial past. They are located in a set-back access from 

the road, in the site of a former building that was demolished to make way for them (The 

medieval church was accessed by a narrower opening to the left of the current gates). This 

creates a seclusion that highlights the importance of glimpses to interesting prospects in 

creating variation and a sense of place. 

Page 130



35 
 

 

Figure 42 The grade II listed Victorian gothic church of St Mary and St Michael 

The church contributes well to the sense of occasion of this part of the conservation area. 

Combined with the Market Place and the slight irregularity of South Street, it retains a 

delightful historicity that is only intermittantly undermined by the contrasting areas to the 

south and east. These conspire to give the impression that the precinct is perched on the edge 

of the historic town and has suffered encroachment. However, as can be seen, mature 

deciduous trees screen the church from much of its surroundings, suggesting a seasonal 

variation in the feel of this enclave. 

The church itself, by Thomas Lewis Banks of London and Whitehaven (a notable architect 

responsible for several prominent local buildings), is grade II listed and replaced a late 12th 

century example in 1881, parts of which were incorporated. It is in red sandstone.  

Page 131



36 
 

 

Figure 43 The south end of the conservation area, looking north towards the church from the 
junction of South Street and Old Bridge, so named because it used to be the access point to the 
river bridge, which appears to have been in existance between 1683 and 1822, when the 
current bridge was built. 

The south part of the conservation area runs from South Street westward to include the castle 

enclosure. It is characterised by wide verges and planting, including the greenery that rises on 

the side of the castle motte. This is partly because the area has been extensively cleared, 

starting in the early 20th century, when there was considerably more fabric on either side of 

South Street. The bridge itself is not within the conservation area, but contributes to its 

setting. This area also includes the small lane called Beckside, which follows the line of Skirting 

Beck around the eastern side of the castle enclosure. Skirting Beck is culverted for most of its 

trip across Egremont, but emerges at the end of a row of houses on Old Bridge before joining 

the Ehen. 

Whereas South Street joins, as its name suggests, the southern end of Market Place, on its 

western side Bookwell branches off in a south-westerly direction, passing the northern 

boundary of the castle enclosure. Its junction is sadly marred by the remains of a building that 

was never completed, which necessitated the demolition of a pair of 19th century cottages 

that had decayed to the point of being irredeemable, and has remained an unsightly building 

site for the last decade. 

Page 132



37 
 

 

Figure 44 Stalled building project at 22-23 Market Place.  

On the opposite side of Bookwell near the junction, one encounters the De Lucy Community 

Garden, containing a mosaic showing objects of importance from Egremont’s history, as well 

as a depiction of a man gurning, a local tradition of pulling a contorted expression while 

wearing a horse collar that is associated with the Crab Fair. The mosaic was created by the 

children of three local primary schools with artist Rosalind Wates, based on their drawings. It 

makes a contribution to local character and distinctiveness, but appears rather neglected, and 

the rear part of the garden is all but hidden from the road by the hedge and security fencing. 

 

Figure 45 The De Lucy Community Garden 

On the north side of the Castle on Bookwell, a tannery was built in around 1720. This was 

demolished in 1911 and replaced with the Castle Cinema in the early 1920s. The Castle was 

not the first cinema built in Egremont, but it was probably the most popular, and lasted around 

Page 133



38 
 

half a century before closing in 1976 as the rise of television use reduced demand. The building 

was a simple structure, but larger than it appeared from the street, where the elaborate 

classically styled porch was flanked by shop units. After closing as a cinema, the building found 

use as a bingo hall before being demolished in 2007. The site still stands vacant, to the 

detriment of this part of conservation area. 

 

Figure 46 The old cinema site on Bookwell, which has stood vacant since 2007. The site is 
reasonably neat and the trees that have grown up introduce a softness and relief from concrete 
and tarmac that is pleasant in a certain sense, and compliments the trees growing in the castle 
enclosure. It is not, however, a long-term solution. 

 

Figure 47 The north gateway into the enclosure of Egremont Castle on Bookwell 

Page 134



39 
 

 

Figure 48 Castle Villas, a trio of very handsome Victorian houses. Their impressive consoled 
dormers give the impression of almost being three full storeys, and the two-storey canted bays 
are sufficient to impart some real stature. The fenestration is not ideal however, nor matching 
across the three. The mature shrubs at the front continue the sense of greenness enjoyed on 
Bookwell. 

 

Figure 49 The Masonic Hall, formerly Free United Methodist Church 

The Masonic Hall was constructed in 1893 as a church, but it ceased its original function in 

1963. It is unusual among Methodist church designs in being set back from the pavement in 

its own grassy plot, which is edged with railings and featuring masonry and gatepiers of good 

quality and condition, although the windows of the building itself have been removed. This 

marks the corner of the conservation area where it turns to rejoin the western boundary of 

the Castle enclosure. 

Page 135



40 
 

Though outside the conservation area, Bookwell to the west of the Castle retains a historic 

character and much high quality built fabric. It is important to the area’s setting. 

 

Figure 50 The grade II listed water fountain on Bookwell. The attractive 19th century houses 
behind are not within the conservation area, but contribute positively to its setting 

 

Figure 51 The 12th century remains of the Castle’s western gatehouse, also showing remains 
of the likely 13th century market cross in centre 

Egremont Castle is a tremendous asset to the town. Its upstanding remains are listed Grade I 

and the enclosure containing the 12th century motte (artificial mound) and bailey 

(earthworked auxiliary buildings) are a scheduled ancient monument. Additionally, the 

enclosure contains the remains of the market cross that was removed from Market Place in 

1922, and a grade II listed sundial dating from 1762.  

Page 136



41 
 

This area is elevated above the town, in a position of dominance reflecting its strategic role. It 

commands good views of the surroundings and is widely visible, the ruins among trees and 

cliffs an evocative and picturesque vision that lends Egremont a great deal of historic gravitas. 

The relationship between the castle, church, market place and old streets attests to the 

development of medieval Egremont and allows the visitor to appreciate its historicity. This 

essential character survives in spite of the extensive low quality post-WW1 sprawl that 

constitutes the majority of the wider town and the general sense of decline and dilapidation 

that has crept over almost every part of it. 

3.1.4. Materials 

 

Red sandstone is prevalent within the conservation area, both as a facing material for façades 

and as a walling material that is then covered with render, either smooth or roughcast. The 

majority of the render within Egremont conservation area is cement-based and this is likely to 

be contributing to damp problems as it prevents moisture in the solid masonry from escaping. 

Render should be lime based – not a cement render gauged with lime, as is sometimes passed 

off as lime render – and tailored for the specific exposure the building will receive. 

Red sandstone was popularly used in the Victorian period for higher status buildings, and is a 

common sight on banks, churches and civic buildings. 

Brick, as a facing material, is fairly rare in the conservation area and only visible on more recent 

buildings such as the terraced houses on Lamb Lane. Adjacent to the conservation area, the 

early 21st century Florence House shows how brick is a flexible material that can sit well 

alongside historic buildings through carefully chosen colour, massing and proportion, but also 

have a clean, modern appearance. 

Figure 52 Red sandstone, painted incised stucco, brick 

Page 137



42 
 

Other materials that complement the conservation area may also be viable; the key thing is 

to come up with quality architecture and demonstrate its appropriateness. 

3.1.5. Uses 

Main Street, Market Place and the north end of South Street are generally contiguous and 

function in a similar way. Since the middle of the 20th century they have largely been occupied 

by shop premises on ground floors with residential or back-of-house uses above, although as 

Egremont’s residential offer has contracted, so an increasing number of these have converted 

entirely to residential, leaving the street scene less active. This is particularly noticeable at the 

northern end of Main Street, where the majority of the buildings north of the Town Hall are 

lacking shops. 

Prior to the mid-20th century, a greater number of these buildings, and buildings that have 

since been demolished, were associated with cottage and small-scale local industry. This has 

mostly departed. 

At this time, agricultural uses would have been more present within the conservation area, 

until early- and mid-20th century housing developments pushed back the fields and introduced 

a new zone that almost completely surrounds the conservation area’s north, south and west 

sides.  

The Market Place was originally used for the market, as its name suggests, and there were 

rules around when people were allowed to display their produce, with penalties imposed if 

they were broken. A market still takes place regularly, although in the Market Hall that was 

built in 1883. 

  

Page 138



43 
 

3.2. Public Realm 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses 

Views within the conservation area are mostly enclosed by the buildings and limited to those 

up and down Main Street/Market Place. At the junctions, views are typically offered a short 

distance but mostly reveal no additional or intriguing information. There are, however, some 

exceptions. 

 

Figure 53 A view down Chapel Street from Main Street. This reveals an attractive view of hills, 
but architecturally offers little beyond the chapel. 

 

Figure 54 The Town Hall clock tower offers an arresting and distinctive landmark that exerts 
its presence across the whole northern half of Main Street 

Page 139



44 
 

 

Figure 55 The view along Bookwell from Main Street offers an intriguing glimpse toward the 
trees of the Castle enclosure and the grand villa houses, although is less easily navigable on 
foot than it might be; traffic very much has priority here. Note that the vacant cinema plot is 
highly visible from here. Whatever is built there will contribute strongly to this view. 

 

Figure 56 The cleared site of 2-5 Market Place confronts the viewer on Bookwell with its open 
sky. This is an important view, being the main approach and departure from the scheduled and 
grade I listed Castle. Any project here will be a defining feature of Egremont’s most historic 
quarter. 

Page 140



45 
 

 

Figure 57 Ginnels to the rears of terraced plots, like this one at 9 Market Place bearing a 1667 
date stone, offer intrigue in the form of glimpses through the buildings into the spaces behind. 
These are a small but important part of the charm of the town. 

 

Figure 58 The entrance to the church is a wonderful little area one stumbles upon on South 
Street. Its ironwork is both very beautiful and locally made, and offers glimpses of the church 
beyond. It catches the afternoon sun in summer, creating a bright, quiet spot that is greatly to 
the conservation area’s benefit. 

Page 141



46 
 

 

Figure 59 The entrance to St Bridget’s Lane on Market Place. This small, irregular street retains 
much of its historic character and evokes a powerful impression of the past, seeming to have 
been left there on the town centre’s doorstep virtually unchanged since the 19th century. It is 
not in good condition however, and has suffered some suboptimal alterations, but it still offers 
an intriguing glimpse to the passer-by. 

 

Figure 60 Egremont Castle offers both the most evocative view of the town, and the best views 
from it. Rewarding the visitor for their climb, it reveals the river bridge and countryside to the 
south-west and west, including the distant hills of the western Lake District. 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths 

The vast majority of Egremont’s historic surfaces have been lost. Indeed, it may be possible to 

say that from the conservation area every square metre of historic surfacing is gone. Tarmac 

Page 142



47 
 

is now the defining material, although certain areas also feature rather dated looking cement 

slabs or paviours from past public realm projects or adventitious resurfacing.  

 

Figure 61 An example of Egremont’s surfacing in Market Place. The pavement is a mixture of 
conrete paviours and setts; it is fairly unobjectionable. The road is tarmac, and is ever-present 
in Egremont conservation area, bisecting it and interrupting pedestrian movement at almost 
every point. 

    

 

Figure 62 The entrance to Ehen Court Road displays many of the conservation area’s brick 
surfaces: blue/red pavements (which would look quite at home in Tunbridge Wells), a pale 
buff-coloured wall at 35 Main Street. From here there is also a view of Florence House, just 
outside the conservation area. 

Page 143



48 
 

 

Figure 63 The very attractive stone setts at the entrance to the Town Council offices, Market 
Hall. These were relaid in 2019 on a new sand and lime bed as they had become rutted from 
historic access by vehicles. Had they been replaced with tarmac, this small area would have 
lost a key ingredient of its success. 

3.2.3. Boundaries 

The majority of boundaries in the conservation area are formed by the frontages of the 

buildings themselves. In a few locations there are surviving historic walls or fences. 

 

Figure 64 The northern end of the conservation area, where one enters it by car, and therefore 
the first impression for a majority of visitors, is blighted by these galvanised steel railings that 
have been deemed necessary on account of the domination of this space by road traffic. 
Pedestrians are hemmed in on the edges. It is not welcoming or user-friendly. 

Page 144



49 
 

 

Figure 65 Although outside the conservation area, this grand red sandstone wall contributes 
to its setting, exhibiting the characteristic cock-and-hen copings that are seen throughout 
Copeland. The idea of creating a wall today on this scale and using this much red sandstone is 
almost inconceivable, as would incorporating a little door for delivering coal to a coalhouse. 
Such details attest to the past life of the town, and once lost are gone forever. 

 

Figure 66 The Ehen riverside forms a historic southern boundary to the conservation area. One 
or two domestic gardens here are particularly attractive; they improve the setting of the bridge 
and the experience of walking over it. 

Though the conservation area does not extend quite this far, in terms of the feel of Egremont’s 

historic core, the riverside is very much a boundary. It was historically an important part of 

various activities such as milling.  

Page 145



50 
 

A considerable quantity of 20th century demolition has left the river and the conservation area 

seperated from one another, and subsequent development does not appear to have been 

masterplanned in such a way as to unite the two, to explore how the riverside and the historic 

town could be mutually beneficial. 

3.3. Natural Environment 

3.3.1. Open Spaces 

Natural open space within the conservation area is mostly limited to the Castle enclosure, 

which provides a steep wooded landmark at the south end of the area, though it is not 

integrated but rather walled off and makes its own distinct area. 

The same is true of the church precinct off South Street, although the open space here is 

limited to the area around the church itself.  

Apart from these two, the conservation area is almost entirely urbanised and hard-surfaced. 

3.3.2. Water 

Water is almost absent from the conservation area. Skirting Beck technically flows through it, 

although is culverted for the entirety of its time within the boundary, emerging only just 

outside. 

The Riven Ehen is closely bound to the development of the town but is again outside the 

conservation area and not united with it. 

3.3.3. Trees 

Trees are mostly restricted to the castle enclosure and church precinct, but there are also 

fairly mature trees located in pits in the pavements either side of Main Street that serve to 

soften the appearance of the street. Some planting and verges at Ehen Court Road serve to 

introduce greenery at the median point of any journey along Main Street. 

The impression of vegetation increases toward the south end of the area, where the Castle 

enclosure is visible behind the buildings because of its elevation, and there is also the 

undeveloped cinema site, which has filled with trees and large shrubs. The views offered down 

South Street contains verges left by historic demolition that are wide and planted. 

  

Page 146



51 
 

4. Key Characteristics 
 A picturesque but dilapidated market town with medieval origins. 

 The slightly winding Main Street, flanked by two storey mixed dwellings and shops of various ages, 

retains its historic context despite widespread loss of sympathetic detailing, some substandard 

maintenance, and loss of uses. 

 Main Street is orientated north-south and leads to Market Place, the historic core of Egremont, 

which was the first part of the town developed after the Castle, at which point the modern 

settlement began extending northward and subsequently developed on the west side too. 

 Development along the River Ehen would have been underway since the first phase of the town, 

although has now mostly retreated, leaving the north bank populated loosely by houses. This is 

very pretty, but disconnected from the conservation area. 

 The raised land where the castle is located creates a striking landmark that does a great deal to 

make Egremont unique. The church precinct nearby, coupled with the land on South Street where 

buildings were demolished in the 20th century, creates a greenness and looser structure to the 

southern part of the town.  

 Egremont is in need of investment and has building blocks in place for something of a renaissance, 

including a selection of possible development sites, and gateway and traffic issues that would 

bring clear improvements if improved. 

 The maintenance, alteration and viability issues are to some extent secondary problems that are 

unlikely to be resolved without improvements in the town’s economy because they have been so 

widespread and persistent. However, specification and maintenance can still play an important 

role in the shorter term (See Copeland Conservation Area Design Guide). 

  

Page 147



52 
 

5. Summary of Issues 
 The road is a major problem, forcing an impression of tarmac into almost every scene of the 

conservation area, obstructing pedestrian movement, and placing cars in front of buildings. It 

makes the character of the conservation area about traffic, not about historic legibility or public 

interaction. Though accessibility is key to Egremont’s success, the road also prevents circulation 

and hides historic character.  

 Repair and maintenance levels are generally low (see below), with some notable exceptions. 

 Alterations have frequently not been in the best interests of Egremont’s long-term vibrancy. 

 Loss of shops/destinations/third places and the replacement of distinctive, quality offerings with 

fast food outlets has harmed the conservation area. 

 The northern gateway into the area is poor. The roundabout on the A595, though outside the 

boundary, effectively serves as the introduction both to it and Egremont generally, but is 

unattractive, characterless and unnavigable by any means other than car. 

 

Figure 67 Red sandstone is soft. Cement pointing frequently causes irreversible damage to the 
surface in exposed masonry. Cement render can cause similar problems in concealed solid masonry 
walls. 

 

 

 

Page 148



53 
 

6. Appendices 

6.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) 

Strengths 

 History brought to life by the urban form and grain along Main Street and Market Place, 

and particularly emphasised by the presence of the castle. 

 Engaging selection of buildings, mostly of small enough scale that they could be intimate 

and personable, complemented by attractive landmark buildings. 

 Certain areas of greenery and views contribute to the variety of the offering. 

Weaknesses 

 Poor condition of some buildings, stemming from a mixture of chronic underinvestment 

combined with unsympathetic and substandard alterations.  

 Extremely poor survival of medieval fabric; generally poor survival of pre-19th century 

fabric. 

 Suboptimal mix of uses. The historic Market Place is now substantially a carpark and road 

junction. Many shops have closed. 

 The highway intrudes upon local character and circulation. 

 The River Ehen and its bridge south of the town centre are not integrated into the 

conservation area. There is little linking them; the riverside, though pretty, is passive, not 

capitalised upon, and fails to make much contribution to the civic life or character of the 

town. 

Opportunities 

 A number of re-developable sites in Egremont provide the opportunity to advance the 

town from the slump of the 20th and early 21st centuries and provide resources, 

investment and architecture that is aspirational and can repair the injuries suffered by its 

built fabric. 

 The northern gateway has the capability to present a much more attractive face to 

visitors, although traffic flow will need carefully designing. 

 Improving the traffic experience on Main Street and Market Place would bring 

considerable improvement to the experience of the conservation area, re-asserting its 

buildings and the ability to wander on foot, which has been compromised. 

Threats 

 Continued decline as a result of poor alteration and maintenance. 

 Loss of further historic fabric. 

 Continued closure of shops and attractions. 

 

 

Page 149



 

54 
 

6.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets 

Refer to the National Heritage List for England (historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/)  

List Entry No. Name Address Grade Date designated Date constructed 

1,020,455 Egremont Castle Bookwell Scheduling 1915 12th century origins 

1086704 Drinking fountain and water trough Bookwell II 1984 1904 

1086705 
 

45, Main Street II 1984 1662 

1086706 Old Hall 59/60, Main Street II 1984 18th century 

1086707 Town Hall Main Street II 1984 1889-90 

1086708 
 

1, Market Street II 1984 1889-90 

1086711 Church of St Mary and St Michael South Street II 1967 1881 

1137138 Egremont Castle Bookwell I 1967 12th century origins 

1137157 
 

54-56, Main Street II 1984 Mid-19th century 

1137162 
 

58, Main Street II 1984 Mid-/late-19th century 

1137167 War Memorial and Railings to 
Enclosure 

Market Square II 1984 1922 

1137244 Entrance gates, walls and railings 
to churchyard 

Church of St Mary and St 
Michael, South Street 

II 1984 c. 1881 

1312452 Lowes Court 12, Main Street II 1984 Late-17th/early-18th century 

1335999 Sundial Egremont Castle, Bookwell II 1984 1762 

1336000 
 

57, Main Street II 1984 Late-18th/early-19th century 

 

 

P
age 150

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/


 

55 
 

6.3. Area Maps 

 

Figure 68 Egremont conservation area boundary

Page 151



 

56 
 

 

Figure 69 Egremont conservation area, showing listed buildings (purple) and positive townscape 

elements (green)  

Page 152



 

57 
 

 

Figure 70 Important views, major landmarks, and significant areas of hard surfacing (yellow) and green 
space (green). In the case of Egremont, divisions between significant and insignificant areas of hard 
surfacing and greenery are contentious. For instance, much of the area is characterised by the broad 
pavements on Main Street, which widen still further at certain locations, creating spaces part way 
between a pavement and a stopping place with its own character. 

Page 153



 

58 
 

6.4. Bibliography 

Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland (2012) An assessment of the effects of conservation areas on 

value London School of Economics 

Copeland Borough Council (2004) Egremont. Copeland Mini-Masterplan. [online] Available at: 

www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/ldfebegremontminimplan.pdf  

Cumberland & Westmorland Antiquarian & Archaeological Society (1917) Transactions, Vol. XVII. 

Titus Wilson & Son, Highgate. [Online] Available at: 

https://archive.org/stream/transactionsofcu17cumb/transactionsofcu17cumb_djvu.txt 

Cumberland & Westmorland Antiquarian & Archaeological Society (1923) Transactions, Vol. 

XXIII. Titus Wilson & Son, Highgate. [Online] Available at: 

https://archive.org/stream/transactionsofcu23cumb/transactionsofcu23cumb_djvu.txt 

Ford, W. (1840) A Description of Scenery in the Lake District Intended as a Guide to Strangers. 

Charles Thurnam, London. 

Historic England (2019) Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management Second 

Edition, Historic England Advice Note 1 Swindon. Historic England 

Historic England (2021). National Heritage List For England. [Online] Available at: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list 

Hyde, M. and Pevsner, N. (2010) The Buildings of England: Cumbria – Cumberland, Westmorland 

and Furness. Yale University Press. New Haven and London 

Nicholson, J. and Burn, R. (1777) The History and Antiquities of the Counties of Cumberland and 

Westmorland, Vol. II. Online [Available at https://hdl.handle.net/2027/mdp.39015086588863]  

Ordnance Survey (1863) Cumberland LXVII.12 (Arlecdon and Frizington) Surveyed 1860. Online 

[Available at: maps.nls.uk/view/121145582] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1899) Cumberland LXVII.12 (Arlecdon and Frizington) Revised 1898. Online 

[Available at: maps.nls.uk/view/121146665] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1925) Cumberland LXVII.12 (Arlecdon and Frizington) Revised 1923. Online 

[Available at: maps.nls.uk/view/121146668] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Oxford City Council (2021) Character Assessment Toolkit. Online [Available at: 

www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit) 

War Memorials Online (2021) Egremont Cenotaph [Online] Available at: 

https://www.warmemorialsonline.org.uk/memorial/119654/ 

Williams, J. (1869) The Visitor's Guide to St. Bees, Whitehaven, Egremont, Ravenglass, and the 

Surrounding Country Villages. Online [Available at: 

https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=qgAHAAAAQAAJ  

Page 154

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/ldfebegremontminimplan.pdf
https://archive.org/stream/transactionsofcu17cumb/transactionsofcu17cumb_djvu.txt
https://archive.org/stream/transactionsofcu23cumb/transactionsofcu23cumb_djvu.txt
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list
https://hdl.handle.net/2027/mdp.39015086588863
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145582
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146665
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146668
http://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit
https://www.warmemorialsonline.org.uk/memorial/119654/
https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=qgAHAAAAQAAJ


 

 

Appraisal prepared by: 

Dr Sammy Woodford 

Conservation and Design Officer 

Copeland Borough Council 

 

Contact: 

Copeland Borough Council 

01946 598 300 

info@copeland.gov.uk 

 

Visit our front desk, or write to Development Management using the post box at: 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

 

Page 155

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hensingham Conservation Area Appraisal 
2021 
 

  

Page 157

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/


Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Background ............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? ................................................................................................. 2 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? ................................................................................. 3 

2. Location, History and Development ............................................................................................... 4 

2.1. Overview of Hensingham Conservation Area ......................................................................... 4 

2.2. Historic Development ............................................................................................................. 4 

2.2.1. Origins ............................................................................................................................. 4 

2.2.2. Development History ...................................................................................................... 5 

2.2.3. Map Progression ............................................................................................................. 5 

3. Character ......................................................................................................................................... 7 

3.1. Built Environment ................................................................................................................... 7 

3.1.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form .............................................................................. 7 

3.1.2. Materials ....................................................................................................................... 22 

3.1.3. Uses ............................................................................................................................... 23 

3.2. Public Realm .......................................................................................................................... 23 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses ................................................................................................. 23 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths ............................................................................................................ 27 

3.2.3. Boundaries .................................................................................................................... 28 

3.3. Natural Environment............................................................................................................. 32 

3.3.1. Open Spaces .................................................................................................................. 32 

3.3.2. Water ............................................................................................................................ 34 

3.3.3. Trees .............................................................................................................................. 34 

4. Key Characteristics ........................................................................................................................ 35 

5. Summary of Issues ........................................................................................................................ 35 

6. Appendices .................................................................................................................................... 36 

6.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) ....................................... 36 

6.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets ............................................................................. 37 

6.3. Area Maps ............................................................................................................................. 38 

7. Bibliography .................................................................................................................................. 41 

 

  

Page 158



Index of Selected Places 

Beck Bottom .............................................................................................................................. 23, 24, 32 

Brook Bank ...................................................................................................................................... 24, 32 

Cartgate ........................................................................................................................................... 29, 30 

Church Lane 
1, 2 .................................................................................................................................................... 10 
Old Church Yard .............................................................................................................. 10, 11, 30, 33 

Egremont Road 
Church of St John ................................................................................................ 10, 15, 25, 26, 33, 34 
Hensingham Hall ....................................................................................................... 12, 14, 15, 32, 35 
Hensingham House ............................................................................................. 12, 14, 15, 28, 32, 34 
War Memorial ................................................................................................................................... 15 

Garden Villas 
04-08 ........................................................................................................................................... 20, 26 

Holly Terrace 
033, 034 ...................................................................................................................................... 17, 18 
035, 036 ............................................................................................................................................ 18 
037 .................................................................................................................................................... 18 

Main Street 
024 ...................................................................................................................................................... 9 
025 (King's Arms PH) ........................................................................................................................... 9 
027, 028 & 029 .................................................................................................................................. 17 
030 .................................................................................................................................................... 17 
038-048 ............................................................................................................................................. 21 
088 .................................................................................................................................................... 19 
089-099 ............................................................................................................................................. 16 
104, 105 ............................................................................................................................................ 15 
106-112 ......................................................................................................................................... 8, 15 
Hensingham Court ........................................................................................ 12, 13, 15, 25, 32, 34, 35 
Jubilee Hall ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

Ribton Moorside ............................................................................................................................. 23, 24 

 

  

Page 159



Glossary 

Accretion The product of a process of gradual build-up or accumulation 

Bargeboard Board attached to the gable of a building, protecting and concealing joist ends, the 

sides of slates etc. 

Canted Obliquely angled, particularly at a corner. In the sense of a bay window, it refers to 

the type that is trapezoid in plan 

Fenestration The arrangement of windows 

Promontory A raised mass of land that projects above lower land or water 

Quoins Cornerstones, often forming an alternating stack of blocks at the corner of a building 

Snicket A northern English term for a passage or alleyway that runs alongside or behind 

houses 

Stucco  Fine, smooth plaster for wall facing and forming decorative features 

 

Page 160



1 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Background 

Copeland Borough Council (the Council) currently administers eight conservation areas 

(Whitehaven, Corkickle, Hensingham, Egremont, Cleator Moor, Beckermet, St Bees, and Millom). 

A further conservation area, Ravenglass, is located within Copeland but administered by the Lake 

District National Park Authority. 

These range in size and character, with Whitehaven, the country’s first post-medieval planned 

town and one of its most complete, being the largest in area (approximately 80 hectares) and the 

first designated (1969). Hensingham is the smallest at approximately two hectares. 

Hensingham was one of Copeland’s original designations in 1969, along with Whitehaven and 

Corkickle. More recently, a brief overview was provided in the Borough’s Conservation Area 

Design Guide (2017), but this appraisal has the capacity for a more in-depth assessment. 

 

Figure 1 Hensingham within Copeland 

 

  

Page 161



2 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? 

Local Planning Authorities have a responsibility under law to: 

…from time to time determine which parts of their area are areas of special 

architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable 

to preserve or enhance… [Underlines added] 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 69(1) 

These areas are designated as conservation areas, and the authority also has a duty to from time 

to time review the areas designated (Section 69(2)). This means the Council has made a 

commitment to take account of the effect on character and appearance of any development 

proposed within the area, and this applies to its entirety, not merely its buildings. 

The special interest of a conservation area is engendered by all its positive qualities, and a job of 

the planning process is to ensure that change in a conservation area avoids harm to its positive 

aspects while allowing its negative aspects to be addressed. In order to do this, its character in 

positive, neutral and negative terms must be understood, stated and agreed upon. This is the job 

of the character appraisal (a requirement of Section 71(1) of the Act). 

The appraisal is created through a process of public engagement with local people, whereby 

attendees at a meeting have the opportunity to present their views (1990 Act Sections 71(3-4)). 

Once finalised, conservation area designation brings the following work under planning control: 

 Demolition of buildings 

 Works to or removal of trees 

 Development that may be permitted elsewhere, e.g. some house extensions 

Generally, home owners benefit from conservation area designation as the controls sustain 

and/or enhance property values, a finding that has been confirmed by research from the London 

School of Economics (Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland, 2012). 

Planning applications made in conservation areas are typically made in full rather than in outline 

as this allows their implications to be fully understood. This process is not only governed by the 

1990 Act mentioned above, but also from guidance such as the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) and local policy such as found in the Copeland Local Plan.  

Additionally, conservation area appraisals are useful in discharging Section 72(1) of the 1990 Act, 

in which “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance” of the area. The appraisal does an important job in describing that 

character and appearance comprehensively. 

 

Page 162



3 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? 

A conservation area appraisal is a tool that explores and defines what is special about an area’s 

architecture and history, and therefore worth preserving or enhancing: 

A good appraisal will consider what features make a positive or negative contribution 

to the significance of the conservation area, thereby identifying opportunities for 

beneficial change or the need for planning protection. 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 025 Reference ID: 18a-025-20190723 

Appraisal takes a broad approach, looking at the development and evolution of an area, the 

relationships within and outside it, how it is used and has been used in the past, and if it has any 

associations with notable people, movements, innovations or practices.  

A place’s street pattern may be of importance, along with the style, appearance, construction and 

arrangement of its buildings. Key views, connections, boundaries, nodes where people meet, 

junctions, routes and zones are important: in other words, what makes the place what it is, what 

makes it valuable, and what makes it distinct from other places. 

With this process there is the opportunity to reappraise what is already known about the area, 

and whether there should be any revisions to its boundary. Places are in constant flux, both in 

terms of their physical makeup and in what we understand of them. 

The appraisal will be used during the development control process to gauge the impact of 

potential developments. It can also be used by those making planning applications as a resource 

to assist in self-assessment, and may be of interest to people living in or studying the area, either 

generally or in the course of commenting on a planning application.  

The relationship between a conservation area and its occupants is particularly important because 

the maintenance of property within the area is one of the key ways by which its character can be 

preserved and enhanced, and harm avoided. 

This appraisal has been prepared following detailed assessment of Hensingham using Historic 

England’s 2016 advice document on conservation area character appraisals. It contains 

appendices mapping building quality and landscape analysis, which should be viewed in 

conjunction with the descriptive sections. While it attempts to reach a sufficiently high level of 

detail, it is not possible to describe all that is significant and interesting, so where aspects have 

been omitted or overlooked this should not be taken to mean that they lack architectural or 

historical importance. 

  

Page 163



4 

2. Location, History and Development 

2.1. Overview of Hensingham Conservation Area 

Hensingham conservation area was one of Copeland’s original designations, made in 1969. It is 

the smallest conservation area in Copeland. 

 

Figure 2 The conservation area within Hensingham 

As can be seen from the above map, Hensingham’s conservation area naturally consists of two 

halves: a lower western portion at the roundabout, including Hensingham Hall and Hensingham 

House, Church Lane, and the buildings on either side; and the section of Main Street with terraced 

houses on either side, most of which are listed, including Garden Villas. 

2.2. Historic Development 

2.2.1. Origins 

The early history of Hensingham does not appear well documented. It is likely that it was a 

cluster of farms and cottages originally, and as Whitehaven grew in size and traffic, so it 

developed as a nearby village that was close enough to provide accommodation somewhat 

removed from the smoke, noise and disease that Whitehaven became rife with in the late 18th 

to early 20th centuries. The population of the historic township increased steadily through the 

first half of the 19th century, before expanding rapidly during the 1860s, although whether this 

correlates with the development of the village itself is less clear as most of its buildings appear 

to predate the 1860s. 

Page 164



5 

2.2.2. Development History 

The buildings seem to date from a relatively narrow window of time, perhaps a little over a 

century for most of the fabric within the conservation area. Excepting the one or two early 

20th century buildings, this period could be viewed as no more than a lifetime, with 

Hensingham coming into being as it is now mostly between the late-18th and mid-19th 

centuries. 

The extensive encroachment and growth experienced in the 20th century is related more to 

the suburbanisation of Whitehaven’s catchment area, and has had little to do with the 

conservation area itself, likely because it was already highly urbanised and there is not room 

for development without clearance. 

Apart from the sad loss of the 1790 church, little demolition has taken place in Hensingham, 

and though much of the surrounding development has been haphazard, the nucleus of the 

village remains virtually unharmed, save by its patchy maintenance and alteration record.  

It is likely that the node around the Square is the earliest part, being on the main road, and 

the village developed radially along the roads that lead from it, with smaller cottages arranged 

at the north-western part, and more upmarket houses up the hill along Holly Terrace and Main 

Street. 

2.2.3. Map Progression 

 

Figure 3 The village as it appears in the first edition 25" OS map (1861-3). As can be 
seen, the buildings within the conservation area today are mostly in place by this 
period. 

Page 165



6 

 

Figure 4 Hensingham in the 1898 25" OS map. The cottages along Beck Bottom and 
the west side of Main Street that were subsequently removed in the mid-20th century 
are quite obvious here, as is the 1790 church. 

 

Figure 5 OS 25" map showing Hensingham as it appeared in the inter-war period. 

  

Page 166



7 

3. Character 

3.1. Built Environment 

3.1.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form 

The lower, western end of Hensingham’s conservation area has more obviously suffered from 

neglect and poor alteration, although its architectural and historic character is in fact very 

attractive; it’s just well hidden. 

 

Figure 6 Looking into the conservation area from its north-west corner on Main Street 

One of the most fundamental problems, which quickly becomes apparent on investigation, is 

the effect caused by the road. This has divided the area into several chunks, each of which is 

too small on its own to sustain the kind of public civic activity to flourish. Additionally, the 

volume of traffic using the roads produces noise and smell.  

At busy times, it is not easy to cross from one part to another, and even looking at the buildings 

on the opposite side is made difficult by passing vehicles. 

This has had the effect of slowly transforming Hensingham from a singular place in its own 

right, with a core, public realm and services, into somewhere that most people only drive 

through to get elsewhere. Hensingham has resisted this to some extent, and retains much in 

the way of unique character, but has suffered as a result, though not solely because of this. 

Page 167



8 

 

Figure 7 Numbers 106 to 112 Main Street. 108 is a positive townscape feature; 
however, the remainder of the row is more variable. 

This little row of historic houses is likely late-18th or early-19th century in origin. They are of 

highly variable appearance, perfectly demonstrating the difference between good and bad 

practice, and the need for more consistency. The varied roofline, partial retention of slate, 

and chimneys contribute to Hensingham’s townscape. 

Unfortunately, alterations such as poor quality shop front openings, fenestration, roofing and 

doors do much to harm this row’s attractiveness. Public realm aspects such as the quantity of 

tarmac and roadside furniture (signage, lamp posts etc.) compound the problems introduced 

by many years’ unflattering alterations, though this has obviously not affected all properties 

equally. 

Page 168



9 

 

Figure 8 Hensingham's traffic problem affects the ability to appreciate its buildings, 
and hinders it from uniting into a whole greater than the sum of its parts. 

 

Figure 9 Numbers 24 and 25 Main Street. These buildings are probably from the early- 
or mid-19th century, although there were buildings here in the 18th century, so they 
may be older. 

The Kings Arms has served as a public house at various times since at least the middle of the 

19th century. At that time, this area would have been much more of a civic core. Without road 

traffic, this space would have been more amenable to walking. The air would have been 

quieter and cleaner and the abilty to go from building to building, gather in groups and make 

use of the space a more realistic proposition. 

Page 169



10 

 

Figure 10 Church Lane formerly connected the church with the bottom end of Main 
Street.  

At the time of inspection, the covered ground floor windows of this house on Church Lane, 

with a wheelie bin almost blocking its doorway and sound of an unattended dog barking made 

it feel unsafe and unattractive. 

The unusual quality of details such as windows with their cills only a few inches from the 

ground, coupled with the characteristic varied roofline and disparity of the façades does 

however exhibit a characterfulness that could re-emerge under the right conditions. 

This part of the area has suffered from a long decline. The broken tarmac and general neglect 

of the buildings does not make for an inviting first impression, and the overgrown and dog 

faeces littered graveyard that formerly housed Hensingham’s original Georgian church does 

not improve matters. 

However, the impressive outlook from this promontory and the survival of several grave 

stones does make a positive impression, although the abiding impression here is of squalor 

and wasted opportunity. This contrasts quite markedly with the houses further up Main 

Street, which, apart from traffic issues, appear to have avoided this decline more successfully. 

In this sense, the conservation area is quite uneven. 

It seems likely that this process has the combination of increased traffic and the loss of the 

original church largely to blame. The 1790 church was in an Early English style, and was 

expanded in 1843 and 1859 with a new side aisle and chancel respectively. It was replaced in 

1913 by the present Church of St John, which is located just south of the conservation area on 

the Egremont Road. This left the old site vacant at around the same time that car use began 

increasing. In the decades after the Second World War, as Main Street became more 

dominated by traffic, the loss of Hensingham Square as a viable public space, and the loss of 

Page 170



11 

the church and Church Lane linking them, left what had been the heart of the village 

fragmented. 

Consequently, the southern and western part of Hensingham conservation area has suffered 

a decline in the last century or so. With a few exceptions, today it appears dilapidated and 

suffocated by traffic, although almost entirely populated by interesting and historic buildings, 

and retaining its original layout. 

 

Figure 11 The former church yard. The low wall and step mark the boundary of the 
conservation area. 

The old church yard, and the lane leading to it, have a great deal of potential to be re-energised 

as public spaces. The yard retains a few fragments of its former stature. Hensingham is in need 

of well-concieved public realm work, although this would have to be part of a broader strategy 

for maximal effect. 

Page 171



12 

 

Figure 12 Hensingham Hall (L). To the rear of it is Hensingham House, and to the right, 
set back from the road, is Hensingham Court, formerly the village smithy.  

As can be seen, this area retains some of the agricultural and even cottage-industrial character 

that would have been in regular use up until the decades following the Second World War. 

The chimneys retained at Hensingham Hall are important to the character of its roofline. 

 

Figure 13 Agricultural buildings associated with Hensingham Hall Farm, between 
Hensingham Hall and Hensingham Court. To the west of these buildings are the 
remains of various further structures in the woodland associated with the farm. 

The alterations to buildings around this courtyard are unfortunate, but probably in themselves 

wouldn’t be enough to create the overall effect of neglect without the sense also that they 

Page 172



13 

have been marooned by changes to surrounding uses, and by Hensingham’s status as a village 

in its own right having been eroded by Whitehaven’s encroachment. 

The broken concrete, plant growth and general impression of abandonment contribute to the 

sense of Hensingham Square having been marginalised. A series of coherent, high quality 

interventions in this area would have the potential to greatly improve its appearance and 

usefulness, while bringing its historic character to the fore again. 

 

Figure 14 Hensingham Court. Very little that has happened to this in the last few 
decades has been to its benefit, but it retains some character. The arrangement of 
buildings is important here too, with the square at the centre and barn addressing 
more rural land behind. 

Page 173



14 

 

Figure 15 Hensingham Hall, with new polychrome brick driveway. The chimneys are 
important, but there is clearly vegetation growing out of them, and maintenance will 
be needed in good time to prevent these becoming dilapidated. 

 

Figure 16 Hensingham House, former seat of the Senhouses. 

Hensingham House is one of the more interesting and unexpected gems of the conservation 

area. A late-18th century country house on a grand scale, facing away from public view with 

its frontage giving onto mature gardens and rolling open land, with views toward Whitehaven 

and the sea. 

Page 174



15 

To the rear, it presents a somewhat rambling elevation onto the Egremont Road that is not in 

a good state of repair, but could be greatly improved and allow the building to function 

properly in its role as a gateway. 

The various single-storey accretions on its south side have not been beneficial, although the 

doorway is at least well executed, and appears to have had the original Georgian door 

repositioned to maintain a fitting entrance. 

Hensingham House is important, although would benefit from a sensitive program of work. 

The gardens and open ground in front of it contribute to its status – it is a frontage meant to 

be viewed in this context – and the rear elevation could be improved with conservation work. 

It is contiguous with Hensingham Hall next door. 

The buildings on the west side of the Egremont Road – the Church of St John, war memorial, 

Hensingham House, Hensingham Hall, Hensingham Court, and 104-112 Main Street – have the 

potential to be not merely positive but fairly spectacular if they could all pull together. 

As a group, they are of high value, and should be appreciated as such. They are virtually 

unspoilt in terms of layout, arrangement and westward setting, but have widely suffered from 

poor alterations and maintenance, and are not helped by the public realm quality. 

 

 

Figure 17 Jubilee Hall. In the early 20th century, this was used as a Sunday school. 

Jubilee Hall is a 19th century building located on a prominent corner plot visible across the 

roundabout. Despite its importance, both as a view and as a double frontage, its potential has 

not been fully capitalised upon. 

The elevation on Egremont Road is a largely featureless slab of render adorned with various 

pieces of roadside clutter and accessed across a patchy expanse of tarmac.  

Page 175



16 

The projecting volume to the rear, and the public realm quality, are between them largely to 

blame, as the hall itself at the front is lifted by its red sandstone quoins, the remains of a 

chimney, and a decorative shape that appears to be a beehive and may indicate that this was 

built as a Co-Operative Society Hall, though no confirmation of this has been found. 

Interestingly, it is accessed via a raised entrance above a pair of semi-circular walled 

depressions. Unfortunately, the one facing the roundabout has been shortened and a section 

of wall replaced with metal security fencing. 

 

Figure 18 Numbers 89-99 Main Street, an attractive collection of houses typical of 
Hensingham. Problems are evident here and there, but nothing that couldn’t in theory 
be addressed over a period of time. 

Once one moves past Hensingham Square and properly onto Main Street, almost all of the 

structures within the conservation area are listed. 

The area is a valuable collection of 19th century houses consisting mainly of two stories. They 

are predominantly parallel with the road, and set back behind front gardens, although some 

of these have been modified to permit car parking. 

Character survives fairly well. There are no obvious gap sites, and no places where 

unsympathetic rebuilding has taken place. Chimneys mostly survive although the pots have 

been a greater casualty. Aerials and dishes are visible here and there, although are mostly out 

of the way. Windows are rather mixed: the north side of the street seems to have fared better, 

with quite a few attractive, delicate looking examples in evidence, although plastic has been 

a problem in a number of properties, particularly on the south side. 

The principal harm that has been suffered here is probably, as is the case in many of 

Copeland’s conservation areas, from the road. Traffic is ever-present, parking intrudes into 

any of the few places it can, and the quantity of tarmac is not attractive. 

Page 176



17 

This problem is one it notably shares with St Bees and Egremont. In all three cases, it’s been 

addressed in a haphazard and adventitious way. These are not conservation areas that have 

adapted well to the demands of modern traffic. It is possible that automation may reduce car 

ownership levels in future, as one would be able to summon a car whenever needed, but this 

scenario is decades away, and the implications still too obscure for it to be one we can rely on 

at this stage. 

 

Figure 19 Numbers 27, 28 and 29 Main Street (foreground), 30 Main Street (set back 
behind 29), and 33 and 34 Holly Terrace (right of frame)  

Towards the bottom of the hill, where Main Street meets Hensingham Square, there are 

several buildings that could unlock a real improvement in the conservation area were they 

addressed. These are the last properties heading north-east within the conservation area that 

are unlisted. 

They are historic buildings, and mostly retain their general pattern and arrangement. Holly 

Terrace was constructed in the late 18th or early 19th century, but the four properties to the 

left of it in the above image are late 19th century. 

The fish and chip shop at 29 features a distinctive fish-shaped sign, and a façade treatment 

that resembles fish scales, which is innovative and means it’s easy to identify, however in 

other respects there is room for improvement. These properties could be greatly improved 

with work to address the windows, doors, render/pebbledash, soil pipes, and the large metal 

air extractor. 

There is also opportunity to make more of the little courtyard in front of Number 30. This has 

the potential to provide a surprising and uplifting moment in one’s journey through the 

conservation area, perhaps with attractive materials, planting or other well judged formal 

ideas. 

Page 177



18 

 

Figure 20 Numbers 33-36 Holly Terrace (the four houses to the right) 

Up the slope from 34 Holly Terrace, the listed buildings begin, and these carry us to the edge 

of the conservation area. 

Numbers 35 and 36 are an attractive pair in the typical Hensingham style. Their single glazed 

windows have a lightness about them, they are in attractive colours, retain slated roofs and 

chimneys and appear well turned out. A few chimney pots have gone missing, but the 

retention of the chimneys themselves makes remedying this at least theoretically possible. 

 

Figure 21 Number 37 Holly Terrace 

Number 37 is an imposing property with an adjoining coach house, sensitively converted and 

retaining its carriage arch. In this case, everything works together: the windows, the doors, 

Page 178



19 

the ornamentation, the roof and chimneys, the front garden and its wall. It demonstrates the 

difference that can be achieved with a focus on coherence of certain major elements. In a 

balanced state like this, even something that might seem innocuous like, say, replacing the 

garden gate with a square galvanised one would have quite a noticeable impact. 

Figure 21 also unfortunately demonstrates a problem throughout Copeland of unattractive 

lamp posts (and, to a broader extent, problems with hard surfaces and roadside clutter), even, 

as seen here, right in front of a listed building and in a conservation area. This is in large part 

a legacy problem inherited from decades of such lamp post installations in the mid- to late-

20th century, however it is one that persists. 

  

Figure 22 Number 88 Main Street 

Number 88 Main Street is unusual in a number of ways. It is three storeys instead of the usual 

two, it is styled in a self-consciously gothic manner, with arched front door and second floor 

window, it is detached, and it is presented gable-on to the road. It is very striking, although 

the twelve-pane sash windows described in the list description in 1972 have since been 

replaced with some very unconvincing plastic alternatives, made worse by this façade’s 

conspicuousness. 

It is also probable that at some point in the past the bargeboards at the top of the gable would 

have been larger, thicker and more elaborate, more in the style of those next door at Garden 

Villas. 

Page 179



20 

 

Figure 23 Number 8, Garden Villas. 

The pink door at Number 8 lifts the building with a splash of colour. In the north-west of 

England, where clouds are frequent and the sun weak, natural illumination tends to be low 

and grey. Houses painted in greyscale, though they may look smart individually, can therefore 

contribute to a collective greyness that makes areas feel drab and unstimulating. Warmer 

earthy colours and pastel hues, used with care, should not be overlooked. 

Numbers 4-8 Garden Villas are one of the highlights of the conservation area, both because 

of their attractiveness and because they are tucked away, and so have something of a 

mystique about them. The blank gable wall onto Main Street is not perhaps their best aspect, 

but the frontage visible when heading down Main Street is very impressive. 

4-8 Garden Villas consist of a symmetrical frontage of two stories centrally, terminated by 

three-storey gabled volumes, in a late Georgian gothic (or “gothick”) style. Architecturally, 

these owe a certain debt to examples such as Horace Walpole’s famous Strawberry Hill estate, 

and show the affluence and fashionable tastes of Hensingham’s residents.  

Page 180



21 

 

Figure 24 Numbers 38-48 Main Street 

Numbers 38-48 Main Street are characteristically Hensingham in style, essentially a two-

storey variant of the Whitehaven style. They are early-19th century and listed Grade II, as are 

most of the buildings in this area. Although generally of two stories, the exception is Number 

48, which terminates the terrace with three storeys, a large canted bay, and an elaborate 

porch.  

The wide, multi-pot chimneys and slate roofs make an evocative silhouette against the sky, 

and the varied earthy render tones, lifted by ornate detailing like fan lights, hood moulds with 

labels, and window surrounds, are very attractive. 

Some windows have been replaced with less than flattering examples, however, and the 

volume of cars remains challenging, but by and large this part of Hensingham’s conservation 

area has fared better than the lower end. A focus on sensitive alteration, proactive 

maintenance, adaptive re-use and well executed public realm work has the potential to 

improve the area’s usability and better reveal its significance. 

Page 181



22 

3.1.2. Materials 

 

Figure 25 Painted stucco is common within the conservation area, and makes a positive 
impression. Combined with slate roofs, timber sliding sash windows and 
bands/mouldings around doors and windows, picked out in complementary colours, 
this gives Hensingham a strong tradition. 

 

Figure 26 A wide range of materials is present around Hensingham Square. In places, 
stucco has been replaced with pebledashing, slate has been replaced with tile, timber 
windows have been replaced with plastic. Bare sandstone is mostly reserved for 
boundary walls, rather than façade treatments, the front of Hensingham House being 
the notable exception. 

Page 182



23 

3.1.3. Uses 

A large proportion of the uses within the conservation area are residential. A small number of 

public houses survive in and immediately around it, and the church is also located just outside. 

There is a surface car park to the north, on the site of a demolished terrace of houses, and 

some on-street residents’ parking too on Main Street. A small number of shops remain. 

3.2. Public Realm 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses 

 

Figure 27 The view into attractive parkland at Beck Botton is to the north of the 
conservation area, but makes a positive contribution to its setting. There were formerly 
terraced houses located here, but these were cleared in the mid-20th century.  

 

Figure 28 The houses on Ribton Moorside are outside the conservation area boundary, 
but positively frame the view in and out.  

Page 183



24 

The pavement treatment between these cottages and the road is not at all ideal, with a high 

kerb that intrudes into the road combined with a pavement that is too narrow to walk down 

comfortably. The pavement is also set a lower level, meaning vehicles are raised compared to 

pedestrians, and the front doors open straight onto this narrow area.  

It could perhaps be improved by alterations to the road that would allow a broader, flatter 

pavement outside the houses, permitting better connection between Hensingham, Ribton 

Moorside, the Lowther Arms public house, and the parkland at Beck Bottom over the road. 

 

Figure 29 Where houses have been removed by slum clearance in the mid-20th century, 
the remaining gable can still be seen. This area has been turned into an attractive and 
well-maintained garden, although is outside the boundary of the conservation area. 

 

Figure 30 Brook Bank houses, a glimpse within the setting of the conservation area. 

Page 184



25 

Although just outside the boundary of the conservation area, this glimpse past a row called 

Beck Bank, down a path called Snebra (leading to Snebra Beck), is intriguing. The greenery at 

this part of the area’s setting is attractive, and important in preventing Hensingham from 

feeling completely encroached upon by the surrounding sprawl. 

 

Figure 31 A narrow, almost hidden glimpse past Hensingham Court to trees. This is a 
small corner of the conservation area that still clings onto some of its 19th century 
agricultural character, and hasn’t been suburbanised. 

 

Figure 32 St John's Church. Though outside the conservation area’s southern boundary, 
the view of this attractive building adds some presence to the experience of 
Hensingham, although is more visible when leaving the village, rather than arriving, 
owing to tree cover. 

Page 185



26 

 

Figure 33 To the west of the church, this open space permits a view of distant trees, 
Whitehaven and the sea from the conservation area’s setting that is delightful when 
one stumbles upon it. 

 

Figure 34 Within the conservation area, this glimpse of the gable end of the Garden 
Villas, with their wonderful pierced bargeboards and snicket in front, contributes to 
the area’s character and appearance. 

Page 186



27 

 

Figure 35 The houses along Main Street, which are almost all listed, collectively make 
a very attractive composition. They are generally of two stories, with rooflines stepping 
up the hill, and good survival of chimneys and slate roofs. The traffic has had a harmful 
effect however, and this is particularly noticeable at peak times. 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths 

 

Figure 36 Surfacing in Hensingham is particularly poor, with worn out concrete and 
tarmac being the predominant materials. 

Page 187



28 

 

Figure 37 Where different concrete and tarmac surfaces abut, they tend to move 
differentially. When this happens, they crack and begin to break up, and this problem 
is not easily fixable. After a period, patchy, scarred and uneven surfaces result. This 
example is at the heart of the conservation area, in one of its most conspicuous 
locations. 

3.2.3. Boundaries 

The majority of the pavements are bounded to the rear by either the façades of the houses or 

their front gardens. A small number of interesting boundary treatments survive, mostly dating 

from the village’s heyday in the late-18th to early-20th centuries. 

 

Figure 38 Sandstone ashlar walling with a tooled surface used to construct the 
delicately curving wall on Egremont Road outside Hensingham House. 

Page 188



29 

 

Figure 39 Though outside the conservation area, this high garden wall bounding the 
former Cartgate estate is a lovely example that makes this path much more attractive. 
Imagining the above view with a metal security fence instead highlights the 
importance of the wall to the area’s setting. 

 

Figure 40 Also within the setting of the conservation area, this path from West View 
towards the recreation ground skirts the north side of the Cartgate estate and is 
strongly characterised by its walls, moss, mixed hedgerow, undergrowth and mature 
trees. 

Page 189



30 

 

Figure 41 Within the setting of the conservation area, this gateway that formerly led 
to the rear of Catgate House is a fine example, although the gate has been inelegantly 
blocked. The vegetation is very important to this part of the setting, but in this case 
has been allowed to grow too invasively. It is possibly causing damage to the wall, and 
needs monitoring more carefully. 

 

Figure 42 The old church yard still contains Georgian graves around the boundary, 
interspersed with greenery, that make for a powerful experience. These are vulnerable. 

Page 190



31 

 

Figure 43 This section of wall in squared red sandstone is probably 19th century in origin 
and has obviously been raised in height at some point. Located adjacent to the 
roundabout, it is easily missed, and its surroundings are sufficiently drab that one 
wouldn’t think to look, but it is nonetheless attractive and worth consideration. 

 

Figure 44 Most of the properties on Main Street have some manner of front garden. 
These are typically bounded by low walls with painted render and copings, and some 
also feature railings, likely reinstated and of post-war date. 

 

Page 191



32 

3.3. Natural Environment 

3.3.1. Open Spaces 

The conservation area has little in the way of open space, although is surrounded by several 

important open spaces, notably the old church yard, the new church yard, the allotments, 

Beck Bottom, the greenery around Snebra and Beck Bank, and the open space to the west of 

Hensingham House, Hall and Court. 

 

Figure 45 Within the conservation area, Hensingham Square and the roundabout are 
the principal open space, although mostly given over the traffic. This area could be 
improved with investment and management. 

 

Figure 46 Park at Beck Bottom, in the setting of the conservation area. This area is 
lovely, but not well integrated. Hensingham Square, the old church yard, Beck Bottom, 
and Ribton Moorside are all disconnected, with poor flow between them. 

Page 192



33 

 

Figure 47 The old church yard, within the setting of the conservation area. This features 
some valuable mature trees. 

 

Figure 48 Old tree with landscaping and private garden to the rear of the new church 

Page 193



34 

 

Figure 49 Open ground to the west of the new church yard. This is almost singularly 
responsible for allowing Hensingham to retain a connection with nature that preserves 
what’s left of its village character, although the buildings are inward-looking, arranged 
around the Square, and there is little connection with this side other than via Snebra.  

3.3.2. Water 

Water does not play an important role in the character of the conservation area. There are 

small becks outside it, but these are well hidden, and natural or designed water features are 

otherwise not present. 

3.3.3. Trees 

Within the conservation area there are virtually no trees, however, the setting is characterised 

in a number of areas by mature tree coverage that makes a positive impression. 

The only mature trees within the conservation area are in and around the garden of 

Hensingham House. This is an attractive garden, and is visible from over the equally attractive 

wall bounding the pavement to the immediate south of the building. 

These trees divide the garden of Hensingham House from the plot at the rear of Hensingham 

Court, a somewhat wild area that has never been developed, and retains elements of its 

former agricultural character. 

There are also some front gardens on Holly Terrace and Main Street containing bushes that 

soften the lines of the buildings, and a mature garden in front of Garden Villas, though this is 

outside the conservation area boundary.  

  

Page 194



35 

4. Key Characteristics 
 Two distinct areas: Hensingham Square, surrounded by a somewhat looser cluster of irregular 

buildings; and the Main Street area, which is higher and characterised by continuous rows of 

two-storey houses, almost all of which are listed. 

 Hensingham Hall and Court, and the spaces between and around them still carry a trace of 

the agricultural life the village had until well into the 20th century. Though now abandoned, 

this use still makes its presence felt by virtue of the fact this area has been poorly invested in 

for so long that it has escaped wholesale redevelopment. 

 The heart of the conservation area is Hensingham Square, now mostly occupied by a 

roundabout. Streets radiate off it, lined variously with terraces of two-storey houses that 

seem to undulate as the roads are not straight, giving a pleasing effect that is quite distinct 

from the straight, three-storey building lines of Whitehaven and appears almost like an 

interesting blend of Whitehaven and St Bees. 

 The arrangement of buildings is softened by the presence of front gardens, snickets and side 

streets tucked away at right angles to the main streets, and greener gardens mostly behind 

the building lines that make their presence felt occasionally through gaps and in glimpses. 

 Houses are characteristically two-storey terraces, with slate roofs, extensive chimneys, and 

multi-pane timber sash windows set within architraves that can be quite ornate, sometime 

with labels and enriched spandrels. 

5. Summary of Issues 
 Although a large number of the properties are well-maintained, in a good state of repair and 

sympathetically altered, this is not the case for all. Almost every building within the area is 

highly conspicuous, so where there are issues they are correspondingly obvious. 

 Public realm is largely poor, consisting of expanses of broken up tarmac and concrete. 

Attractive lawned and gardened areas lie just outside the conservation area, but the hard 

surfacing is poor. 

 Traffic volumes and parking needs have particularly caused problems. The road is an intrusive 

gulf between opposite sides of streets, and Hensingham Square, rather than being a gathering 

place and asset at the heart of the village, is blighted and hard to navigate on foot. 

 It is questionable whether the boundary of the conservation area is optimally drawn to include 

all that makes Hensingham of historic and architectural value. A number of key buildings and 

groups of buildings lie just outside it. 

  

Page 195



36 

6. Appendices 

6.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) 

 Strengths 

o High survival rate of late-18th and 19th century fabric and layout. 

o Good number of high quality buildings in a close formation. 

 Weaknesses 

o Some poor quality maintenance and alteration. 

o Excessive traffic, and dominance of the conservation area by the road. 

o Boundary omits a number of important elements of Hensingham. 

o Disconnection of certain areas in and around the boundary, partially caused by 

the subordination of everything to the road. 

o Failure to capitalise on certain strengths such as the old church yard, Beck Bottom, 

Hensingham Square and Court. 

 Opportunities 

o Improved public realm could give better rights of way to pedestrians and allow 

the area to feel more united. 

o Improvements to certain key buildings would complement a public realm scheme 

to lift the whole area. 

o Improvements to buildings where alteration and maintenance have been 

suboptimal. 

o Diversification of Hensingham’s economy has potential to reduce conservation 

deficit. 

 Threats 

o Development could remove what’s left of Hensingham’s self-containment, and 

connection with countryside or any external environment that is distinguishable 

from a general residential sprawl. 

o Continued slow decline and dilapidation. It is possible that without intervention, 

Hensingham will suffer loss of further non-residential uses and depression of 

values, which will lead to corresponding declines in the character and appearance 

of its historic fabric. 

  

Page 196



37 

6.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets 

 

List Entry No. Name Address Grade Designation Year Construction Year 

1086766 35, 36, 37 Holly Terrace, Main Street II 1972 Like late 18th (35 and 36) and early 

19th century (37). Date stone 

evidence suggests 1791 and 1815. 

1086767 88 Main Street II 1972 Late-18th or early-19th century 

1086768 96-99 Main Street II 1972 Early- or mid-19th century 

1207873 38-48 Main Street II 1972 Early-19th century 

1279513 89-95 Main Street II 1972 Early-19th century 

1335961 4-8 Garden Villas, Main Street II 1972 Late-18th century 

 

  

P
age 197



38 

6.3. Area Maps 

 

Figure 50 Hensingham conservation area boundary 

P
age 198



39 

 

Figure 51 Conservation area, showing listed buildings (purple). These are very far from being the only buildings with significance – Hensingham 
conservation area is unusual in that virtually every building within it could be an asset if its condition were optimal. 

P
age 199



40 

 

Figure 52 Conservation area, showing important areas of hard surfacing, green space, views and landmarks. In the case of Hensingham 
Square, it is essentially one space, together with the courtyard between Hensingham Hall Farm and Court, though traffic has divided it.  

Although not publically accessible, the gardens to the west of Hensingham House contribute to its significance and form an important part of 
the setting of a number of the conservation area’s key assets.

P
age 200



41 

7. Bibliography 
Bulmer, T. and Co. (1901) History, Topography, and Directory of Cumberland. T. Bulmer and Co. 

Penrith. [online] Accessed at 

http://specialcollections.le.ac.uk/digital/collection/p16445coll4/id/88004  

Cumbria County History Trust. Hensingham, Cumbria County History Trust. [online] Accessed at: 

https://www.cumbriacountyhistory.org.uk/township/hensingham  

Historic England. The Heritage List for England, Historic England. [online]  Accessed at 

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/  

Historic England (2019) Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management Second 

Edition, Historic England Advice Note 1. Historic England. Swindon [online] Accessed at: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-appraisal-

designation-management-advice-note-1/  

Hyde, M. and Pevsner, N. (2010) Cumbria: Cumberland, Westmorland and Furness (The Buildings 

of England). Yale University Press, New Haven and London 

GB Historical GIS/University of Portsmouth: History of Hensingham, in Copeland and 

Cumberland | Map and description, A Vision of Britain through Time. Accessed online at: 

http://www.visionofbritain.org.uk/place/3769  

Ordnance Survey (1864) Cumberland LXVII.6 Surveyed 1862-63. [Online] Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145525 Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1899) Cumberland LXVII.6 Revised 1898. [Online] Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145528 Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1925) Cumberland LXVII.7 Revised 1923. [Online] Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145540 Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Oxford City Council (2021) Character Assessment Toolkit. [Online] Available at: 

www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit 

 

Page 201

http://specialcollections.le.ac.uk/digital/collection/p16445coll4/id/88004
https://www.cumbriacountyhistory.org.uk/township/hensingham
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-appraisal-designation-management-advice-note-1/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-appraisal-designation-management-advice-note-1/
http://www.visionofbritain.org.uk/place/3769
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145525
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145528
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145540
http://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit


 

Appraisal prepared by: 

Dr Sammy Woodford 

Conservation and Design Officer 

Copeland Borough Council 

 

Contact: 

Copeland Borough Council 

01946 598 300 

info@copeland.gov.uk 

 

Visit our front desk, or write to Development Management using the post box at: 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

 

Page 202

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Millom Conservation Area Appraisal 
2021 

  

Page 203

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/


Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Background ............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? ................................................................................................. 2 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? ................................................................................. 3 

2. Location, History and Development ............................................................................................... 4 

2.1. Overview of Millom Conservation Area .................................................................................. 4 

2.2. Historic Development ............................................................................................................. 5 

2.2.1. Origins (Pre “Millom”) ..................................................................................................... 5 

2.2.2. Development History (Post-railway) ............................................................................... 7 

2.2.3. Map Progression ............................................................................................................. 8 

3. Character ....................................................................................................................................... 10 

3.1. Built Environment ................................................................................................................. 10 

3.1.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form ............................................................................ 10 

3.1.2. Materials ....................................................................................................................... 10 

3.1.3. Uses ............................................................................................................................... 11 

3.2. Public Realm .......................................................................................................................... 12 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses ................................................................................................. 12 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths ............................................................................................................ 13 

3.2.3. Boundaries .................................................................................................................... 14 

3.3. Natural Environment............................................................................................................. 15 

3.3.1. Open Spaces .................................................................................................................. 15 

3.3.2. Water ............................................................................................................................ 15 

3.3.3. Trees .............................................................................................................................. 15 

4. Character Areas ............................................................................................................................. 16 

4.1.1. Holborn Hill ................................................................................................................... 16 

4.1.2. Cambridge Street .......................................................................................................... 18 

4.1.3. Station Road and the war memorial green ................................................................... 20 

4.1.4. St George’s Road and Lancashire Road ......................................................................... 23 

4.1.5. St George’s Church Precinct .......................................................................................... 26 

4.1.6. Market Square .............................................................................................................. 30 

4.1.7. Lapstone Road and Wellington Street .......................................................................... 34 

5. Key Characteristics ........................................................................................................................ 40 

Page 204



6. Summary of Issues ........................................................................................................................ 42 

7. Appendices .................................................................................................................................... 43 

7.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) ....................................... 43 

7.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets ............................................................................. 46 

7.3. Area Maps ............................................................................................................................. 47 

8. Bibliography .................................................................................................................................. 51 

 

 

  

Page 205



Index of Selected Places 

A5093 
Holy Trinity Church ............................................................................................................................. 6 
Millom Castle ...................................................................................................................................... 6 

Cambridge Street 
01 (Cambridge House Hotel) ............................................................................................................. 19 
Masonic Hall ...................................................................................................................................... 20 

Crown Street 
Baptist Church ................................................................................................................................... 40 

Duke Street 
08 and 10 .......................................................................................................................................... 20 
Filling station and garage .................................................................................................................. 22 

Hodbarrow ............................................................................................................................................ 15 

Holborn Hill 
Coniston Court .................................................................................................................................. 22 
Old Ship Cottages, 01-04 (formerly Ship Inn) ..................................................................................... 6 

Lancashire Road 
Tesco ................................................................................................................................................. 24 
West County Court ...................................................................................................................... 25, 31 

Lapstone Road 
Conservative Club ............................................................................................................................. 37 

Market Square 
01-02 ................................................................................................................................................. 30 
Clock Tower ....................................................................................................................................... 31 

Nelson Street 
Salvation Army Fortress .................................................................................................................... 39 

St George's Road 
09 (Post Office building) .................................................................................................................... 33 
Bridge ................................................................................................................................................ 23 
former Barclays ................................................................................................................................. 34 
former NatWest .......................................................................................................................... 29, 32 
Millom Palladium .............................................................................................................................. 22 
New Vicarage .............................................................................................................................. 28, 29 
Old Vicarage ...................................................................................................................................... 28 
Public Library ..................................................................................................................................... 33 
St George's Church .................................................................................................................. 4, 12, 27 
St Precinct gate ................................................................................................................................. 27 

St George's Terrace 
14 (Norman Nicholson's house) ........................................................................................................ 34 

Station Road 
04 ...................................................................................................................................................... 21 
Old Constabulary ............................................................................................................................... 20 
Station ............................................................................................................................................... 20 

Page 206



Station Footbridge ............................................................................................................................ 24 
Station Hotel ..................................................................................................................................... 21 
WWI Memorial .................................................................................................................................. 20 

Wellington Street 
44 ...................................................................................................................................................... 36 
Co-Operative Hall .................................................................................................................. 35, 37, 38 

 

  

Page 207



Glossary 

Buttress  Structural masonry element that resists lateral movement in a wall 

Cock-and-Hen coping An arrangement of coping stones on a wall top consisting of alternating 

horizontal and vertical stones 

Fenestration  The arrangement of windows 

Mullion A vertical post, normally stone or timber, dividing up the area of a window 

into smaller panes 

Ogival Having the shape of an ogive – a pointed or Gothic arch 

Pilaster A vertical strip of projecting masonry or timber, resembling a column, used 

as decoration 

Portico   A porch in the form of a projecting roof with columns 

Transom A horizontal beam, normally stone or timber, dividing up the area of a 

window into smaller panes, usually positioned nearer the top than the 

bottom so the panes above it are lower and those below taller 

Yorkstone A yellowish-grey sandstone from Yorkshire 

 

 

Page 208



 

1 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Background 

Copeland Borough Council (the Council) currently administers eight conservation areas 

(Whitehaven, Corkickle, Hensingham, Egremont, Cleator Moor, Beckermet, St Bees, and Millom). 

A further conservation area, Ravenglass, is located within Copeland but administered by the 

Lake District National Park Authority. 

These range in size and character, with Whitehaven, the country’s first post-medieval planned 

town and one of its most complete, being the largest in area (approximately 80 hectares) and 

the first designated (1969). Hensingham is the smallest at approximately two hectares. 

Millom was the most recently designated, in 2003. More recently a brief overview was provided 

in the Borough’s Conservation Area Design Guide (2017), but this appraisal has the capacity for a 

more in-depth assessment. 

 

Figure 1 Millom within Copeland 

 

  

Page 209



 

2 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? 

Local Planning Authorities have a responsibility under law to: 

…from time to time determine which parts of their area are areas of special 

architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is 

desirable to preserve or enhance… [Underlines added] 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 69(1) 

These areas are designated as conservation areas, and the authority also has a duty to from time 

to time review the areas designated (Section 69(2)). This means the Council has made a 

commitment to take account of the effect on character and appearance of any development 

proposed within the area, and this applies to its entirety, not merely its buildings. 

The special interest of a conservation area is engendered by all its positive qualities, and a job of 

the planning process is to ensure that change in a conservation area avoids harm to its positive 

aspects while allowing its negative aspects to be addressed. In order to do this, its character in 

positive, neutral and negative terms must be understood, stated and agreed upon. This is the job 

of the character appraisal (a requirement of Section 71(1) of the Act). 

The appraisal is created through a process of public engagement with local people, whereby 

attendees at a meeting have the opportunity to present their views (1990 Act Section 71(3-4)). 

Once finalised, conservation area designation brings the following work under planning control: 

 Demolition of buildings 

 Works to or removal of trees 

 Development that may be permitted elsewhere, e.g. some house extensions 

Generally, home owners benefit from conservation area designation as the controls sustain 

and/or enhance property values, a finding that has been confirmed by research from the London 

School of Economics (Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland, 2012). 

Planning applications made in conservation areas are typically made in full rather than in outline 

as this allows their implications to be fully understood. This process is not only governed by the 

1990 Act mentioned above, but also from guidance such as the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) and local policy such as found in the Copeland Local Plan.  

Additionally, conservation area appraisals are useful in discharging Section 72(1) of the 1990 Act, 

in which “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance” of the area. The appraisal does an important job in describing that 

character and appearance comprehensively. 

  

Page 210



 

3 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? 

A conservation area appraisal is a tool that explores and defines what is special about the area’s 

architecture and history, and therefore worth preserving or enhancing: 

A good appraisal will consider what features make a positive or negative 

contribution to the significance of the conservation area, thereby identifying 

opportunities for beneficial change or the need for planning protection. 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 025 Reference ID: 18a-025-20190723 

Appraisal takes a broad approach, looking at the development and evolution of an area, the 

relationships within and outside it, how it is used and has been used in the past, and if it has any 

associations with notable people, movements, innovations or practices.  

A place’s street pattern may be of importance, along with the style, appearance, construction 

and arrangement of its buildings. Key views, connections, boundaries, nodes where people 

meet, junctions, routes and zones are important: in other words, what makes the place what it 

is, what makes it valuable, and what makes it distinct from other places. 

With this process there is the opportunity to reappraise what is already known about the area, 

and whether there should be any revisions to its boundary. Places are in constant flux, both in 

terms of their physical makeup and in what we understand of them. 

The appraisal will be used during the development control process to gauge the impact of 

potential developments. It can also be used by those making planning applications as a resource 

to assist in self-assessment, and may be of interest to people living in or studying the area, either 

generally or in the course of commenting on a planning application.  

The relationship between a conservation area and its occupants is particularly important 

because the maintenance of property within the area is one of the key ways by which its 

character can be preserved and enhanced, and harm avoided. 

This appraisal has been prepared following detailed assessment of Millom using Historic 

England’s 2016 advice document on conservation area character appraisals. It contains 

appendices mapping building quality and landscape analysis, which should be viewed in 

conjunction with the descriptive sections. While it attempts to reach a sufficiently high level of 

detail, it is not possible to describe all that is significant and interesting, so where aspects have 

been omitted or overlooked this should not be taken to mean that they lack architectural or 

historical importance. 

  

Page 211



 

4 

2. Location, History and Development 

2.1. Overview of Millom Conservation Area 

Millom is a small former Victorian industrial town of approximately eight thousand people, 

located near the Duddon Estuary. It experienced a period of rapid growth following 

development of large-scale iron-ore mining and iron working activities in the area. It is situated 

approximately six miles (10km) north-north-west of Barrow-in-Furness and twenty-six miles 

(40km) south-south-east of Whitehaven as the crow flies. It is two miles (3.5km) south-east of 

the Lake District National Park border. Routes by road to Barrow-in-Furness are considerably 

longer, however at over twenty miles.  

The centre is characterised by predominantly two-storey terraces in a mixture of red brick, 

roughcast render, pebble-dash, and watershot slate with red sandstone dressings. Roofs are a 

mixture of slate and tile. The conservation area is surrounded by areas of two-storey detached 

and semi-detached post-war housing on its west and south sides, and the regimented late 

Victorian streets of the New Town on its east. The town’s roofscape is relieved from certain 

angles by the spire of St George’s Church, but is otherwise quite uniformly low.  

The landscape in which Millom sits consists of a belt of gently undulating agricultural land 

between the shore of the estuary, where industry was formerly concentrated and has now 

partially been taken over by tourism and business park activities, and rising, more jagged land 

towards Black Combe and the Lake District to the north and north-west. 

Millom’s conservation area is at the town’s centre and takes the form of several core zones in 

close proximity with streets and avenues radiating off them. This is indicative of the nature of 

Millom as a place that grew from its connection to the railway line: the station sits at the heart 

of the conservation area; the railway bisects it.  

The conservation area expresses a certain symmetry about the north-east to south-west line of 

the railway, with the bridge over it and two zones of relatively low-density open ground to either 

side forming a heart that is composed of distinct halves, with the Station Road area on the north 

side, its war memorial and the approach to the station, having a different feel from the 

Lancashire Road side to the south, which is characterised by a Tesco supermarket and its car 

park occupying the site of former railway buildings. 

Progressing into the “south” half, the Market Square, a late 19th and early 20th century collection 

of civic buildings asserts itself as a consciously styled and scaled node, an attempt to create a 

centre for the town. At the juncture between this area and the south end of the bridge is a 

gateway formed by the projecting end of the former West County Hotel (now flats) and the 

entrance to St George’s Church precinct. 

The entrance and view into the precinct, combined with the entrance and view of Market 

Square, and the view back along St George’s Road over the railway bridge, make this junction a 

characterful and important component of Millom’s conservation area in expressing three key 

components of its formation: religion (and “enlightenment” more generally; in this sense the 

church has as much to do with the library as it does the town hall), civic integrity and industrial 

progress.  

Page 212



 

5 

The south side of the conservation area also takes in an area of the residential terraces along 

Lapstone Road and Wellington Street, which characterise much of Millom new town. 

To the north side of the railway line, the conservation area takes in Station Road extending up to 

the Station Hotel and down to include an area of space at the war memorial green. The principal 

node on the northern side is located at the First World War memorial, which connects to the 

north by a short row of terraced housing on one side of Cambridge Street to Holborn Hill, the 

historical origin of Millom, from which expansion has generally progressed in a southern and 

eastern direction. 

Much of the fabric of Millom’s town centre dates from a relatively narrow window of time 

between the 1860s and 1900s. Since then, the main changes to Millom’s built area, aside from 

the loss of the iron-related industrial sites in the 1960s-70s, have been the creation of areas of 

housing on the edges of the Victorian settlement. 

 

Figure 2 The conservation area within Millom 

 

2.2. Historic Development 

2.2.1. Origins (Pre “Millom”) 

Millom’s founding occurred in 1866, and prior to this the settlement was called Holborn Hill, 

a name that now refers to a street only. Holborn Hill was issued a market charter in 1251 by 

Henry II, so the first origins of the village clearly predate this somewhat. 

Page 213



 

6 

Access to Holborn Hill was by packhorse across the Duddon Estuary. Packhorse routes 

stopped at the Punch Bowl Inn at the Green, and also at the Ship Inn on Holborn Hill, which 

was the village’s oldest coaching inn and is currently a private dwelling situated outside the 

conservation area. 

Prior to the initial formation of Millom, Holborn Hill had a population of around 160 people. 

The village was in a linear form of two rows of farmsteads arrayed either side of the street, 

which runs in an east-west orientation. This street is still identifiable in the urban layout. 

Despite proximity to the sea, in the early 1860s few of the locals drew their main 

employment from fishing-related activities. At that time, though relatively small in scale, 

mining was the second largest occupation after agriculture, and small scale mining and 

smelting activities had been carrying on for a long period of time. Mining of pyrite was 

carried out mostly around The Hill in Millom Above township, although iron ore was found 

here in 1848, preceding the great expansion mining was to experience in the Millom Below 

township. 

The area was initially within the control of the Lords of Millom, seated at Millom Castle to 

the north of the present town. This passed from the de Boyville family to the de Huddleston 

family in the 13th century, who held it for more than five hundred years before it was sold to 

Sir James Lowther in 1748. Millom Castle, ruined portions of which remain and are 

scheduled and listed grade I, incorporate a 16th or 17th century farmhouse. This is also listed 

by Historic England on the national Heritage at Risk Register. Adjacent to it is the grade I 

listed Holy Trinity Church, which has 12th century origins. 

Visiting the castle in 1815, author and playwright Richard Ayton wrote, “It is surrounded by 

an extensive park… once covered with a grove of huge oaks, and well stocked with deer, but 

now a naked waste. The whole domain was stripped of its woods by one of the Huddlestons, 

for the sake of opening some mines of iron-ore, and building a large vessel, both of which 

projects proved abortive…” 

It is fascinating to imagine the landowner embarking on such a destructive and fruitless 

campaign in pursuit of iron-ore at least a century prior to the arising of Millom as a mining 

town proper. 

  

Page 214



 

7 

2.2.2. Development History (Post-railway) 

The Whitehaven and Furness Junction Railway arrived at Holborn Hill in 1851 and 

contributed to the development of Hodbarrow iron ore mine, which was established in 1855 

and connected to the railway in 1864. It became the Furness Railway in 1866.  

The mine was joined by an iron works in 1865 at Borwick Rails, and this began a period of 

rapid growth, with many people arriving for work, notably from Cornwall. Hodbarrow 

become Cumberland’s most productive haematite mine, accounting for 60% of the county’s 

output by 1901, but difficulties with inundation and subsidence of the works were 

persistent. 

Owing to what swiftly became a housing crisis, the New Town was developed in the region 

between Holborn Hill, the mine and the iron works, on poorly drained land that formed the 

Rottingdon Estate owned by the Lowther family. The New Town was laid out by Wadham 

and Turner, engineers of Barrow, and named Millom for its connection with the new Millom 

iron works. Reflecting this, its main streets are arranged parallel in east-west lines pointing 

towards the works. 

During the 1870s, the arrangement of Millom shifted following the creation of the bridge on 

St George’s Road, replacing an earlier crossing further north, and the Paley and Austin St 

George’s church, which was completed in 1877 on land donated by Lord Lonsdale. A new 

town square was constructed, shifting the town’s centre from Lonsdale Road, Market Street 

and the former market site, now occupied by St James’ Primary School. The railway station, 

by the same architects, dates also from the mid-1870s. 

The town hall with its clocktower was constructed in the square in 1879, although the tower 

was later reduced in height in the 1950s for structural reasons. The square was also the 

location of a market, although is no longer held. 

Page 215



 

8 

2.2.3. Map Progression 

 

Figure 3 Cumberland Series 1861 (six inch to mile), showing the first railway line and Holborn 
Hill as a series of buildings arranged linearly along the pack horse route that comes up from 
the Duddon 

 

Figure 4 Cumberland Series 1897 (Twenty-five inch to mile), showing iron works to east of 
town. The extent of development that had taken place in the preceeding 30-40 years is 
evident. 

Page 216



 

9 

 

Figure 5 Cumberland Series, 1921 (Twenty-five inch to mile), showing iron works to east and 
iron-ore mine to south. Relatively little development has occurred since the start of the 20th 
century compared with in previous decades. 

 

Figure 6 Contemporary map of Millom. Industrial functions have been removed almost 
wholesale, and residential developments have extended the western half of town.  

Page 217



 

10 

3. Character 

3.1. Built Environment 

3.1.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form 

Millom contains a range of buildings that form a highly complete, albeit largely neglected, 

expression of mid- to late-Victorian town planning. The townscape has been relatively 

undisturbed by site clearance or the introduction of unfamiliar interventions, and dates for 

the most part to a relatively narrow timeframe between the 1860s and 1900s. 

Plots for building were sold off to developers in parcels, resulting in the development of 

groups of buildings that are similar to one another but differ from those nearby in 

construction and detailing. 

For the most part, it is of good although not exceptional architectural quality, though the 

New Town area contains a density of two-storey terraced housing interspersed with more 

ornate civic and religious buildings that has the potential to be very impressive. Cambridge 

Street is also a notable terrace in a completely different style from the buildings on the 

south side of the railway. Like every part of the conservation area, New Town suffers from 

chronic under-maintenance and widespread unsympathetic alteration.  

The station of 1872 is an attractive example by well-known Lancaster firm Paley and Austin, 

although it is modest in appearance, being low and set slightly below the height of Station 

Road. The bridge on St George’s Road over the railway is similarly modest in appearance, 

although forms a pleasing composition with the station. The cluster of buildings around 

Market Square has some stature, although suffers in places from unsympathetic alterations 

and dilapidation. 

3.1.2. Materials 

Millom is built from, indeed characterised by, a varied palette of slate, red sandstone, red 

brick, render and some granite and limestone in varying combinations. Walls around 

Holborn Hill bear evidence of a vibrant mix of materials that is engaging and characterful, 

with slate and alternating mixtures of slate and granite cobbles on show.  

New Town contains some handsome civic buildings with walls of watershot slate (whereby 

the material is tilted slightly downwards to throw off rain water) in either slabs or blocks, 

with dressings of red sandstone around windows and doors. Certain of the houses here too 

are watershot slate, with others having rubble walls under a rendered finish.  

Page 218



 

11 

 

Figure 7 Section through a watershot wall in a cleared plot in Kewick, showing downward tilt 
of masonry 

The area around the war memorial green and up Cambridge Street is notable for having 

buildings of red brick. Those on Holborn Hill are mostly rendered and are likely to be in a 

range of materials underneath. Where the buildings of Millom were originally rendered, this 

was likely to have been a roughcast, probably thrown onto the wall, or a smoother ashlar 

type where used on higher status buildings. Many of Millom’s buildings today feature a 

pebble-dashed finish. 

Roofs are traditionally slate, but many have been replaced with tile. Windows and doors 

have almost all been replaced with plastic units in place of the timber they would originally 

have had.  

3.1.3. Uses 

Millom conservation area contains large areas of terraced housing in its New Town, which is 

complemented by civic and religious buildings typical of Victorian town planning, some of 

which are now vacant. The station occupies the central part of the conservation area and 

also contains museum and café uses, although the profusion of railway lines that formerly 

comprised the goods yard on the south side has been lost and is now a mixture of car 

parking and commercial uses. The part of the conservation area on the north side of the 

railway consists of mostly residential uses around and radiating from the war memorial 

green, with some commercial properties.  

  

Page 219



 

12 

3.2. Public Realm 

This section introduces some general principles to Millom’s conservation area. For more specific 

descriptions of these details and others, see Section 4 below on Character Areas. 

3.2.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses 

The views of Millom itself from outside are dominated by the spire of St George’s Church, 

which rises over an undulating townscape of low, gabled buildings. Within the conservation 

area, the spire again asserts itself, with the view along Cambridge Street across the war 

memorial green being particularly evocative. This view continues to draw the visitor towards 

the bridge and the south side of town where the entrance to the precinct and Market 

Square are encountered. 

 

Figure 8 View of Millom from A5093 to the west, showing low, gently undulating townscape 
with St George’s Church spire, surrounded by open farmland. 

Views of Black Combe are also of note, with that at the western end of Holborn Hill, outside 

the conservation area, being impressive although not framed or capitalised upon. The fell 

forms an important part of the town’s setting. From the bridge and the hilltop around St 

George’s Church, views of Black Combe and the mountains of the southern Lake District are 

again impressive. 

Excluding Holborn Hill, Millom does not have a winding, ancient or multi-phase character, 

which somewhat limits its capacity to offer intrigue and glimpses; it wears clearly its 

character as a planned town laid out and built within a few decades, although this is to its 

strength in the sense of consistency. However, the vista across the war memorial green, with 

the attractive buildings surrounding it and park on the west side, provides a pleasing change 

of quality that engenders a sense of arrival in the town centre and balance to the 

conservation area on either side of the railway. 

The buildings around Market Square form an attractive composition and have been designed 

to be seen, to be an expression of the civic ideals and status the town’s founders intended 

Page 220



 

13 

for Millom, an aspiration also evident from a number of New Town’s street names that have 

royal and imperial connotations (e.g. “Queen”, “Albert”, “Wellington”, “Nelson” etc.). 

3.2.2. Roads and Paths 

The roads and pavements of Millom are a key way in which its conservation area has been 

harmed. The roads in New Town form a mostly parallel grid with occasional diagonals 

created by the need to align with the railway, although the natural stone flags and kerbs 

have almost all been lost, replaced with tarmac and concrete that are to the area’s 

detriment.  

 

Figure 9 Loss of historic surfaces; Millom's conservation area is characterised by tarmac and 
concrete 

 

Figure 10 A rare section of surviving original surfacing on Egremont Street (outside the 
conservation area). It appears to be sandstone flags and kerbs, although the latter have 
degraded from modern traffic. 

Page 221



 

14 

3.2.3. Boundaries 

Characterful boundary and edge treatments are predominantly to be found in Holborn Hill, 

where walls of multiple different materials are evident. There is also a tendency here to 

create walls with irregular alternating bands of slate slab and granite cobbles, which are very 

attractive. 

Many boundaries in New Town are made by the buildings themselves, which form 

continuous rows up to the rear of the pavement. There has been a loss of railings in Market 

Square and harm to the gateway into St George’s precinct. 

The precinct itself notably features high quality walls in sandstone around the lower half and 

slate around the upper graveyards. 

 

Figure 11 Graveyard wall made from both slate slabs and blocks, with sandstone copings 

  

Page 222



 

15 

3.3. Natural Environment 

3.3.1. Open Spaces 

The land around Millom is relatively free of building and tree cover, however Millom’s 

historic relationship with it was fundamentally practical rather than aesthetic; it was close to 

the industries that founded it. The fairly flat, marshy area to the east and south was used for 

industrial purposes, which necessitated efforts to hold back the sea. To the north, the land 

rises and becomes hilly, creating attractive backdrops to some views and also making 

transport to the town from elsewhere circuitous and difficult. 

3.3.2. Water 

The route across the Duddon Estuary was the initial cause for the formation and ribbon form 

of Holborn Hill, and proximity to water was both a blessing and curse to the town’s industrial 

aspirations, as, although useful in industrial processes, the presence of the sea was a 

constant frustration to the extraction of iron ore, necessitating the creation of three 

successive sea barriers to prevent the works being flooded. The third of these survives, 

although the area behind it has now been inundated, creating the RSPB Hodbarrow nature 

reserve. This is not easily appreciable or visible from within the conservation area, but is 

inextricably linked to the formation and location of the town.  

3.3.3. Trees 

There are few trees in Millom conservation area. One notable area is adjacent to the station, 

where there is an undeveloped site that formerly led to the crossing through the tracks into 

New Town, prior to the creation of St George’s Road bridge. Another is to the west of the 

war memorial green, where there is a perimeter of trees around a park. Additionally, trees 

and mature shrubs are to be found in the vicinity of St George’s bridge, with a row on the 

embankment adjoining Tesco’s car park being of note, providing screening and heightening 

the sense of arrival in the south-east half of the conservation area. 

The precinct of St George’s church contains an attractive avenue of trees leading up it and 

there are more trees to the south of the former banks on Market Square, but New Town is 

not characterised by vegetation. 

  

Page 223



 

16 

4. Character Areas 
Millom’s conservation area contains sub-areas adjacent to one another that have distinct characters. 

Millom was largely created in zones from greenfield sites, and has not been redeveloped since to 

any great extent, so these areas are still easily distinguishable. This appraisal presents them in turn 

to allow a more detailed description of their character and appearance. These subsections should be 

viewed as descriptive elements for the conservation area as a whole; they are not separate 

conservation areas. 

 

Figure 12 Character areas for Millom, forming a progression from Holborn Hill (1), through 
Cambridge Street (2), the green and station (3), over the bridge and railway to Tesco's (4), St 
George's Church precinct (5), Market Square (6) and Lapstone Road (7) 

4.1.1. Holborn Hill 

Holborn Hill is the oldest part of Millom and the only part of the modern town that predates 

the arrival of the railway in 1851. It is a narrow, linear ribbon and effectively now no more 

than a street within the town. The conservation area encloses the south side of the eastern 

end of the street between Moor Road and Cambridge Street. The character of a hill is still 

quite discernible, with the street also distinct in the sense that it winds slightly as it follows 

the route taken by the pack horses across the Duddon prior to the arrival of rail. 

Page 224



 

17 

 

Figure 13 View down Holborn Hill showing gradient and winding quality  

Within the character area, its buildings are low, two-story and mostly aligned with the 

street. Their gables are of various heights, and they are predominantly in mediocre or poor 

condition. There is a notable gap site on the location of a demolished garage, which 

dominates the surroundings with timber hoardings, rubble, metal fencing and overgrowth. 

 

Figure 14 Gap site on Holborn Hill 

Near here are several sections of historic walling that have a lively character, composed of a 

mixture of slate and granite slabs, cobbles and rubble. Elsewhere, walling is visible that also 

includes lumps of granite, engineering brick, red brick or sandstone. Sections of these are 

clearly much patched and altered, with many straight joints and changes in pointing visible. 

Page 225



 

18 

At the base of the wall of Number 29 is a stone that appears to have been used for mounting 

and dismounting a horse. 

 

Figure 15 Historic cobble and slate slab walling 

Fenestration is curiously lacking in certain parts of the eastern end, with buildings that lack 

upper windows, and one volume that projects forward to the street lacking windows 

entirely. Historic windows, doors and rainwater goods have been largely or entirely lost. 

Many buildings have had their origins hidden beneath successive layers of unsympathetic 

alteration, and the effect of the whole is disjointed. Maintenance of rainwater goods 

appears problematic. 

There is a narrow easterly view from the top towards hills, which widens as one descends 

Holborn Hill. At the junction with Moor Road, traffic noise is intermittent but intrusive owing 

to the gradient and tightness of the corner. 

4.1.2. Cambridge Street 

On a walk from Holborn Hill into the centre of the conservation area, Cambridge Street 

would be the first part of the planned town one encounters. Its character is notably different 

from that of Holborn Hill. It is a short, straight street of ornate terraced houses; those on the 

west are included in the designation and those on the east excluded. 

The area consists of a terrace of gabled two-storey houses with small front yards in a striking 

symmetrical arrangement, with the ends terminated by a pair of matching three-storey 

buildings. The architecture is of high quality, although marred by loss of detailing and unity. 

Page 226



 

19 

 

Figure 16 Cambridge House Hotel, now bed and breakfast, on Cambridge Street. Historic 
images show the side elevation was not originally rendered. 

The buildings are red brick, with segmentally arched windows, moulded string courses and 

eaves courses and plain pilasters, all in brick. Front doors are recessed. All historic front 

railings, windows and doors have been lost. Two houses retain red/black quarry tiled paths, 

the rest having been lost. Roofs are in slate with red, ornamented ridge tiles and ornate 

chimneys, most of which remain, although several have had their detailing covered by 

render. One roof has been replaced with tiles with plastic verge caps. One frontage has been 

coated in pebbledash, seriously harming the unity of the row. The frontages are cluttered by 

satellite dishes. 

Page 227



 

20 

 

Figure 17 Cambridge Street, showing symmetricality and ornamentation of facades, and loss 
of historic detailing 

The surfacing has lost its historic character, with tarmac pavements and concrete kerbs. 

Parked cars clutter the road and there was a noticeable smell of exhaust fumes at the time 

of survey. There is an attractive view offered to the south across the green towards the spire 

of St George’s church. The north end of the street, outside the conservation area, is 

terminated by an uninspiring block of flats. 

4.1.3. Station Road and the war memorial green  

This area takes the green space surrounding the grade II listed war memorial as its heart. 

The memorial commemorates those who lost their lives during the First World War, and was 

designed by Ulverston architect John Brundrit and sculptor Alec Miller, and unveiled in 1925. 

It is surrounded by a quartet of cast iron lampposts. 

Around the memorial and lawns is a collection of buildings that form an attractive group (the 

Masonic Hall, 8 and 10 Duke Street, and the Old Constabulary), orientated to address the 

centre. The station, by Paley and Austin in pink granite and red sandstone, is attractive 

although low and modest in appearance, and sits alongside Station Road partly screened by 

vegetation. It dates originally to 1872, and was extended in 1875-6.  

Page 228



 

21 

 

Figure 18 View across war memorial green towards buildings on opposite side (L-R: Masonic 
Hall, 8 & 10 Duke Street, The Old Constabulary) 

Towards the north end of this area, the Station Hotel demarcates a corner in the road with a 

larger scale than most of the surrounding buildings. This has seen some improvements in 

recent years, although the plastic windows prevent the impression being conveyed to its full 

effect. It is nonetheless a positive building that successfully provides a corner. Together with 

number 4 Station Road opposite, The Station Hotel forms an attractive gateway into and out 

of the conservation area. 

 

Figure 19 Number 4 Station Road (left) and the Station Hotel (right). The trees to the right 
mark where there used to be a pedestrian route across the railway lines, which existed prior 
to the creation of the bridge in 1874. 

Page 229



 

22 

Adjacent to The Station Hotel is an area of rough tarmac that is uninviting, and an 

undeveloped area of trees that, although they provide a pleasant softness when viewed 

from the green or from Station Road, appear somewhat wild when viewed from closer. The 

buildings of Coniston Court and Fell House to the rear of the Old Constabulary are outside 

the conservation area but cast a negative impression over this part of it; they make an 

uninviting edge to the corner of Station Road where it meets Holborn Hill, which contrasts 

with the positive impression of the green and its buildings. 

 

Figure 20 Coniston Court to the rear of the Old Constabulary, which lie adjacent to the 
conservation area. The strangeness of this gable end and its buttresses belies the fact there 
used to be two more houses here, which have been demolished. 

Towards the western end of this area, a filling station and garage harm the local appearance 

where it borders St George’s Road, although the filling station is not unattractive for what it 

is. On the other side of the road, which rises to meet the bridge, there is a park at a lower 

level, which is attractive enough although unremarkable and partially separated from the 

rest of the area by the elevation change.   

On the north side of the park is Millom Palladium, built in 1912. Though having some merit, 

in its current state externally it fails to capitalise on its full potential. An application was 

made in 2009 to add this building to the national list of designated heritage assets, but was 

not successful. 

This area is separated from the road by an set of metal railings that somewhat mar the 

approach to the bridge, although there are a pair of original iron gateposts at the path to the 

Palladium, though now missing their gate. From the bridge itself, there are good views 

towards the mountains and St George’s Church. 

Page 230



 

23 

 

Figure 21 Millom Palladium, an early 20th century building that forms an unusual and 
vaguely intimidating feature to this area with its blocked openings and metal fire escape, 
though the building is not without potential. Being positioned close to trees, and with pale 
coloured walls, it appears to have accumulated some dirt and algae that could bring 
noticeable improvements if cleaned off. 

4.1.4. St George’s Road and Lancashire Road 

The area introduces visitors to the southern half of the conservation area as they cross the 

rail bridge. It is enclosed by two roads and contains a former goods depot associated with 

the railway, which lies parallel with it opposite the station. The remaining building has been 

converted into a branch of Tesco; it is surrounded by car parks and has a generally 

characterless and inactive quality that introduces a dead space at the centre of the 

conservation area. The shop itself, though the historic building remains and has been 

converted to an externally acceptable standard, has been extended with a large and 

unattractive flat-roofed extension that is readily visible from St George’s Road bridge and 

the entrance onto Lancashire Road.  

The bridge dates from 1874 and replaced an earlier crossing between Station Road and what 

became Lapstone Road. It was subsequently widened to allow for extra traffic and a 

footbridge between the platforms was added in 1902. Various alterations and additions 

were made to the station throughout the twentieth century.  

Page 231



 

24 

 

Figure 22 The 1902 iron footbridge, an attractive example of metalwork from Millom’s 
heyday that has survived in its fullness, despite it being hit by a train shortly after opening 

The front portion of the Tesco building is a former goods shed in squared red sandstone 

rubble brought to courses with matching quoins and window surrounds. It would likely once 

have had a slated roof, but this has been replaced with tile. There are attractive stone walls 

to the front with distinctive cock-and-hen coping, possibly of reclaimed material. 

 

Figure 23 The Tesco building and its fore-area walls 

The corner of Lancashire Road and St George’s Road is one of the less successful locations in 

the conservation area. The wall from the corner at Lancashire Road is a detractor composed 

of grey brick and render, although fortunately small. At the time of survey, it was untidy and 

served only to separate two expanses of tarmac (the road and the car park).  

Page 232



 

25 

Behind the wall is a WC block that, despite being useful, makes a negative contribution and 

also somewhat obscures the only remaining historic building on the site, the former goods 

shed. The combined effect of the car parking, section of wall, enclosure by the roads and 

railway, and extension to Tesco, is to create an isolated rectangle of space that divides the 

conservation area. More could be made of it, although the fixed topography of the railway 

and the road bridge are unlikely to ever allow this to be a transitional space. 

 

Figure 24 WC block adjacent to Lancashire Road 

The opposite side of the street is dominated by the façade of the former West County Hotel, 

now flats (named West County Court), which has a certain presence but is let down by 

scarred pebbledash, scattered fenestration, electrical boxes, clusters of air vents and a 

particularly incongruous industrial kitchen flue.  

The effect this gives the transition to the south-eastern half of the conservation area across 

St George’s Bridge one of approaching a building that has its back turned. The façade onto 

the Square is better, but the approach across the bridge is not helped. Fortunately, this 

effect is ameliorated by the glimpses of St George’s Church precinct and the more attractive 

frontages of Market Square behind. 

Page 233



 

26 

 

Figure 25 West County Court viewed from Lancashire Road 

4.1.5. St George’s Church Precinct 

The precinct has a distinct character from the rest of Millom, containing three of its four 

listed buildings (the church, old vicarage and Boer War memorial). The ground rises and is 

populated with mature trees that create a curving avenue from the attractive gate piers to 

the church, inducing a sense of climbing from the dense, relatively regimented urban grain 

to a looser area that is more characterised by light, fresh air and sense of occasion that were 

characteristics of late nineteenth century urban design in a context of often quite oppressive 

industrial conditions. 

The spire of St George’s Church is one of Millom’s key landmarks, and draws visitors towards 

the precinct, which is accessed off St George’s Road near the entrance to Market Square. 

The precinct has a distinct character within the town, being a low hill that is mostly open and 

green. There are two main buildings within it aside from the grade II listed church: the grade 

II listed vicarage on the west side that has now been incorporated into a care home, and the 

newer vicarage located on the east side. There is additionally a grade II listed Boer War 

memorial to the north-east of the church, erected c.1900. 

Page 234



 

27 

 

Figure 26 St George's Church viewed from the graveyard to the south 

The church was completed in 1877 and is by Paley and Austin, as is the station. It is of 

dressed red sandstone with slate roofs and features a central tower with spire that projects 

to a height of some 130 feet. To the east, south and west lie extensive grave-filled 

churchyards across the hilltop, from where a view is offered of the surroundings. The church 

and both old and new vicarages are accessed via the winding, tree-lined avenue.  

The precinct entrance is marked by two substantial piers, one of which is twisted two blocks 

above ground level, presumably from a vehicle impact. The gateway, though wide, now only 

contains a single gate that no longer closes against anything and is in poor condition. For a 

town that was built on iron, the state of this gateway is a particularly unfortunate expression 

of Millom’s decline. 

 

Page 235



 

28 

 

Figure 27 Gate pier and remaining gate at entrance 

The original vicarage dates from the same period as when the church was under 

construction, and is possibly also by Paley and Austin. It is constructed in coursed red 

sandstone rubble with ashlar dressings and has slate roofs. The newer vicarage is not 

without architectural merit either, and occupies an unobtrusive position within the precinct. 

It is constructed from a reddish-brown brick, with a slate roof and nicely articulated massing 

that relates well to its front garden and gently sloping plot. 

 

Figure 28 The old vicarage, now St George's Residential Home  

Page 236



 

29 

 

Figure 29 The current vicarage 

The precinct is quieter and the air fresher than in other parts of the conservation area. There 

is an edge-of-town-feel, with an interruption of urban noise and regimentation, a looser, less 

formal layout. It is a place that exerts a draw due to being a landmark and offers quality 

architecture and good views. The side of the former NatWest building on Market Square, 

which is dilapidated and features a very poor though mercifully small extension, is harmful 

to the appreciation of this area. The precinct approach features attractive sandstone 

boundary walls of squared rubble with triangular copings. 

Page 237



 

30 

 

Figure 30 The extension to the north-west elevation of the former Natwest building, as 
viewed from within the precinct 

4.1.6. Market Square 

Market Square is distinct from both the precinct and the residential streets that lie around it. 

It is a formal space in the sense that it is laid out as a rectangle with buildings on all four 

sides. Its creation by the Local Board in the late 1870s was a successful attempt to shift the 

core of the town and give it a new collection of civic buildings in accordance with Victorian 

ideals of providing the full apparatus of civic, religious and industrial functionality together.  

It appears to originally have had a surface of compacted aggregate surrounded by a simple 

pavement of natural stone flags and kerbs, up until the 1950s, when work was carried out to 

reduce the height of the clock tower. At around this time tarmac was applied, and a large 

lamppost on a plinth, with multiple luminaires, also disappeared as the square was 

reconfigured for cars and buses, so that by the early 1960s it more closely resembled its 

current state. 1-2 Market Square also originally featured windows that have since been 

removed. 

Market Square currently has a neglected atmosphere, although it benefits from a number of 

attractive buildings that retain a certain grandeur. The square is surfaced in a mixture of pink 

cement paving slabs, grey concrete setts and tarmac, which appear tired and do not link in 

any particular way to the town’s heritage. 

The space suffers a number of problems, including the presence of a dilapidated bus stop, 

some vacant and declining buildings, and the alterations 1-3 Market Square and the Clock 

Tower have historically undergone. There is also some clutter, and suboptimal signage and 

shopfronts in the space. All historic windows in and adjacent to the Clock Tower appear to 

have been lost, although the former banks opposite at least retain timber windows. 

Page 238



 

31 

 

Figure 31 The windowless upper facades of 1 and 2 Market Square (formerly the Palace 
Ballroom) unbalance this row. A tripartite sash on the first floor of 3 Market Square has also 
been changed for a pair of rectangular openings offset from those above. 

The elevation of West County Court facing Market Square is more successful than the one 

facing Lancashire Road. There have been some unfortunate accretions but the overall result 

is positive. 1 and 2 Market Square have at some point in the past lost their upper windows, 

meaning the symmetry of the frontage is unbalanced. The Clock Tower is of 1879 and faced 

with attractive slate with yellow Yorkstone dressings. It is of a stout appearance with 

mullioned and transomed windows and segmental arches into the base of the tower, which 

forms a portico. The clock faces are mounted in the sides of a copper dome that sits 

immediately above the tower parapet. The building currently houses a restaurant, but was in 

the past home to the town’s Council Chambers and a covered market. 

Page 239



 

32 

 

Figure 32 Red sandstone former Natwest building, which has lost the attractive iron railings 
and dwarf walls that used to front it. It has an unsympathetic but fortunately small side 
extension 

 

Figure 33 Squared slate with red sandstone dressings in the Working Men's Club building on 
St George's Road 

Page 240



 

33 

 

Figure 34 The impressive post office building is of grey stone with yellow Yorkstone dressings. 
It is one of the taller buildings in Millom, being three-and-a-half quite tall storeys, and has a 
striking gable end that is hung to its full height in slates, some decorative. It makes a grand 
and successful bookend on this junction. 

 

Figure 35 The public library is located on St George's Road just off the Square and presents an 
attractive red brick facade to the street. 

Page 241



 

34 

 

Figure 36 The former Barclays building on St George's Road is unusual but nonetheless makes 
a positive impression with its quiet confidence, and is a rare example of good quality local 
architecture from the late 20th century. The trees ahead and behind complement its 
angularity. 

These buildings on the south side of the square are interesting for having been built 
specifically as banks (York City Bank, Lancaster Bank, Bank of Liverpool, and Barclays). 

4.1.7. Lapstone Road and Wellington Street 

This area is composed of residential streets laid out in a grid pattern. It is the archetypal 

character of New Town, although is only a small part of it, consisting of an area either side of 

Lapstone Road from Lancashire Road, the row of houses on St George’s Terrace including 

Norman Nicholson’s residence, Crown Street starting at the 1884 Baptist Chapel, and 

Wellington Street starting at the 1889 Salvation Army fortress, leading inwards to the road 

junction at the 1888 Co-Op and 1894 Conservative Club. 

St George’s Terrace, which connects St George’s Road with Lapstone Road, dates from 1880. 

Number 14 is notable for being the location in which poet Norman Nicholson was born and 

lived for much of his life, taking inspiration from and writing about his surroundings. The 

house itself is an example of a Victorian shopkeeper’s premises and lodgings, but is 

particularly valuable for its historical association.  

This row of houses, which have variously been converted into shops, are constructed in brick 

but have been given rendered finishes sometime during the 20th century. Their walls are 

likely of solid construction as cavity wall construction was invented only in the very last years 

of the 19th century, and didn’t become widespread until the first and second decades of the 

20th.   

Page 242



 

35 

 

Figure 37 Norman Nicholson's house at 14 St George's Terrace. The dormer retains its brick 
finish and semi-circular arched window. 

The Co-Op hall is the most prominent building in this character area. It was and is, despite 

dilapidation, an impressive structure with a tower featuring aspects of gothic revival. It is 

faced in squared slate blocks with red sandstone ashlar dressings and slate roofs. The 

ground floor, where the shop units were located, has been given an unsightly coating of grey 

render. 

Though there has been widespread loss of historic detailing and some notable poor 

maintenance of rainwater goods, this character area retains several original shop front 

elements, which are valuable components of its special interest. 

Numbers 51 and 53 Wellington Street demonstrate what can be done with these properties 

and serve as an example of how attractive the street could be. 

Page 243



 

36 

 

Figure 38 Numbers 51 and 53 Wellington Street, showing the attractive and distinctly 
Cumbrian appearance that might be possible. 

 

Figure 39 42-44 Wellington Street is a fine tall building that stands proudly within the street, 
topped by a pair of dormers and retaining a valiable historic shopfront. This building is under-
used, but retains its architectural quality. 

Page 244



 

37 

 

Figure 40 The Conservative Club on Lapstone Road, another fine and characteristic late 
Victorian civic building. The side extension is rather unfortunate, but facing it with slate to 
match the rest has considerably lessened its impact. 

 

 

Figure 41 Millom Co-Operative halls and shops form a dramatic if dilapidated corner to this 
important junction. The building’s current condition is problematic. The tower roof would 
originally have featured decorative ironwork, which has now been lost. 

Page 245



 

38 

 

Figure 42 The rear of the Co-Operative hall is in a poor condition and makes a negative 
impression. Investment is needed. 

 

Figure 43 The Wellington Street façade of the Co-Operative, with blocked windows, loss of 
detailing and vacant shops, it is not currently shown off to the best of its potential. 

Page 246



 

39 

  

Figure 44 Lapstone Road features attractive terraced houses. There has been widespread loss 
of historic fenestration but the overall impression is pleasing and varied in places. Variation 
in facade and roof treatment is evident here. 

 

Figure 45 The Salvation Army Fortress of 1889 sits at the furthest south-east extremity of the 
conservation area in a quiet street, and rounds out the town’s collection of late-19th century 
places of worship. 

Page 247



 

40 

  

Figure 46 The Baptist Church of 1884 features gothic-revival detailing. Its front, like the Co-
Op halls opposite, is of slate blocks with red sandstone ashlar dressings. The ogival arched 
openings and diamond-leaded glass, however, give it a distinctly ecclesiastical character, and 
it is in good condition relative to much of the nearby building stock, making a positive 
contribution. 

5. Key Characteristics 
 Town’s pre-industrial history is relegated to a minor position in the whole; the character is 

that of an industrial town, built at a particular time in response to a particular need. Though 

elements of Holborn Hill and the town’s late 20th century development are clearly apparent, 

it is the industrial development period of approximately fifty years following the founding of 

the town in 1866 that creates the overriding character of Millom. 

 The pattern of development reflects both the railway at its heart and the east-west and 

north-south axes that branched off it to the ironworks and iron ore mine respectively. 

Streets in New Town are on a grid in mainly parallel lines, with some diagonals addressing 

the line of the railway. 

 The station, war memorial green, St George’s Road bridge and Market Square form a kind of 

heart to the conservation area. Around this and radiating off it are residential streets that all 

post-date the railway, with the exception of Holborn Hill. 

 St George’s Church precinct at the south side of the conservation area marks a change of 

character, but is linked to the civic buildings in Market Square and the industrial sites outside 

and within the town by being constituents of the Victorian ideal of providing comprehensive 

civic, religious and industrial apparatus.  

 Positive contributions relate generally to buildings that have retained something like their 

original appearance; to a large extent, what changes have been made have been harmful. 

Page 248



 

41 

 The town is strongly composed of two-storey terraced frontages, relieved by cornerstone 

buildings here and there that are taller and more elaborate. These enclose the streets, 

reducing views out to certain elevated locations, such as St George’s Road bridge and the 

precinct. 

 Materials are quite varied, but slate (both for façades and roofs), red and yellow sandstone 

(for dressings), red brick and render predominate. Granite can also be found, and is more 

common in the older part of the town. Pebble dashing has been widely introduced in more 

recent decades, and has had a generally unfavourable effect. 

 Many houses retain their external chimneys. 

 Development has largely been on the periphery of the town, leaving the conservation area 

highly coherent. 

 Tree coverage is fairly limited, being mainly confined to certain areas such as the church 

precinct. 

  

Page 249



 

42 

6. Summary of Issues 
 Millom has experienced a prolonged period of difficulty both in maintaining its buildings and 

giving them long-term viable uses. 

 There has been widespread loss of historic detailing, particularly relating to windows and 

doors, which has greatly affected residential properties, though commercial properties have 

suffered too. 

 Additional problems relate to loss of slate roofs (replacement with tile, often with unsightly 

plastic verge caps), covering over of facades with pebble dashing, addition of satellite dishes, 

loss of window mullions and loss of historic shop fronts. 

 Several of Millom’s most attractive and high status buildings are vacant at the time of 

writing. 

 Historic pavement surfaces have been lost in their entirety within the conservation area. 

 The car park, WC block and wall at the rear of the pavement on Lancashire Road near Tesco 

currently introduce an area of less attractive space at the centre of the conservation area, 

giving it a greater impression of being divided into two halves. This reads as car-centric 

approach, rather than designed for pedestrians. 

 Historic ironwork that is missing or in poor condition is conspicuous, which is particularly 

pertinent considering iron was the basis for much of Millom’s development. 

 

Page 250



 

43 

7. Appendices 

7.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) 

 Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities Threats 

Millom  Largely complete 
example of mid-19th 
to early-20th century 
planned iron town 

 Varied and attractive 
buildings. 

 Legible, well-
preserved layout. 

 High survival rate of 
original buildings & 
arrangements. 

 Widespread dilapidation, 

vacancy and underinvestment. 

 Cost of rectification and low 

property values creates a 

conservation deficit. 

 Loss of original purpose, 

difficulty diversifying/adapting. 

 Widespread loss of historic 

detailing and surfaces. 

 Reinstatement of historic 

detailing (fenestration, 

materials, surfacing etc.). 

 Reuse of vacant buildings. 

 Property/land values must 

rise to close the 

conservation deficit. 

 Continued decline in 

historic character and 

detailing. 

 Unsympathetic alterations. 

 Continued or increased 

levels of vacancy and 

dilapidation. 

 Holborn Hill  Distinct character 
from rest of Millom. 

 Some views of 
surrounding 
countryside. 

 Varied built character. 

 Longest history of 
Millom’s areas. 

 Poor condition, dilapidation. 

 Loss of historic detail/character. 

 Reinstatement of historic 

detailing. 

 Increased rate of 

occupation, increased 

sense of life and vibrancy. 

 Lack of investment making 

improvement unlikely due 

to low land values and 

development pressure. 

 Cambridge 

Street 

 Formal arrangement – 

symmetry, 

ornamentation, 

architectural quality. 

 Views across green to 

St George’s Church 

 Loss of historic detail. 

 Loss of unity of terrace. 

 Clutter (satellite dishes, parked 

cars etc.). 

 Reinstatement of historic 

detailing. 

 Reinstatement of unity of 

frontages. 

 Further erosion of unity of 

frontages. 

P
age 251



 

44 

 Station Road; 

memorial 

green 

 Attractive, spacious 

area; some good 

quality buildings. 

 Connection with 

Millom’s First World 

War history. 

 Traffic. 

 Petrol station, garage and 

Coniston Court/Fell House 

(outside C.A boundary) are 

detractors. 

 Condition/appearance of 

Palladium building. 

 Loss of some historic detailing. 

 Improvement to condition 

of detractors. 

 Reinstatement of historic 

detailing and surfaces. 

 Further dilapidation. 

 St George’s 

Road and 

Lancashire 

Road 

 Retention of historic 

bridge and former 

goods depot. 

 Attractive views of 

mountains and St 

George’s Church from 

bridge. 

 Car parking, wall at junction, 

WC block and extension around 

Tesco harm the character and 

appearance of the area. 

 Lack of clear definition to Tesco 

site; merges with neighbouring 

industrial area outside C.A. 

 Unsympathetic alterations to 

surrounding buildings. 

 Traffic somewhat intrusive. 

 Loss of historic surfacing. 

 Area exacerbates sense of C.A. 

being in two halves. 

 Improvements to Tesco 

site. 

 Improvement to 

appearance of West 

County Court. 

 Improvement to public 

realm at road junction, 

making gateway between 

bridge, Lancashire Road, 

precinct and Market 

Square. 

 Unsympathetic 

development on Tesco site. 

 Further harm to 

surrounding buildings and 

bridge. 

 St George’s 

Church 

precinct 

 High quality 

architecture. 

 Greenery, layout, 

sense of space, views 

afforded from top. 

 Poor condition of gates and 

piers at entrance. 

 Visually intrusive extension to 

former NatWest adjacent to 

precinct. 

 Dilapidation of former NatWest 

adjacent to precinct. 

 Restoration and 

reinstatement of entrance 

gates/piers. 

 Improvement in state of 

former NatWest adjacent 

to precinct. 

 Dilapidation to boundary 

wall; further dilapidation to 

gate piers, gates. 

 Loss of function of church. 

 Unsympathetic 

development of setting. 

P
age 252



 

45 

 Market 

Square 

 Attractive 

architecture. 

 Formal arrangement 

(a town square). 

 Centrepiece of the 

New Town layout. 

 Loss of historic detailing. 

 Unsympathetic alterations. 

 Dilapidation and vacancy. 

 Unsuitable signage/advertising. 

 Current external layout, 

surfacing scheme and bus stop. 

 Traffic intermittently intrusive. 

 Re-use of vacant buildings 

and associated 

refurbishment. 

 Reinstatement of 

historically appropriate 

detailing and surfaces. 

 Improvements to layout. 

 Further vacancies. 

 Increased dilapidation and 

maintenance issues. 

 Increased poor 

advertising/signage. 

 Further loss of historically 

appropriate detailing. 

 Lapstone 

Road and 

Wellington 

Street 

 Attractive terraces 

interspersed with high 

quality civic and 

religious architecture. 

 The residential heart 

of the New Town. 

 Some retained 

shopfronts. 

 Loss of historic surfaces and 

detailing. 

 Vacancy and dilapidation of Co-

Op halls a serious detraction. 

 Poor maintenance and 

alteration. 

 Re-use and improvements 

to vacant and dilapidated 

buildings, including 

Norman Nicholson’s 

house and Co-Op hall. 

 Public realm 

improvements at junction 

of Lapstone Road and 

Crown Street. 

 Further dilapidation and 

decline. 

 Loss of historic shop front 

elements, slate roofs, 

window mullions etc. 

 

  

P
age 253



 

46 

7.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets 

List Entry No. Name Address Grade Date designated Date constructed 

1065710 Church of St George St George’s Church precinct, 

St George’s Road 

II 1967 1874-7 

1086621 Boer War Memorial St George’s Church precinct, 

St George’s Road 

II 1989 c. 1900 

1086622 War Memorial Station Road II 1989 1925 

1357574 Former Vicarage St George’s Church precinct, 

St George’s Road 

II 1989 c.1875 

 

  

P
age 254



 

47 

7.3. Area Maps 

 

Figure 47 Conservation area boundary 

P
age 255



 

48 

 

Figure 48 Millom conservation area's character areas: 1. Holborn Hill; 2. Cambridge Street; 3. Station Road and war memorial green; 4. St George’s Road 
and Lancashire Road; 5. St George’s Church Precinct; 6. Market Square; 7. Lapstone Road and Wellington Street 

P
age 256



 

49 

 

Figure 49 Positive townscape elements and listed buildings. This includes buildings that are generally positive where condition has declined but not by 
enough to obscure their character 

P
age 257



 

50 

 

Figure 50 Townscape features: spaces, both greened and surfaced, landmark buildings, notable vistas or broad views, and linear views 

P
age 258



 

51 

8. Bibliography 
Atkinson, A. (2012) Millom: A Cumberland Iron Town and its Railways. Cumbrian Railways 

Association 

Cumbria County History Trust (2020) Millom. Online [Available at: 

https://www.cumbriacountyhistory.org.uk/township/millom]  

Harris, A. (1966) “Millom: A Victorian new town” in Transactions of the Cumberland and 

Westmorland Antiquarian and Archaeological Society 66(02) [Available at: 

https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-

1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1966/vol66/tcwaas_002_1966_vol66_0030.

pdf]  

Harris, A. and Davis, R. B. (1968) “The Hodbarrow Iron Mines” in Transactions of the Cumberland 

and Westmorland Antiquarian and Archaeological Society 68(02) [Available at: 

https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-

1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1968/vol68/tcwaas_002_1968_vol68_0014.

pdf] 

Historic England (2019) Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management Second 

Edition, Historic England Advice Note 1. Historic England. Swindon 

Historic England (2021). National Heritage List For England. Online [Available at: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list] 

Hyde, M. and Pevsner, N. (2010) The Buildings of England: Cumbria – Cumberland, Westmorland 

and Furness. Yale University Press. New Haven and London 

Kelly, D (1994) The Red Hills: Iron Mines of West Cumberland. Red Earth Publishing 

MacLeod, Innes (1988) Sailing on Horseback: William Daniell and Richard Ayton in Cumbria and 

Dumfries and Galloway. T.C. Farries and Co. Dumfries 

Ordnance Survey (1867) Ordnance Survey Cumberland XC Six-Inch Surveyed 1860-61. Online 

[Available at: https://maps.nls.uk/view/102340947] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1899) Cumberland XC.2 Twenty-Five-Inch Revised 1897. Online [Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146665] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1924) Cumberland XC.2 Twenty-Five-Inch Revised 1922. Online [Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146668] Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Oxford City Council (2021) Character Assessment Toolkit. Online [Available at: 

www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit) 

Page 259

https://www.cumbriacountyhistory.org.uk/township/millom
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1966/vol66/tcwaas_002_1966_vol66_0030.pdf
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1966/vol66/tcwaas_002_1966_vol66_0030.pdf
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1966/vol66/tcwaas_002_1966_vol66_0030.pdf
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1968/vol68/tcwaas_002_1968_vol68_0014.pdf
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1968/vol68/tcwaas_002_1968_vol68_0014.pdf
https://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/archiveDS/archiveDownload?t=arch-2055-1/dissemination/pdf/Article_Level_Pdf/tcwaas/002/1968/vol68/tcwaas_002_1968_vol68_0014.pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list
https://maps.nls.uk/view/102340947
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146665
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121146668
http://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit


 

 

Appraisal prepared by: 

Dr Sammy Woodford 

Conservation and Design Officer 

Copeland Borough Council 

 

Contact: 

Copeland Borough Council 

01946 598 300 

info@copeland.gov.uk 

 

Visit our front desk, or write to Development Management using the post box at: 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

 

Page 260

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

St Bees Conservation Area Appraisal 
2021 

 

  

Page 261

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/


 

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Background ............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? ................................................................................................. 2 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? ................................................................................. 3 

2. Location, History and Development ............................................................................................... 4 

2.1. Overview of St Bees Conservation Area ................................................................................. 4 

2.2. Historic Development ............................................................................................................. 5 

2.2.1. Origins ............................................................................................................................. 5 

2.2.2. Development History ...................................................................................................... 5 

2.2.3. Map Progression ............................................................................................................. 6 

3. Built Environment ........................................................................................................................... 9 

3.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form ...................................................................................... 9 

3.1.1. Character Area 1 – The Valley ......................................................................................... 9 

3.1.2. Character Area 2 – High House Road ............................................................................ 25 

3.1.3. Character Area 3 – Main Street .................................................................................... 41 

3.2. Materials ............................................................................................................................... 59 

3.3. Uses ....................................................................................................................................... 62 

4. Public Realm .................................................................................................................................. 62 

4.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses ......................................................................................................... 62 

4.2. Roads and Paths .................................................................................................................... 68 

4.3. Boundaries ............................................................................................................................ 70 

5. Natural Environment..................................................................................................................... 74 

5.1. Open Spaces .......................................................................................................................... 74 

5.2. Water .................................................................................................................................... 74 

5.3. Trees ...................................................................................................................................... 74 

6. Key Characteristics ........................................................................................................................ 75 

7. Summary of Issues ........................................................................................................................ 76 

8. Appendices .................................................................................................................................... 77 

8.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) ....................................... 77 

8.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets ............................................................................. 78 

8.3. Area Maps ............................................................................................................................. 80 

8.4. Bibliography .......................................................................................................................... 83 

 

Page 262



 

Index of Selected Places 

Abbey Road ........................................................................................................................................... 63 
Abbey Farm, 08 & 09 ........................................................................................................................ 21 
Abbey Farm, 10-12 ............................................................................................................................ 21 
Abbey Farmhouse ............................................................................................................................. 20 
Abbots Court ............................................................................................................................... 24, 73 
Holly Mews............................................................................................................................ 23, 24, 72 

Abbey Vale .......................................................................................................................... 22, 23, 24, 63 

B5345 
Abbey House ..................................................................................................................................... 20 
former Village Pump ......................................................................................................................... 17 
Pow Bridge ............................................................................................................................ 12, 65, 74 

Bee Boles ......................................................................................................................................... 22, 53 

Cross Hill 
Manor Stead and Cross Hill House ........................................................................................ 38, 41, 74 
Pavement .................................................................................................................................... 43, 69 
Thimble Cottage ................................................................................................................................ 59 

Finkle Street 
07 ...................................................................................................................................................... 39 
08-16 ................................................................................................................................................. 38 
Hodgett's Club ................................................................................................................................... 40 
Mayfield ............................................................................................................................................ 36 

Grindal Place ................................................................................................................................... 35, 70 

High House Road 
Apple Cottage ................................................................................................................................... 33 
Croft House ................................................................................................................................. 32, 33 
Fern Bank .......................................................................................................................................... 29 
Fleatham Farmhouse ........................................................................................................................ 35 
Fleatham House .......................................................................................................................... 34, 74 
High House .................................................................................................................................. 26, 27 
High House Cottage .......................................................................................................................... 26 
Khandellah .................................................................................................................................. 33, 71 
Meadow House ..................................................................................................................... 28, 29, 70 
Old Telephone Exchange ............................................................................................................ 33, 34 
Retreat Farmhouse ........................................................................................................................... 31 
The Barn (barn) ................................................................................................................................. 25 
The Barn (house) ............................................................................................................................... 26 
The Croft, 01-05 ................................................................................................................................ 34 
The Knoll ........................................................................................................................................... 30 
The Retreat ..................................................................................................................... 31, 32, 33, 71 

Lonsdale Terrace ....................................................................................................................... 39, 40, 64 

Main Street 
014-021 ............................................................................................................................................. 47 
021 .................................................................................................................................................... 47 
027 & 028 (East Croft) ....................................................................................................................... 48 

Page 263



 

045-047 ............................................................................................................................................. 50 
048-050 ............................................................................................................................................. 51 
081 .................................................................................................................................................... 57 
083 .................................................................................................................................................... 55 
088 & 089 .......................................................................................................................................... 59 
107A-109 ........................................................................................................................................... 53 
115 (Orchard House) ......................................................................................................................... 48 
125 .................................................................................................................................................... 45 
126 .............................................................................................................................................. 45, 46 
129 .................................................................................................................................................... 45 
Fairladies Barn ................................................................................................................................... 55 
Fairladies Farmhouse .................................................................................................................. 53, 54 
former Methodist Church ................................................................................................................. 53 
Grainger House ................................................................................................................................. 57 
Grindal House ............................................................................................................................. 11, 73 
Manor House Inn .............................................................................................................................. 44 
Nursery Cottage ................................................................................................................................ 46 
Penrhyn Villa ..................................................................................................................................... 58 
Queens Hotel .................................................................................................................................... 43 
Redbourn House ......................................................................................................................... 53, 54 
Stone House Farm ....................................................................................................................... 41, 42 
Town Head Farm ............................................................................................................................... 56 

Outrigg 
Pinfold ............................................................................................................................................... 52 

Sea Mill Lane ......................................................................................................................................... 67 

Seacroft Drive........................................................................................................................................ 49 

St Bees Priory ................................................................................. 5, 6, 10, 12, 14, 15, 17, 18, 23, 63, 75 
10th or 11th Century Cross ................................................................................................................. 19 
17th Century Sundial .......................................................................................................................... 19 
Lychgate ............................................................................................................................................ 16 
New College Hall ............................................................................................................................... 17 
Sleeping Child Memorial Garden ...................................................................................................... 19 
Vicarage............................................................................................................................................. 19 
WWI Memorial ............................................................................................................................ 12, 16 

St Bees School ......................................................................................................... 5, 6, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15 
Barony House .................................................................................................................................... 14 
Buildings around quadrangle ............................................................................................................ 15 
WWII Memorial ("The Hand") ........................................................................................................... 19 

Station Road 
Signal Box .................................................................................................................................... 10, 11 
St Bees Station ............................................................................................................................ 10, 11 
WWI Memorial .................................................................................................................................. 12 

Vale View ............................................................................................................................ 37, 62, 68, 74 
 

  

Page 264



 

Glossary 

Ashlar  Masonry consisting of squared, close-jointed blocks 

Bee bole An alcove designed for holding a skep (see below) 

Buttress Structural masonry element that resists lateral movement in a wall 

Chancel The area of a church around the altar, typically the section of the church to the east 

of the transepts in a cruciform plan (see below) 

Cloister A covered walkway against the wall of a building, enclosing a quadrangle 

Cock-and-Hen An arrangement of coping stones on a wall top consisting of alternating horizontal 

and vertical stones 

Cornice A projecting ornamental band at the top of a façade 

Cruciform Cross shaped 

Cruck Either of a pair of curved timbers that form part of a frame from ground level to the 

apex of a building (a “cruck-frame” building) 

Fenestration The arrangement of windows 

Lych gate A covered gate into a churchyard 

Mullion A vertical post, normally stone or timber, dividing up the area of a window into 

smaller panes 

Pediment An ornamental gable, often triangular or arched, used above windows and doors 

Potash kiln A kiln of drystone walls used for producing potash, typically found in and around the 

Lake District, where the potash was used in production of woollen fabric 

Quoins Cornerstones, often forming an alternating stack of blocks at the corner of a building 

Skep  A straw bee hive that predated wooden hives 

Snecked (Masonry or work) A strong, attractive masonry bond made using three different 

types of roughly squared stones  

Snicket A northern English term for a passage or alleyway that runs alongside or behind 

houses 

Stucco  Fine, smooth plaster for wall facing and forming decorative features 

Transept The sections of a church formed by the two arms of the cross in a cross-shaped (or 

cruciform) plan, typically a north and a south transept 

Page 265



 

Transom A horizontal beam, normally stone or timber, dividing up the area of a window into 

smaller panes, usually positioned nearer the top than the bottom so the panes 

above it are lower and those below taller 

Tripartite Consisting of three parts. A tripartite sash window consists of a larger central sash 

with a narrower one to either side, separated by mullions 

Vestibule An antechamber or lobby 

 

Page 266



1 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Background 

Copeland Borough Council (the Council) currently administers eight conservation areas 

(Whitehaven, Corkickle, Hensingham, Egremont, Cleator Moor, Beckermet, St Bees, and Millom). 

A further conservation area, Ravenglass, is located within Copeland but administered by the 

Lake District National Park Authority. 

These range in size and character, with Whitehaven, the country’s first post-medieval planned 

town and one of its most complete, being the largest in area (approximately 80 hectares) and 

the first designated (1969). Hensingham is the smallest at approximately two hectares. 

St Bees was designated in 1976. More recently a brief overview was provided in the Borough’s 

Conservation Area Design Guide (2017), but this appraisal has the capacity for a more in-depth 

assessment. 

 

Figure 1 Location of St Bees within Copeland 

 

  

Page 267



2 

1.2. What is a Conservation Area? 

Local Planning Authorities have a responsibility under law to: 

…from time to time determine which parts of their area are areas of special 

architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is 

desirable to preserve or enhance… [Underlines added] 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 69(1) 

These areas are designated as conservation areas, and the authority also has a duty to from time 

to time review the areas designated (Section 69(2)). This means the Council has made a 

commitment to take account of the effect on character and appearance of any development 

proposed within the area, and this applies to its entirety, not merely its buildings. 

The special interest of a conservation area is engendered by all its positive qualities, and a job of 

the planning process is to ensure that change in a conservation area avoids harm to its positive 

aspects while allowing its negative aspects to be addressed. In order to do this, its character in 

positive, neutral and negative terms must be understood, stated and agreed upon. This is the job 

of the character appraisal (a requirement of Section 71(1) of the Act). 

The appraisal is created through a process of public engagement with local people, whereby 

attendees at a meeting have the opportunity to present their views (1990 Act Sections 71(3-4)). 

Once finalised, conservation area designation brings the following work under planning control: 

 Demolition of buildings 

 Works to or removal of trees 

 Development that may be permitted elsewhere, e.g. some house extensions 

Generally, home owners benefit from conservation area designation as the controls sustain 

and/or enhance property values, a finding that has been confirmed by research from the London 

School of Economics (Ahlfeldt, Holman and Wendland, 2012). 

Planning applications made in conservation areas are typically made in full rather than in outline 

as this allows their implications to be fully understood. This process is not only governed by the 

1990 Act mentioned above, but also from guidance such as the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) and local policy such as found in the Copeland Local Plan.  

Additionally, conservation area appraisals are useful in discharging Section 72(1) of the 1990 Act, 

in which “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance” of the area. The appraisal does an important job in describing that 

character and appearance comprehensively. 

  

Page 268



3 

1.3. What is the Purpose of this Document? 

A conservation area appraisal is a tool that explores and defines what is special about the area’s 

architecture and history, and therefore worth preserving or enhancing: 

A good appraisal will consider what features make a positive or negative 

contribution to the significance of the conservation area, thereby identifying 

opportunities for beneficial change or the need for planning protection. 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 025 Reference ID: 18a-025-20190723 

Appraisal takes a broad approach, looking at the development and evolution of an area, the 

relationships within and outside it, how it is used and has been used in the past, and if it has any 

associations with notable people, movements, innovations or practices.  

A place’s street pattern may be of importance, along with the style, appearance, construction 

and arrangement of its buildings. Key views, connections, boundaries, nodes where people 

meet, junctions, routes and zones are important: in other words, what makes the place what it 

is, what makes it valuable, and what makes it distinct from other places. 

With this process there is the opportunity to reappraise what is already known about the area, 

and whether there should be any revisions to its boundary. Places are in constant flux, both in 

terms of their physical makeup and in what we understand of them. 

The appraisal will be used during the development control process to gauge the impact of 

potential developments. It can also be used by those making planning applications as a resource 

to assist in self-assessment, and may be of interest to people living in or studying the area, either 

generally or in the course of commenting on a planning application.  

The relationship between a conservation area and its occupants is particularly important 

because the maintenance of property within the area is one of the key ways by which its 

character can be preserved and enhanced, and harm avoided. 

This appraisal has been prepared following detailed assessment of St Bees using Historic 

England’s 2016 advice document on conservation area character appraisals. It contains 

appendices mapping building quality and townscape analysis, which should be viewed in 

conjunction with the descriptive sections. While it attempts to reach a sufficiently high level of 

detail, it is not possible to describe all that is significant and interesting, so where aspects have 

been omitted or overlooked this should not be taken to mean that they lack architectural or 

historical importance. 

  

Page 269



4 

2. Location, History and Development 

2.1. Overview of St Bees Conservation Area 

For the purposes of this appraisal, the conservation area has been divided into three character 

areas, to aid analysis. These areas are not discreet and the margins should not be viewed as hard 

and fixed. The central region, where Main Street and Finkle Street join, is in reality a transitional 

space, where zones of differing character converge. 

 

Figure 2 St Bees conservation area divided into three character areas: 1. The Valley; 2. 
High House Road; 3. Main Street 

Page 270



5 

2.2. Historic Development 

2.2.1. Origins 

The name St Bees derives from St Bega, a probably apocryphal early middle-ages Irish 

princess who arrived on the Cumbrian coast likely in the 9th century (sometimes given 

incorrectly as 7th century), and who later travelled to Northumberland to escape persecution 

by Norse raiders. 

The Benedictine Priory traces its roots back to that time, but the present structure postdates 

the Norman arrival in Cumberland in 1092 by approximately thirty years. It is the origin point 

of the village itself, and was for a number of centuries essentially the entire settlement, with 

further development not taking place until the Middle Ages.  

The priory is a large, cruciform building whose style mingles elements of Norman with those 

of the Early English Gothic that was in development from the 12th century. 

2.2.2. Development History 

Little is evident about the majority of the priory’s earlier medieval history, although it is 

likely it suffered for Scottish incursions during the Wars of Independence during the late 13th 

and early 14th century, as did much of the local area. 

The early development of St Bees is linked closely with the work of Edmund Grindal (c.1519-

1583), who became Archbishop of Canterbury in the reign of Elizabeth I, and sponsored the 

creation of the original school building and the current stone bridge over Pow Beck. 

The priory was unroofed during the Dissolution of 1539 and following this, in a ruined state, 

it was granted by Edward VI to knight Sir Thomas Chaloner in 1554. 

In 1583, the school was founded by Edmund Grindal who was by that time at the end of his 

life. Land was purchased from Thomas Chaloner the Younger in 1586 and the first of the 

school buildings constructed opposite the priory’s east end. A bridge had been added across 

Pow Beck in 1585, and development was also beginning to increase on the other side of the 

beck around what is now the lower end of Main Street and Cross Hill. 

From a ruinous state, the priory was re-roofed in 1611 for use as a parish church, making use 

of some of the remains of its domestic buildings for stone, and further restored in 1622. 

From Chaloner it passed to the Wybergh family, who subsequently mortgaged it to the 

Lowthers to raise money following the civil war, after which it passed to the Lowthers in 

1663 following foreclosure on the mortgage. 

In 1816, the Theological College was founded by Bishop Law of Chester, and housed in the 

priory chancel, which was reroofed with a shallower pitch by the Lowthers at that time. This 

institution provided training for people intending to enter holy orders, although it did not 

itself offer accommodation, so students took residence nearby in the parish. 

The 1840s and 50s were a period of great change in St Bees. The school’s “1842 Plan”, was 

realised using mineral rights to locally-exported coal restored from the Lowther family, and 

Page 271



6 

the arrival of the railway in 1849 also allowed both far easier travel and export of local red 

sandstone.  

Extensive repairs to the priory’s transepts and tower were carried out in the 1850s, including 

the addition of a new peal of eight bells, and a new font.  

As the economy of St Bees evolved throughout the 19th century from primarily agricultural 

to more diversified, so houses were built to accommodate the changing population. Many of 

the attractive cottages and villas in the village are Victorian, and the school too continued to 

add new buildings through the late 19th and early 20th centuries. 

Since the post-war decline of West Cumbria’s economy, and subsequent revival in the form 

of tourism and high-tech industry, St Bees has primarily seen development in the form of 

housing designed around private car ownership. 

2.2.3. Map Progression 

 

Figure 3 OS 25" 1863.  

Page 272



7 

Figure 3 shows St Bees during a period of expansion for both the school and the village itself. 

Generally speaking, the village originated at the top-left corner, with the priory and the 

school, however, even by the 16th century there were various other properties dotted about, 

such as Cross Hill House/Manor Stead, the now divided birthplace of Edmund Grindal. 

Gradually, the separated farmsteads have been infilled with later houses, and Main Street 

has progressed southward. 

 

Figure 4 OS 25" 1898.  

By the late 19th century, stone quarrying had become more established thanks to the 

railway, and many local houses had been constructed using it, along with civic buildings such 

as the Methodist Chapel at the top of Main Street and the club at the bottom of Finkle 

Street. 

Page 273



8 

 

Figure 5 OS 25" 1923.  

During the interwar period, St Bees conservation area was more or less as it currently 

appears, although the housing developments that flank it on either side of Main Street were 

as yet absent. 

 

  

Page 274



9 

3. Built Environment 

3.1. Architectural Quality and Built Form 

3.1.1. Character Area 1 – The Valley 

The first of the three character areas is a broad, almost rectangular area mostly filled with 

grassland and located predominantly on the north-western side of Pow Beck, and stretching 

up the rise to the north-west. It includes the area at the valley bottom around the station, 

and is defined by a sense of space, with buildings on both sides of the valley, including the 

highly significant priory and school buildings, which form a group as impressive as any in 

Cumbria. 

 

Figure 6 The Pow Beck valley, looking north-east. The tower of the priory church is 
visible to the left. 

The setting of a designated heritage asset (the priory, for example) is a constituent of its 

significance, both in contributing to it and in allowing it to be appreciated. This not only 

applies to listed buildings, but also to conservation areas.  

The Pow Beck valley character area serves as a good example of the ways in which setting 

can be harmed. Although its character is mostly intact, development has taken place outside 

its boundary that has reduced the ability for the priory’s significance to be appreciated, and 

in some sense has harmed that significance too in cutting it off from the fields that were 

historically a part of its working landscape. 

Page 275



10 

 

Figure 7 The setting of the priory church has been harmed by post-war housing that 
not only lacks architectural merit but is positioned on a hill so as to be visible from 
the entire surrounding area. 

Though the railway line is at the heart of the settlement, and it is now difficult to imagine St 

Bees without it and its station, it is of course a relatively recent addition, in the grand 

scheme of St Bees’ chronology. 

The station itself is not listed, although its signal box is, and though the railway and first 

station arrived in St Bees in the summer of 1849 it wasn’t until 1860 that the current 

building was constructed in red sandstone. The listed signal box, possibly by well-known 

Lancaster firm Paley and Austin, who handled many local project in the mid- and late-19th 

centuries, dates from 1891, and was needed to cope with the increasing volumes of rail 

traffic.  

Both these buildings are in red sandstone, characteristic of many civic and industrial 

examples of the period, with steep roofs clad in local slate. They are quite prominent, given 

their proximity to both the road and the railway line, although they are somewhat obscured 

by the footbridge, which is sadly of no architectural merit. 

Page 276



11 

 

Figure 8 The 1860 station (L) and 1891 signal box (R), viewed from the level crossing 
on Main Street 

Grindal House, located nearby, was originally constructed shortly after the arrival of the 

railway as the Station Hotel. It was bought by the school following the reversion of the 

Whitehaven mineral rights in 1842, which brought greatly increased spending power to the 

school and preceded the expansion of its facilities. Grindal House and the areas of planting 

on the opposite side of the road make a very pleasing gateway that divides the upper part of 

St Bees (Main Street, Finkle Street and High House Road) from the valley. 

 

Figure 9 Grindal House, a grand and somewhat elaborate Victorian building that is 
listed grade II, as are the boundary walls in front of it. Together, these create a very 
positive impression. Though various poor quality extensions to the rear have had a 
detrimental effect, these are fortunately fairly hidden from Main Street. 

Page 277



12 

Near the junction of Station Road and Main Street are two heritage assets of particular note. 

The first is the grade II listed WWI memorial, one of two in St Bees, the other being near the 

lych gate within the priory grounds (see below). This memorial was commissioned slightly 

after the other in response to the belief that it was not sufficiently large or public. It bears a 

likeness of St George and the dragon and is to the design of J. D. Kenworthy, a local artist. 

Nearby is the bridge, which is listed grade II* and dates back to 1585. It was built at the 

behest of Edmund Grindal, and later widened from twelve to twenty-four feet. 

 

Figure 10 The grade II* listed bridge over Pow Beck, with the join between the 16th 
century original arch (the nearer section) and the later part (further away) indicated. 
On top of the bridge, the difference can also be appreciated in the different levels of 
weathering of the east and west parapets. 

The Grindal coat of arms on the bridge is a 1912 replica, the original having been removed 

(causing some controversy) to the interior of the school to protect it from damage. 

As with much of St Bees, substantial fabric in the valley character area dates to the 19th 

century. Near the start of this century, the Theological College was founded, in 1816-17, and 

was the first Church of England training centre for clergy outside Oxford or Cambridge. This 

was located within the chancel of the priory, which was reroofed having stood unroofed 

since the dissolution. For accommodation, students took rooms throughout the parish. 

Much of St Bees School also dates from the following decades, and contributes greatly to the 

character of the conservation area in a number of ways. Looking north from the bridge over 

Pow Beck, a vista of the various red sandstone buildings is presented across the rich, flat 

base of the valley. 

Page 278



13 

 

Figure 11 Looking north from Pow Beck bridge toward the school. The view of red 
stone buildings with manicured grass in front and hilled farmland behind is important 
and valuable. 

At this range, the individual buildings are not easily distinguishable, but collectively convey 

an impression of red sandstone and slate gables that is evocative of the romanticised idea of 

ancient learning, and calls to mind the “dreaming spires” of Oxford, a Victorian romantic 

idea that was coined in the 1860s.  

Despite the air of great antiquity – and despite the genuine ancientness of the school’s 

origins and early fabric – all the buildings in Figure 11 are mid-19th to mid-20th century. This 

is not to undermine their quality, but is a fact worth acknowledging, especially in the context 

of appreciating the value of heritage from this period. 

Page 279



14 

 

Figure 12 The priory tower and buildings of the school are visible in the same 
composition. They are closely connected, and contribute to making St Bees a 
significant place, not merely an attractive one. 

At one approaches, certain features make themselves known. The entrances to the school 

and the priory are close together. The grand iron gates south of the school offer a view along 

a drive around the sound side of the buildings, where it disappears towards the parts 

arranged further east. 

 

Figure 13 The gates and wall south of St Bees School 

Opposite these gates is Barony House, a 19th century two-storey building in five bays with 

hood moulds over the windows and a central door up split, red sandstone staircases, 

beneath a trellised porch. This serves as the music department of the school. 

Page 280



15 

St Bees School underwent its greatest period of change during the mid- and late-19th 

century, beginning in 1846 with the creation of the quad by enclosing a square to the south 

side of the original 16th century building. 

 

Figure 14 School quadrangle. The original building is to the left, although it was 
originally lower. 

One of the key moments in the conservation area is experienced when passing the front of 

the school quadrangle, particularly on foot where there is more opportunity to stop and 

look. 

The original school building is located on the north side, the left as one looks at it. This is the 

late 16th century part founded by Edmund Grindal, which likely incorporated material 

recovered from the former abbot’s house, left vacant following the dissolution some forty or 

fifty years earlier. This building was altered with the addition of an extra storey in the early 

19th century (it was originally two storeys), but the major expansion was not to occur until 

the 1840s, at which point the remainder of the three ranges was constructed. The classical 

arrangement, castellated clock tower, symmetrical green lawns and ornate ironwork and 

gate piers to the front come together to create an arresting sight. 

Together with the priory, the school quadrangle and its other later buildings give the valley 

character area a distinctly institutional feel, in both the senses of religion and learning. 

Though for a long time these amounted to the same thing, they remain physically and 

structurally integrated well enough that the composition is still readable as a whole; the 

school on one side of the road and the priory on the other complement one another, and 

have a wide setting contributing to their significance, and in which their significance can be 

appreciated. 

Page 281



16 

 

Figure 15 The grade II listed early 20th century lych gate and walling with railings at 
the front of the priory.  

The lych gate is opposite the the front of the school quadrangle, and contributes to this 

group at one of the conservation area’s key sections. Just to the north of the gate, behind 

the wall, is the original WWI memorial, also listed grade II. 

 

Figure 16 Historic iron railings have survived near the priory lych gate, although one 
or two finials have been broken off. This photo also shows the earlier of the two WWI 
memorials. WWII names were added below on an engraved stone. 

Page 282



17 

 

Figure 17 The old village pump 

Set within an attractive gothic arch on the road side is the location of the former village 

pump. Although missing its mechanism and in a somewhat degrated state, this remains an 

interesting feature that lends weight to the idea of this location being a fully-fledged place of 

its own, in which quad and precinct are united, as opposed to separate places on either side 

of a road. 

 

Figure 18 New College Hall and the priory. Note the altered chancel roof pitch. 

Viewed from the road, one sees the east end of the priory, which housed the Theological 

College’s Old College Hall, and the rear elevation of its New College Hall, an 1863 building by 

notable gothic revival architect William Butterfield. This provided a pair of lecture halls to 

allow expansion of the Theological College, an institution that was in existance for less than 

Page 283



18 

eighty years and is sometimes confused with the school itself. After the college’s closure in 

1895, the lower hall was for a while used as a public library. 

 

Figure 19 The Old College Hall, viewed from the south. The fluted masonry in the 
foreground is likely part of the current building’s original 12th century phase. 

Old College Hall was the original part of the Theological College, housed within the re-roofed 

priory chancel. Ruined remains of the medieval chancel south aisle are visible in front of it, 

and it was beneath this ruined aisle floor that the St Bees Man buriel was discovered in 

1981. 

 

Figure 20 The priory viewed from the south-west, showing the Norman west doorway 

Page 284



19 

To the north of the priory is a grade II listed mid-17th century sundial, shortly post-dating a 

period in the 1610s-20s in which the priory was restored following its un-roofing in the 

dissolution in 1539. 

Also to the north of the priory is a grade I listed cross dating from the 10th or 11th century. 

South of the priory is the Sleeping Child Memorial Garden, a project initiated by the 

renowned 20th century sculptor Josefina de Vasconcellos, who arranged for three of her 

works to be positioned among trees and planting. The purpose of the garden is to offer 

solace to those who have lost young infants. In addition to the three Vasconcellos sculptures 

in the garden, a further two are located within the priory, and another, named “The Hand”, 

serves as a World War II memorial. This is situated within the grounds of the school. 

 

Figure 21 The vicarage at the west end of the priory. This handsome although well-
hidden building dates from 1816, contemporary with the creation of the Theological 
Collage and also the time at which the remaining elements of the monastic cloister 
on the south side of the nave were demolished after standing ruined for almost three 
centuries. 

 

Page 285



20 

 

Figure 22 To the north of the priory is Abbey Farm. In the left of the photo is a 
sandstone barn, undeveloped and all the more important to local character for it. 

Abbey Farm is a collection of buildings that have been converted into separate properties. 

This attractive house is called Abbey House, and it is joined to Numbers 1, 2 and 3 Abbey 

Farm. The front garden and boundary walls make a very positive impression when entering 

St Bees from this side. The fenestration is attractive and chimneys have been retained. 

 

Figure 23 Abbey Farm house itself, the yellow building, dates back originally to 1679, 
although has received further additions. It is grade II listed, and makes a positive 
impression at the corner as one enters the north side of St Bees. 

Page 286



21 

 

Figure 24 10, 11 and 12 Abbey Farm  

These are three houses created in 2016 with the successful conversion of grade II listed 18th 

century barns attached to Abbey Farm. The Abbey Road elevation (shown here) features a 

sloping cart entrance with paving up to what is now a domestic door, and a covered opening 

into which two house entrances have been neatly integrated. 

 

Figure 25 8 and 9 Abbey Farm 

Though not listed, 8 and 9 Abbey Farm make a very attractive pair, set at an angle to the 

road in what used to be the entrance to the farmyard. As with 10, 11 and 12, articulation in 

the façade in the form of arches and set-backs, creates interest, shadow and richness that 

perfectly complements the red sandstone, slate and greenery.  

Page 287



22 

Also associated with Abbey Farm is a very fine row of eight bee boles, alcoves designed for 

holding skeps, or straw bee hives that predated wooden hives. The International Bee 

Research Association’s gazeteer lists this as being “behind St Bees School’s sports hall”. 

Although the online version of the gazetteer describes them as being 19th century, an earlier 

document from the Eva Crane Trust mentioning the boles speculates that they were used by 

the monks of the priory. 

 

Figure 26 The conservation area boundary runs along the north edge of Abbey Road.  

The properties on the left of this picture are outside the conservation area, but characterise 

its setting, and the road and buildings to the right are within it. The majority of the buildings 

in this part of the area’s setting have had a harmful effect on it and are also highly 

conspicuous, being elevated. The planting and stone boundary treatments have however 

helped soften their impact. 

In the Abbey Vale development to the north of Abbey Road, a 15th century potash kiln was 

discovered in 1986, suggesting that this area was historically part of the working landscape 

of the priory itself. There is potential for the entire area to hold archaeological remains 

relating to its medieval period of operations, as well as evidence in the form of field 

boundaries, movement routes etc. 

Page 288



23 

 

Figure 27 The recent Holly Mews development 

The Holly Mews houses are quite successful, and make use of a façade articulation with 

projecting roof, and red sandstone cladding that looks at home alongside the converted 

buildings of Abbey Farm. However, sites in this area are visible across wide surroundings and 

great care should be taken in urbanising the remaining green spaces of the valley as this is 

key backdrop to several highly significant heritage assets, the conservation area, and the 

village itself, and is a finite resource.  

 

Figure 28 This image shows the relative impacts of two developments on the setting 
of the priory. 

Pictured above, the houses of Abbey Vale on the higher ground outside the conservation 

area (R) are conspicuous, whereas the newer red stone and brick ones on Holly Mews (L), 

Page 289



24 

with their darker walls, gables, lower position and sheltering among trees, are less visible, 

although their visibility is seasonal. What is visible of them is more elegant, but set against 

the backdrop of other houses, rather than the fields and sky. 

Now that Abbey Vale exists, relatively little can be done to redesign it, however it is 

interesting to speculate on what effect might be achieved if all its residents coordinated to 

paint their houses green. This idea would probably appeal to Humphry Repton, the famed 

Georgian-period landscape designer who advocated the popular “invisible green” shade to 

make railings and other structures blend into their backgounds. 

 

Figure 29 Abbots Court, outside the conservation area but within its setting 

Also of note, situated approximately 100m west of the edge of the conservation area, is 

Abbots Court. This is a mid- to late-19th century property, built originally as two separate 

blocks, the lower western part likely having been stabling, and then later combined 

together. Although not within the conservation area, it is one of the grandest houses in the 

locale (though no longer residential), and both its neo-Gothic appearance and its curving 

drives and lawns make a positive impact on the setting of the conservation area.  

Page 290



25 

3.1.2. Character Area 2 – High House Road 

The second of St Bees’ three character areas runs from the bottom of Finkle Street, where it 

intersects with Main Street, up, onto and along High House Road. Like Main Street (Area 3) it 

is fundamentally a linear area, but also includes Manor Stead and the Fleatham House 

grounds to the south of the road, and Lonsdale Terrace, Vale View and Grindal Place to the 

north. 

It ascends from the base of the valley to the top of High House Road, terminating just north 

of High House itself, an appropriately named property as it is the highest part of the 

conservation area. The road, though lined with mixed trees and houses on its west side, 

enjoys views over Pow Beck valley towards the priory and school on the other side. 

 

Figure 30 This attractive barn forms the northern reach of the conservation area on 
High House Road. It is grade II listed. Above the dove holes is a round stone reading 
“William & Hannah Fox 1810”. 

Page 291



26 

 

Figure 31 A cluster of historic buildings at the north-eastern corner of the 
conservation area on High House Road 

Although largely secluded from view from the public highway, this cluster of buildings is 

both highly historic and highly varied. It consists of the following:    

 

Figure 32 A. Grade II listed barn (early 19th century); B. “The Barn” (possibly early 19th 
century): C. High House cottage (probably 17th century); D. Possible cruck barn; E. 
High House  

High House is significant in that it has been in the ownership of one family for something 

approaching five hundred years, and possibly longer. The current building is obviously not 

medieval, and appears to be a 19th century rebuild of an earlier house. 

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

Page 292



27 

 

 

Figure 33 Grand red late 19th century sandstone gate piers and walls at the entrance 
to High House. Parts of iron gate hinges remain, but the gates themselves are gone. 

According to the OS maps available, these gates and the curving entrance date from 

between 1863 and 1898. Interestingly, the way High House is depicted also completely 

differs between these two OS editions, suggesting that the property was almost entirely 

rebuilt and greatly expanded in size at the same time as the grand entrance was added. 

Page 293



28 

 

Figure 34 Meadow House, converted to flats, with unsympathetic dormer and plastic 
windows. There is also a K6 telephone box (one of at least three in St Bees), which 
appears to have been moved here as an ornament. 

Meadow House appears to date originally from the eighteenth century. The central part of 

the building is the oldest, but it was extended at both ends quite substantially in the late 19th 

century. In the early 20th century it was in use as the school’s sanatorium. 

During the mid-19th century, this house was a residence of a lady who used it for running a 

school for girls. In his guide to St Bees (1869), Welsh antiquary and priest John Williams 

writes, “…the prettiest view in St Bees is to be had from Meadow House”.  

Page 294



29 

 

Figure 35 Historic iron railings and sandstone wall surviving outside Meadow House, 
in combination with unattractive concrete additions, either associated with the 
building’s use as a school sanitorium or its later conversion into flats. 

 

Figure 36 Fern Bank 

Page 295



30 

Fern Bank is a dramatic, tall brick house, quite different from the more vernacular 17th 

century buildings nearby. It also features extensive mature gardens, and is both designed 

and situated as to make an impression on people travelling up and down High House Road. 

It dates from the latter 19th century and was originally named Rickerby House. Various 

garden features, such as a fountain and glass houses, were added in the early 20th century, 

presumably as the owners were interested in developing the grounds. 

 

Figure 37 The Knoll on High House Road 

The Knoll, a 1950s house of no particular architectural merit, has been gutted within the last 

ten years and its site allowed to grow untamed. This has been a mixed blessing, as the 

foliage does hide the building. In its current state it makes a negative impression on the 

conservation area, athough it is fairly well hidden. Nonetheless, there exists an opportunity 

here for the plot to be appropriately redeveloped. 

Page 296



31 

 

Figure 38 Retreat Farmhouse 

Though it is clearly altered, Retreat Farmhouse bears a date stone of 1671, making it one of 

the oldest properties in this part of St Bees and probably about contemporary with High 

House Cottage a short distance up the road. Some of the fenestration and external doors 

prevent the building achieving its full potential though. Although not easily visible, its 

gardens are very attractive and well maintained. 

A separate property, The Retreat, a little further down the hill dates probably from the 18th 

century, and contributes positively to the character and appearance of the conservation 

area. It contains some elegant Venetian windows, composed of a central taller round-

headed light flanked by two lower rectangular ones separated by mullions. A simple cornice 

accentuates the distinctive shape of the top. The larger one facing the street is very 

impressive with its gothic “Y” tracery in the round-headed portion. Smaller Venetian 

windows are found in the north and south gable ends. The remainder of the fenestration, 

however, is not suited to the house or location. 

Page 297



32 

 

Figure 39 The Retreat 

The Retreat also contributes to local character by being located right on the edge of the 

street, a distinctively historic arrangement that pre-dates motor traffic and reminds the 

visitor of St Bees’ antiquity. 

This effect is compounded by the single-storey extensions that both the Retreat and 

neighbouring grade II listed Croft House have been fitted with at some point during the 20th 

century. These extend toward one another on opposite sides of the road, although the one 

appended to Croft House is slightly less visible on account of it being more tucked beneath 

the embankment and trees. Both extensions end in a garage door, adapting these attractive 

buildings with mixed results to the needs of private car ownership. 

Figure 40 Croft House, a handsome grade II listed 18th century house makes a 
positive impression on this part of the conservation area 

Page 298



33 

The bottleneck between Croft House and The Retreat makes a juncture between two 

sections of High House Road that have distinct characters. The lower section is more densely 

built up, although many of the properties make no particularly valuable contribution. To the 

north-east of the bottleneck, the historic properties are arrayed on the northern side of the 

road in a looser arrangement, and the opposite side of the road is characterised by a grassy 

embankment under mature trees, the top of which marks the boundary of the area. 

This lower section of High House road, between Croft House and Manor Stead/Cross Hill 

House, features more bungalows and has a more suburban character than the upper section 

but a less historic character than the lowest section. However, there are several buildings of 

note. 

 

Figure 41 Khandellah (L) and Apple Cottage (R) 

Khandellah is labelled erroneously on the 1898 and 1923 OS Maps as “Khendellah”, although 

appears to have been named “The Lodge” prior to that. Apple Cottage was formerly the 

property’s cart lodge, although has since been split off. Khandellah in particular is a fine, 

attractive house with deep, almost Italianate eaves and two-storey canted bay windows.  

Throughout the length of High House Road, one is aware of two gradients: that of the road 

itself, whereby “down” is towards St Bees and “up” is away from it, but also a gradient 

perpendicular to the road, whereby those houses on the northern and western side are 

below it and those on the southern and eastern side (some outside the conservation area) 

are above it, and tending to be screened more by planting as well as the embankment itself, 

both of which become more pronounced as one moves away from the village. 

The side street at Khandellah, unhelpfully also named High House Road, is a more recent 

addition. The house nearest the main road was the first constructed of the three, with the 

others occupying the site of former extensive glass houses within the garden of Khandellah. 

On the south side of the main road are a number of unremarkable bungalows, interspersed 

with more interesting buildings. The Old Telephone Exchange is a tiny building dating from 

the early 20th century that has been converted into a house. 

Page 299



34 

 

Figure 42 The Old Telephone Exchange  

Fleatham House was constructed in the late 19th century on an elevated greenfield site 

among trees. Confusingly, this was close to the homophonically named but differently 

spelled Fleetholme Farm, which, still more confusingly, was renamed Fleatham Farm at 

roughly the same period as Fleatham House was built. This appears to have been more than 

just a name change, as a range of agricultural buildings appears to the east of the house at 

this time too. 

The extensive gardens of Fleatham House have more recently been split up and sold off for 

the development of a number of private houses. Fleatham Farm’s late 19th century barns 

have also been subdivided and are now 1-5 The Croft, and the farmhouse is Fleatham Farm 

and Fleatham Cottage, both fronting High House Road. 

Page 300



35 

 

Figure 43 Stopped chamfer at the corner of Fleatham Farmhouse. This was probably 
either to allow space to pass behind the dwarf wall, or it predates the wall and was 
originally to protect the corner from passing carts etc. 

Opposite Fleatham Farm is a fascinating row of houses called Grindal Place, likely early 19th 

century, which are partly interesting because they have no vehicle access and partly because 

the row is entered via a small path onto High House Road that almost completely hides 

them. Like much of St Bees’ fabric, its charm is in that it clearly predates both mass motor 

transport and mass-produced building materials, which have induced often dislocating, 

depersonalising effects on the formation of place. 

 

Figure 44 Entrance to Grindal Place on High House Road, a whole row accessible only 
to pedestrians 

Page 301



36 

A cluster of attractive grade II listed 19th century houses flanks the entrance to Vale View, 

where there is an impressive pair of mushroom shaped gate piers. Vale View itself also 

contains a terrace of grade II listed 19th century houses, tucked away around the corner 

where they are not visible from the highway.  

This is a key part of St Bees’ appeal, the sense of treasures being tucked away, of a village 

that is at its best when free of traffic and consisting of handsome historic houses set in a 

network of red sandstone walling, gardens and snickets, usually against a backdrop of 

mature deciduous trees. 

 

Figure 45 Mayfield, a very elegant grade II listed house dating from the 19th century. 
The irregular arrangement of plots, interspersed with mature planting and beautiful 
boundary treatments, are what gives this character area its nature.  

Page 302



37 

 

Figure 46 The distinctive piers dividing the two sections of Vale View. Note also the 
cobbled surface, which appears to have been damaged by the passage of heavy 
vehicles. 

The character of this area has been harmed by the insertion of both a parking space in what 

was a garden, necessitating the removal of a section of the wall and increasing the vehicle 

traffic that is likely contributing to damage of the cobbled lane, and by an unattractive 

although fortunately neat lean-to structure on the opposite side. These have not had a 

flattering effect on the conservation area or the setting of the piers and listed houses. 

 

Figure 47 The impressive listed houses on Vale View, which occupy one of the 
quietest, most attractive corners of the conservation area, with a view over the 
grassy valley floor. 

Page 303



38 

 

Figure 48 Numbers 8-16 Finkle Street, a mix of two-storey cottages that have mostly 
retained their chimneys. Number 16, at the far end, is a grade II listed house dating 
from the early 19th century. This image demonstrates some of the traffic problem 
that St Bees faces. 

 

Figure 49 Manor Stead and Cross Hill House, five hundred years old and listed grade 
II* 

Manor Stead and Cross Hill House were originally a single late medieval hall house. Jointly 

they constitute St Bees’ most historic residence. Externally, the building has been altered 

fairly little, although inside its full-height hall has been partitioned to create an upper floor. 

Its setting has been harmed very little too, and it makes a powerful impression over this little 

green. Behind, walled gardens divide the building from those on Main Street. A plaque on 

the south gable attests that this was the birthplace of Edmund Grindal, Archbishop of 

Page 304



39 

Canterbury in the reign of Elizabeth I, and patron of St Bees School and the bridge over Pow 

Beck. 

 

Figure 50 The side elevation of 1 Lonsdale Terrace and frontage 7 Finkle Street 
opposite the end of Cross Hill are unusual in being battlemented. They would be very 
striking had they not suffered a raft of unfortunate alterations. There is great 
potential here for improvement. 

 

Figure 51 Lonsdale Terrace, a grade II listed row of houses dating from the mid-19th 
century. 

Halfway along Finkle Street, Lonsdale Terrace forms one of St Bees’ most evocative 

compositions: a row of mid-19th century grade II listed houses in pastel colours that are 

Page 305



40 

visible from large areas of the surroundings including the road from Whitehaven that leads 

into St Bees, where they form a prominent and charming part of the backdrop. 

Though formerly owned by the school and combined together for use as a boarding house, 

they have since received permission to be re-divided. This has also had the unfortunate 

effect of extending the area in front given to parking. Each of these houses originally had 

garden in front, but these gardens have been steadily reduced in number and size. As a 

compensation, this does at least reduce the need for on-street parking these houses would 

otherwise generate. 

The houses are not in the best of states, and there is great potential here for sensitive 

refurbishment to improve their fortunes. 

At the bottom of the hill is a building that looks as though it might be at home in Cleator 

Moor – the village hall or “Hodgett’s Club” built in around 1882 as a liberal club by Alfred 

Hodgett, resident of Abbots Court, another very handsome building that lies shortly outside 

the conservation area on the other side of the valley. The village hall is of two tall main 

storeys that project well above the buildings around it, although it is not an intrusive 

component of the urban fabric, being well hidden near the bottom of the valley and steeply 

pitched. 

It is of coursed red sandstone rubble, with ashlar frontage containing mullioned and 

transomed cross windows. Its connection to the buildings to the east is improved by a lower 

vestibule entry volume that articulates the difference between the two. 

 

Figure 52 Looking up the charmingly tight and blind junction at the bottom of Finkle 
Street and Main Street. It is hugely beneficial to the character of the village that 
areas like this were never widened and straightened for road traffic during the 
twentieth century. 

  

Page 306



41 

3.1.3. Character Area 3 – Main Street 

Main Street is a ribbon that runs from the centre of the conservation area, where the three 

character areas converge, in a southerly direction, until it reaches the edge of the 

conservation area after approximately 0.4 miles. It ascends the side of the valley as it 

progresses, and approaches the sea, offering glimpses of the water from the top. Being 

west-facing, during afternoon and evening the sun is on the sea and shines brightly, giving 

these glimpses an even more arresting quality. 

The buildings lining Main Street are mostly terraced and of two-stories, some with small 

front gardens, but most directly fronting the pavement. 

The numbering on the street is unusual. When buildings were given numbers, during the 

1890s, the decision was made to number them sequentially from the corner of Finkle Street, 

southwards to the end of the development (where the current conservation area boundary 

is also located), and then back again on the west side of the street. It is more common to 

find streets numbered in alternating fashion, with odd numbers on one side and even ones 

opposite. 

It began developing at around the time of the dissolution of the monasteries, which affected 

St Bees in 1539. Edmund Grindal’s early 16th century hall house on Cross Hill is the most 

historic surviving building in the vicinity of Main Street. The street developed as a string of 

farms and houses, until it joined up, with much of the current fabric being 19th century. Most 

of these had gardens or allotments to the rear, which gave in turn to strip fields, although 

some of these areas have subsequently been filled in by later development. 

 

Figure 53 Stone House Farm is a grade II listed building, prominently visible although 
set back from the pavement with a front garden that is also bounded by a barn. 

Stone House Farm is possibly early 18th century, with later additions and alterations. It 

features an ornate date stone over the entrance reading “Stainton” and “1712”. The house 

Page 307



42 

makes a positive contribution, with an attractive frontage that conserves St Bees’ historic 

structure as a series of radiating linear streets divided and surrounded by farm land. 

 

Figure 54 The gable end of the barn bears this date stone.  

Although worn, the barn stone is still readable. Generally it is held that the top letter in such 

arrangements is for a surname and the two below for a husband and wife, so this datestone 

effectively reads “I and T A, 1660”. The datestone was not necessarily originally made for 

this building; it may have been moved, but even if it was originally made for here, the date 

may equally not refer to the date of construction, but may be a date of importance to the 

people initialled, such as the year of their marriage.  

This particular stone is clearly saturated, almost certainly caused by the coating of cement 

render the gable has received at some point. This will have the effect that any moisture 

entering the wall, e.g. from the footings or top, will have few options for escaping, other 

than through the porous stone itself. This is likely to lead to significant damage within the 

next few years unless it can be removed and replaced with a suitable lime render. 

Just up the road from Stone House Farm, at the corner of 132 Main Street, there used to be 

a substantial stone water fountain, though this sadly disappeared sometime in the 20th 

century. 

A 

I     T 

1   6   6   0 

Page 308



43 

 

Figure 55 Queens Hotel, Main Street. 

The Queens Hotel is within one of the most historic parts of St Bees, the north end of Main 

Street, Cross Hill, and Finkle Street, where the village began developing in the post-medieval 

period. The Queens Hotel has origins in the 17th century. In the past it’s also been known as 

the Queen’s Arms. 

 

Figure 56 Opposite the Queens Hotel, on the raised end of Cross Hill, is this stone, 
which was used by the smithy that existed next door to the Queens Hotel until the 
1950s, for mounting iron hoops to wooden cart wheels. 

Page 309



44 

 

 

Figure 57 The Manor House Inn 

The Manor House is located where Cross Hill meets Main Street. Note the infilled carriage 

arch in the centre, which would have given access to stabling and a yard at the rear. This 

building is an amalgamation of several, dating from the late 18th or early 19th century, with 

further alterations and additions. It is grade II listed. 

At this point near the bottom of Main Street, and further up, there are some very interesting 

level changes where surfaces join at different heights, with attractive retaining walls, 

glimpses and vantage points branching off. As with most of St Bees, it is too small to be 

comfortably navigated by road traffic, which is both a cause and symptom of its traffic 

congestion, and a source of St Bees’ engagingly historic and “human-scale” environment 

(human-scale in the sense it was designed to be traversed on foot or by/with an animal). 

Page 310



45 

 

Figure 58 129 Main Street features an extremely lush front garden that gives a very 
pleasant, cottage-like appearance and softens the largely hard surfacing of this area. 
There is very little vegetation in general visible from the public areas of Main Street. 
Although beautiful, creepers can damage render and soft masonry. 

 

Figure 59 125 and 126 Main Street. From historic map evidence, 126 (former Co-
Operative Society premises) appears to have been originally constructed as a barn in 
the 19th century; 125 is somewhat older. 

125 and 126 Main Street are attractive buildings although could hardly be more different. 

125 is a well proportioned and detailed example of a house dating probably from the early 

19th century. 126 is positioned end-on to the road, and features an extraordinarily moulded 

and decorated gable, crowned with a beehive. It appears originally to have been a barn, and 

Page 311



46 

to have been converted to a Co-Operative branch, their symbol being the beehive, in around 

1902.  

The garage door, however, does not make the best impression, and is likely to be the part 

most people notice from the pavement, being at eye-level. Its opening would possibly have 

been a shop front or other enriched entrance following the 1902 conversion. 

This arrangement of a barn perpendicular to the street is reminiscent of the one at Stone 

House Farm too, and appears to be a local typology. Writing in 1815, author and playwright 

Richard Ayton writes of St Bees, “[It is] a village in the ordinary style of the county, consisting 

of a row of rough and uncouth cottages, with a barn interposing between each…”  

These two appear to be examples of the type of barn to which he was referring. 

 

Figure 60 Nursery Cottage, a picturesque 17th century house.  

As with a number of properties in recent years, what was the front garden at Nursery 

Cottage has been replaced with gravel and a parked car. The change has been neatly 

executed, and is clearly fulfilling a need, but there is no denying that parked cars are harmful 

to the conservation area’s character and appearance. 

Page 312



47 

 

Figure 61 Sandstone cottages typical of Main Street: simple in appearance, two 
storey, and fronting the pavement. Though there are plenty of cottages like this on 
Main Street, the area’s variation is one of its strengths. Note the completeness of the 
chimney stacks, an important detail, even if many are missing their pots.  

 

Figure 62 Historic access gaps, such as this between 18 and 21 Main Street, allow 
glimpses of more secluded areas behind, providing interest. 

Page 313



48 

 

Figure 63 East Croft, 27 and 28 Main Street, a lovely symmetrical pair of houses 
constructed in the latter part of the 19th century. For the most part, the detailing has 
survived well, with the porch being a particular highlight. It is to the advantage of 
these properties that both halves still match. 

 

Figure 64 Orchard House (115 Main Street) is a grade II listed late 18th or early 19th 
century house with a distinctive late Georgian "double plan", consisting of two 
pitched volumes with a valley between them. 

Page 314



49 

 

Figure 65 The entrance to Seacroft Drive from Main Street 

The Seacroft Drive housing estate dates from the late 20th century. In the first edition OS 

map, this area is fairly open, with a building well set back from the road, at an angle to it, 

labelled “Inns of Court”. This term in current usage refers to the four inns of court in central 

London, to which UK barristers belong; it seems likely that in this sense it also had a legal 

meaning, possibly a local courthouse. 

This building had been replaced by a large house by the end of the 19th century named 

Seacroft House, which was accessed via a curving drive. Today, a house called Seacroft 

House sits on the same site, but it is clearly a more recent building, and the gardens have 

been split up into plots for small individual dwellings. Nonetheless, this estate retains a 

spacious and pleasant feel, helped by its outlook with green fields and the sea to the west. 

Page 315



50 

 

Figure 66 The late 19th century Seacroft House visible within its large plot. Note the 
railway running north-south to the west of Main Street. This is still the main West 
Cumbria coastal line, and effectively prevents modern development from spilling 
further west than it already has. 

 

Figure 67 Numbers 45, 46 and 47 Main Street 

Towards the brow of the hill, Main Street again splits and becomes multi-level, as it does 

nearer the bottom where Cross Hill joins it. Some of the Victorian properties up here are 

more elaborate than the cottages, such as those shown above. The red sandstone is very 

attractive, and complemented by dressings around the openings. 45 features a symmetrical 

frontage with tripartite sashes flanking a central door; 46 and 47 are matching, featuring 

round-headed doorways with fanlights.  

Page 316



51 

 

Figure 68 Numbers 48, 49 and 50 Main Street.  

At 48-50, fenestration has suffered and the fore-walls have lost their iron railings (as did 

many, to contribute iron to the war effort). Number 50 appears to have had its render 

removed and the stone painted, and a soil vent pipe runs up the middle of the façade. 

Number 49 has been pebbledashed; it additionally used to feature a moulded triangular 

pediment above the front door, which gave this trio a centre point and emphasised their 

symmetry. With this gone, and the windows and colours no longer matching, the effect has 

been lost. However, the fore-walls themselves have been retained, and the rooflights that 

have been inserted into the front aspects of the roofs are mounted flush, so they don’t 

protrude. 

The increased height caused by the step in road height elevates these properties above 

those on the opposite side. This arrangement appears to have been caused by a mid-19th 

century road-straightening project, the purpose of which was to provide better access 

between the sandstone quarries on Outrigg and the station at the bottom of Main Street, 

from which it was transported. Much of it likely made its way to Barrow-in-Furness along 

this route. This left the “old” Main Street as the narrower, higher level part, with the new 

part lower and wider. 

Page 317



52 

 

Figure 69 The straightening and grading project that left Main Street split level can 
be seen in this map, with the upper and lower sections divided by a straight line 
northward from the corner of Outrigg. 

At the junction between Main Street and Outrigg, there was an iron lamp post as recently as 

2011, but this has regrettably been removed and replaced with a rather ugly steel example. 

St Bees was one of the first villages within the region to have gas lighting in the early-19th 

century, but the recently lost iron lamp post appears to have been an electrical one, likely 

dating from the early- or mid-20th century. 

The conservation area extends a short way up Outrigg, to include a 19th century pinfold 

(visible in the above map), which has survived in remarkably good condition. A pinfold is a 

pen where stray animals are impounded until reclaimed for a fine by their owner.  

Page 318



53 

 

Figure 70 Former Methodist Church (L), 107A-109 Main Street. A simple repainting at 
107A has made an enormous improvement to the appearance of this building within 
the last few years. 

The Methodist Church dates from 1865. It is unlisted although contributes strongly to this 

part of the street. Being set back slightly, it is not widely visible, so one almost stumbles 

upon it when walking along. It ceased use as a place of worship in 2019, and is more 

vulnerable as a result. The tall gothic windows with their Y-tracery will not be cheap to 

replace should they become irreparable, which adds to its vulnerability. There is an engraved 

plaque above the porch, although it is too worn to be legible. The above photo highlights 

again the harm caused by insensitive lamp post insertion. 

At a narrow point in the street, one encounters a pair of attractive and very different listed 

buildings: Redbourn House, an 1870s Victorian villa on the east side of the road, and 

Fairladies Farmhouse on the west side, which is both much lower and sitting lower in 

relation to the street. The latter likely dates from the 18th century, but may contain earlier 

fabric. Both are grade II listed, as is the impressive wall with its cast iron in front of Redbourn 

House. 

The International Bee Research Association’s gazetteer of bee boles – houses in which straw 

bee hives or skeps were located – describes Redbourn House as having three filled-in bee 

boles located in a south-facing stone wall to the rear. Although on private land and not 

visible from the public areas of the conservation area, they are a rare and valuable part of 

local history and should be protected. 

Page 319



54 

 

Figure 71 Redbourn House, an impressive and lofty grade II listed Victorian dwelling 
with baroque elements and separately listed boundary wall with railings 

 

Figure 72 Fairladies Farmhouse and its attached barn, which is also grade II listed 

Page 320



55 

 

Figure 73 Fairladies Barn,  

Fairladies Barn is a converted former agricultural building associated with Fairladies Farm, 

now in use as a bed and breakfast. The substantial buttress halfway along is presumably a 

more recent addition added to prevent movement. 

The buildings south of Fairladies Barn are a varied and engaging mix of two-storey cottages 

in red sandstone and painted render. A number of buildings in this area (and elsewhere in St 

Bees) also feature date stones including names and initials, which are important elements of 

local character and distinctiveness. These should be protected, both when altering buildings 

and in preventing them becoming saturated. 

Between numbers 83 and 84, the tight terraces become more open, and there are views 

offered amongst the vegetation: a narrower glimpse uphill toward the higher buildings to 

the east, and a more expansive vista toward the sea and St Bees Head to the west. 

83 Main Street is of note for its Keswick Codlin apple trees, one of the village’s historic 

plantings. The species is an early and productive culinary apple, which was originally 

discovered in the 1790s growing at Gleaston Castle near Ulverston. The cultivar was 

propagated by John Sander at Keswick, who began distributing it under the name Keswick 

Codlin shortly after. 

The examples at number 83 form a small cluster overhanging the boundary wall at the rear 

of the pavement. 

Page 321



56 

 

Figure 74 The barn at Town Head Farm 

Opposite the entrance to Sea Hill Lane, one finds Town Head Farm. The leasehold of the 

estate was gifted to the Parish Council in the late 19th century, allowing them to generate 

income, part of a plan by the owner that involved using rent to progressively buy more and 

more properties until vast tracts of local housing could come under the control of Parish 

Councils, who would be able to ensure the rights of tenants. In reality, this ambition never 

amounted to anything, however the “Pagan gift” (after its bestower, Reverend Alfred Pagan) 

enabled the council to engage in various charitable activities for the benefit of the 

community. 

The barn remains in use for storage and has not been converted, which is to the advantage 

of the local area, promulgating a half-millennium old character of agricultural buildings and 

land uses along Main Street, even if this barn has become cut off from its fields. 

 

Page 322



57 

 

Figure 75 Grainger House 

Grainger House is a grade II listed house from the late Regency or early Victorian period. 

Note the diagonal staining demarcating the route of an internal chimney that passes across a 

pair of blind windows. 81 Main Street, adjoining it, is about contemporary with it and bears 

a date stone reading “John and Jane Noble 1838”. 

Opposite these properties is an undeveloped area, which appears from historic OS maps 

never to have been developed, but instead to have been a small field or garden. It is 

separated from the road by a tall and attractive “cock-and-hen” wall of snecked red 

sandstone, whereby the copings are alternately laid down and upright. 

 

Figure 76 The attractive wall (its cock-and-hen coping stones are obscured by ivy) 
separating the road from an area of vegetation that, like the barn at Town Head 
Farm, allows the area to retain aspects of its agricultural history. Sites like this are 
vulnerable to infill buildings, or even pressure from car parking. The gradient of this 
plot has likely been its saving grace by making such development difficult. 

Page 323



58 

 

Figure 77 Penrhyn Villa, a semi-detached pair dating, from the plaque, from 1877.  

Both halves of Penrhyn Villa (“penrhyn” is a Welsh word meaning “headland”, an 

appropriate name given their location overlooking the sea) have been repainted in recent 

years, and benefit from colour schemes that are harmonious with one another. It is also 

apparent that number 75 has lost a moulding with drip detail to match those above the front 

doors from its first floor window, and further drip details below the eaves. At the same time, 

it has gained two rows of quoins, and both properties have gained bands around the upper 

floor windows. 

  

Page 324



59 

3.2. Materials 

St Bees conservation area is strongly supported by its materials, principally in the eponymous 

red sandstone that, though relatively soft, lends many of the village’s buildings a warmth and 

solidity that collectively creates a distinctive and very pleasant impression. This is a material that 

lends itself both to modest terraced dwellings and ornate civic structures, and has been 

successfully incorporated into modern buildings as well. It can be used effectively alongside a 

range of other well-judged materials. 

 

Figure 78 Red sandstone on Cross Street (Thimble Cottage in the centre), creating a 
wonderful richness and softness in combination with vegetation, slate roofs, and timber 
windows. 

 

Figure 79 Removal of render gives an opportunity to see what's underneath.  

Page 325



60 

Number 89 Main Street in Figure 79 has red sandstone rubble walls. Care should be taken with 

solid wall construction not to cause damp issues internally with cementitious wall coatings. Lime 

render and plaster should be used as a first option (advice on lime is freely available from the 

Council; it’s a complex topic).  

With construction of this sort, there should also not be any injected damp proof course, and 

damp treatments such as tanking slurries and waterproof membranes should only be necessary 

in rare and judicious cases. In the long run, these may exacerbate damp issues and harm building 

fabric rather than help. 

In Figure 79, note the outline of an old doorway between the ground floor door and window. 

This property and the one to its left appear from map data to have been built as a pair and then 

divided in the late 19th century. In the middle, to the left of where the render has been removed, 

there is a stone bearing the inscription, “Thomas and Bridget Noble 1818” (Note the 

abvementioned date stone from Number 81 – also Nobles, dated twenty years later than this. 

These two date stones likely refer to two generations of the same family). 

 

Figure 80 Coloured render also has a strong tradition in St Bees, with buildings providing 
uplifting splashes of pastel or earthy hues that contrast well with the deeper qualities of 
red sandstone. Painted render also has the ability to show off more ornate detailing, as is 
the case here with the paler blue house. 

Page 326



61 

 

Figure 81 Lakeland slate roofs are characteristic of the conservation area, and sit well 
with red sandstone or coloured stucco. Their replacement with tiles is rarely beneficial to 
the area’s appearance, and normally resisted. 

 

Figure 82 Timber sash windows have generally been one of the heaviest casualties in St 
Bees, however, where they are retained (even in a somewhat anachronistic brilliant 
white colour) they complement the area. Much can be done to improve the performance 
of timber single-glazed windows, and where renewal is necessary a suitably specified 
double-glazed example is often acceptable, and provides a balance between insulation 
and appearance. 

Page 327



62 

3.3. Uses 

The valley character area is characterised principally by the school and priory, although in 

addition to these institutional uses there are a number of residences, and also the station. The 

valley area differs from the other two in that it also contains large areas of grass, belonging to 

local farms and to the school in the form of playing fields. 

High House Road is almost entirely given over to dwellings, but there is a civic building and a pub 

near the bottom of Finkle Street. Further up, houses are positioned facing the street and feature 

large gardens behind them, whereas lower down, the houses are more densely packed in 

terraces and some feature gardens at the fronts. 

Main Street, like Finkle Street, is also mostly residential. Though there used to be more shops 

decades or a century ago, a number still remain, along with pubs and guesthouses. A few 

buildings near the top of the hill retain some agricultural function, although have been cut off 

from farmland by more recent housing development. 

4. Public Realm 

4.1. Views, Vistas, Glimpses 

 

Figure 83 From Vale View, looking down Pow Beck valley toward Whitehaven. St Bees is 
surrounded by gentle slopes of wonderfully rich greenness, and where these haven’t 
been compromised by modern housing they still provide a tranquil setting to many of the 
village’s locations. 

Page 328



63 

 

Figure 84 In places, the green surroundings have been lost, though this is fortunately 
fairly minimal 

 

Figure 85 Abbey Road offers a very pleasing vista across the valley towards High House 
Road and Main Street on the other side. The prominence of the priory’s tower places it 
within the majority of the views across the valley. 

Page 329



64 

 

Figure 86 The view back toward the south side of St Bees from Abbey Road or Station 
Road evidences the amount of housing development that has taken place, to the point 
that Main Street is quite hard to pick out in the above view. 

 

 

Figure 87 A key vista one appreciates when entering the village from the Whitehaven 
direction looks over the roofs of the school towards the other side. The pastel colours of 
Lonsdale Terrace are visible in the middle of this view, and make a particularly evocative 
impression. 

Page 330



65 

 

Figure 88 The view from Pow Bridge is one of the key views in the conservation area, 
taking in both the priory and school buildings, and the greenery to either side and 
behind. 

 

Figure 89 Views from High House Road and Finkle Street are often more directional due 
to the higher density of buildings. Intrigue plays a part here, glimpses of places that are 
tucked away and invite the passer-by to investigate. In this example, the quality of this 
snicket is heightened by its cobbled surface. 

Page 331



66 

 

Figure 90 Further up High House Road, intermittant views between the houses and 
mature gardens become accessible, looking over the valley.  

 

Figure 91 Surviving carriage arches such as this one on Main Street provide a glimpse 
into the semi-hidden spaces behind.  

Page 332



67 

 

Figure 92 Interesting glimpses feature throughout Main Street, and provide moments of 
relief from the continuous terraced frontages. 

 

Figure 93 Near the top of Main Street, the entrance to Sea Mill Lane offers a glimpse of 
the sea and golf links, admitting the sound of the waves too in what makes for quite a 
dramatic moment. From the majority of St Bees village, it is not possible to see the sea, 
and easy to forget it’s so close until glimpses like this unexpectedly insert themselves into 
the close-knit urban fabric. 

 

Page 333



68 

4.2. Roads and Paths 

The pavements lining Main Street used to be cobbled, though as with many historic areas 

throughout the country, all has been swept aside in favour of tarmac. While it may be easier to 

walk on, walking in the road no longer being practical due to traffic, its loss has had a harmful 

effect on St Bees’ character and appearance. 

Cobbles do however survive in a number of the snickets that lead down the backs of rows, 

particularly around High House Road. 

 

Figure 94 A few cobbled snickets survive in the Finkle Street/High House Road area, and 
these are precious, their enclosedness and texture a key part of their charm. 

Page 334



69 

 

Figure 95 Tarmac causes more problems the older it gets. Any movement beneath it 
results in cracking, and repair leads to mismatched patches that move and wear relative 
to the original. Eventually, an unsightly mass of scarred material results, and 
furthermore contributes to surface water runoff. 

 

Figure 96 This area of pavement at the end of Cross Hill has an attractive flagged surface 
and, interestingly, red sandstone curbs that add a strip of colour along the edge. Being 
quite soft, red sandstone is not commonly seen as a curbing material. 

Page 335



70 

4.3. Boundaries 

 

Figure 97 One of the many red sandstone walls that characterise St Bees' conservation 
area on High House Road. Dressed rubble with half-round copings. Many of these bound 
the gardens of large properties or define snickets, as here, leading up the side of Grindal 
Place. 

 

Figure 98 Iron railings survive in places, often as part of attractive red sandstone 
perimeter treatments. The mixture of high quality ornamental ironwork, red sandstone 
and vegetation creates a richness, colour and even smell, particularly after rain, that can 
be very pleasing. 

Page 336



71 

 

Figure 99 This property on High House Road features impressive squared rubble walling, 
with grand gate piers and a very attractive gate forming a feature. 

 

Figure 100 Squared red sandstone rubble wall with half-round copings and vegetation on 
High House Road. Though the vegetation is a key part of the sensory qualities of this 
area, it can also damage masonry if left unchecked. 

Page 337



72 

 

Figure 101 This "cock-and-hen" walling is only a few years old, but it is a well-executed 
example of a locally distinctive typology. Its use on Abbey Road successfully frames the 
street and entrance to a house. 

 

Figure 102 This wall on the corner of the B5345, just outside the boundary of the 
conservation area, is quite noticeably bulging. Many of the walls in this area are 
retaining walls, and the mix of little slopes and steps cut into the incline is characterful. 
However, these retaining walls need monitoring to make sure they do not lose integrity. 

Page 338



73 

 

Figure 103 Hedges feature more prominently in the northern part of St Bees. This snicket 
is outside the conservation area, but contributes to its setting. Featuring a neatly mown 
hedge, lawned surface, and high stone wall, this particular one is a fine example. 

 

Figure 104 Characteristic red sandstone walling with triangular copings near the station 
and Grindal House 

  

Page 339



74 

5. Natural Environment 

5.1. Open Spaces 

Pow Beck valley is the main open space in St Bees, and forms a key element of its character and 

appearance. Within the conservation area, it is composed of fields, the priory grounds, and 

various recreation and sports grounds. Apart from this there is little open space within St Bees 

beyond a variety of private gardens. Some notable green areas include the lawns in front of Vale 

View, the lawn in front of Manor Stead and Cross Hill House, and the grounds of Fleatham House 

(although these have been greatly reduced in recent years). 

5.2. Water 

Pow Beck runs along the valley. The pedestrian route alongside the 16th/19th century bridge is 

actually a small separate bridge that takes people closer to the water, where they are able to 

enjoy an enclosed, picturesque little space, as well as appreciate the dual arches underneath the 

bridge that belie its phasing. 

There is a view of the sea from one or two spots on Main Street, and this catches the sun in the 

afternoon and evening, being west of the village. The on-shore wind carries the sound of 

breakers too up to these locations on milder days, and when the sea is rough, its rumble can 

carry throughout the entire village. 

5.3. Trees 

Trees are relatively few in the valley and along Main Street, although there are trees around the 

priory that distinguish its precinct from other adjoining areas, and trees along High House Road, 

increasingly as one progresses outward from the centre of the village. Due to the slope that runs 

perpendicular to High House Road, these appear heightened on the south-east side, but the 

view is between and over them on the north-west side. 

Trees also characterise the grounds of Fleatham House, which are raised and form a backdrop to 

the lower part of High House Road, though this impression has been slightly eroded by the 

insertion of a number dwellings. 

  

Page 340



75 

6. Key Characteristics 
 Winding, close, intimate streets, frequently either inconvenient or impossible to get a car 

along. 

 A variety of high quality materials: red sandstone, painted render, Lakeland slate roofs, 

cobbles. However, windows in particular have suffered, with a very great number of units 

that are poor even by the standards of uPVC.  

 Landscaping is important in St Bees with level changes, retaining walls, and the paths 

between them natural products of its valley setting, and serving to establish interest in 

various locations. 

 Red sandstone houses and civic buildings, and rows of pastel-hued houses, set along winding 

or tucked away streets that offer glimpses to the passer-by are a key ingredient of St Bees’ 

character. The presence of vegetation in many areas perfectly complements these, softening 

their appearance and adding interest. 

 Low, varied buildings. Very little in St Bees is tall; even the former Methodist Church on Main 

Street nestles within the streetscape, alongside the surrounding buildings. The priory tower 

is the principle point of prominence, but this is set within trees, and appropriate given that it 

is St Bees’ most significant building.  

 The greenness of the valley is a key point of note. It retains fields along most of its sides, 

however, these have been built upon in patches, and the southern half of St Bees, when 

viewed from the north (e.g. Abbey Road, looking past the priory), now primarily gives the 

impression of being a collection of detached housing. Main Street, set within it, appears 

small and somewhat lost. 

 The school and priory between them create a place of tranquillity and beauty, beside which 

the converted farm buildings of Abbey Farm sit well. The space around this area is to its 

advantage, although on the north side of Abbey Road, development has been patchy in its 

success. 

 The split level sections of Main Street add interest and variety. Along with various locations 

clearly not designed for modern road vehicles they engender the irreplaceable charm of a 

place that was suited to a different time and economy. This is one of the key strengths of the 

village now. 

  

Page 341



76 

7. Summary of Issues 
 Poor vehicular access and parking spaces create a pressure to widen, open up, demolish 

walls, and tarmac surfaces. This is one of the main threats the conservation area faces and is 

fundamentally opposed to what makes it valuable, which is its dense, ancient character. 

 Widespread loss of suitable windows, and their replacement with an assortment of 

inelegant plastic units in varying styles. 

 Because of the arrangement of St Bees on either side of a valley, it is difficult to insert new 

houses in a way that will not be highly visible. The modernising, suburbanising effect of late 

20th century housing developments on the conservation area and its setting have already 

had a noticeably harmful effect, not to mention contributed to the pressure on the small 

streets from traffic. It may in theory be possible to create a successful development using 

innovative design, but a number of the existing areas demonstrate a poor level of 

integration. 

 Main Street retains its shape and character, although has suffered from some lost detailing 

(e.g. windows), the volume of traffic, and the loss of non-residential uses. Its tarmac surface 

and pavements, though necessary to deal with the vehicles, have also robbed it of a certain 

softness and irregularity. 

 

 

Figure 105 Poor quality pointing risks harming the characterstic appearance of St 
Bees’ red sandstone. In certain cases, it will be contributing to damage to the fabric 
of the stone itself. This is particularly apparent where stone surfaces have 
delaminated or powdered away, leaving an edge of pointing standing proud. 

 

 

Page 342



77 

8. Appendices 

8.1. Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats (SWOT Analysis) 

 Strengths 

o Historic character is largely intact; there has not been much demolition. 

o The key assets of priory, school, bridge, and Manor Stead/Cross Hill House survive 

well, and other important assets are also almost complete. 

o The streets have avoided modern widening and straightening schemes. Where Main 

Street has been straightened, the strange way in which it was accomplished in the 

19th century has left an interesting split-level arrangement. 

o The greenness of the valley is largely unspoilt. Not only is this beautiful, but it allows 

St Bees’ agriculturally-developed layout to retain a connection with the fields that 

were an integral part of it. 

o Material qualities, urban grain and vegetation complement one another in a 

distinctive and holistic language of place that is recognisably “St Bees”. 

 Weaknesses 

o Road traffic has caused significant harm to the character, necessitating tarmacking 

of roads and pavements, choking of the narrow streets with parked and moving cars, 

and insertions here and there through historic boundaries to create parking. 

o A lack of neatly integrated, discreetly hidden communal carparks requires the main 

streets to do the majority of the heavy lifting when it comes to parking. 

o Widespread loss of attractive timber fenestration. 

o Difficulties with cement render and pointing that are generally unattractive and 

damaging to red sandstone, and may in the long run contribute to damp problems 

rather than cure them. 

o Some housing development has taken place in a way that has harmed the setting of 

heritage assets and the conservation area. 

 Opportunities: 

o Changing the many poor quality uPVC windows in St Bees, particularly on Main 

Street, for more attractive timber units would bring a great improvement in 

appearance. 

o Finding a way of reducing the traffic burden and number of parked cars in the 

conservation area would bring great benefits. This could perhaps be combined with 

provision of charging points for electrical vehicles. 

o Train and cycling alternatives provide a possibility of reducing car demand. 

o Minimising the incursion of tarmac surfaces would be beneficial. 

o Finding ways of allowing small independent shops etc. to survive on Main Street 

would improve the life of the place and potentially also be more rewarding to 

tourists as well as residents. 

 Threats 

o Housing development harming the setting of the conservation area and its assets. 

o Decline in condition of historic, solid-walled buildings from under maintenance and 

poorly specified alteration. 

o Loss of historic character to provide ease of car use. 

Page 343



78 

8.2. Gazetteer of Designated Heritage Assets 

 

List Entry No. Name Address Grade Designation 
Year 

Construction Year 

1086679 Abbey Farmhouse Abbey Road II 1979 1679 

1086680 Barn range adjoining south end of Abbey 
Farmhouse 

Abbey Road II 1979 Likely 18th century 

1137347 Pow Bridge B5345 II* 1984 1585 

1086684 Manor Stead and house adjoining to north Cross Hill II* 1967 Early-16th century 

1086685 Mayfield and house adjoining to east Finkle Street II 1984 19th century 

1312334 16 Finkle Street II 1984 1818 

1086686 Croft House High House 
Road 

II 1984 18th century 

1312335 Barn to north east of high house High House 
Road 

II 1984 1810 

1137383 1-11 Lonsdale 
Terrace 

II 1984 Mid-19th century 

1086677 Grindal House Main Street II 1984 c. 1860 

1086687 Manor House Hotel incorporating numbers 10, 
11 and 12 

Main Street II 1984 Late-18th/early-19th century 

1086688 Forecourt walls, railings, and gate piers to 
number 52 (Redbourn house) 

Main Street II 1984 c. 1870 

1086689 Grainger House Main Street II 1984 c. 1838 

1086690 Fairladies Farmhouse and adjoining barn Main Street II 1984 Late-18th century; possibly earlier core 

1086691 Nursery Cottage Main Street II 1984 17th century 

1137390 Redbourn House Main Street II 1984 c. 1870 

P
age 344



79 

1137416 Stone House Main Street II 1984 1712 

1312344 81 Main Street II 1984 c. 1838 

1312348 Orchard House Main Street II 1984 Late-18th/early-19th century 

1336025 Forecourt wall, gate, and end piers to front of 
Grindal House 

Main Street II 1984 c. 1860 

1336027 Priory Church of St Mary and St Bega St Bees 
Priory  

I 1967 c. 1120, with later alterations 

1086681 Former chancel to priory church of St Mary 
and St Bega 

St Bees 
Priory 

I 1984 Late-12th century, late-13th/early-14th 
century, early-19th century 

1086682 War memorial in parish churchyard to north of 
lych gate 

St Bees 
Priory 

II 1984 1921 

1137319 Wall, to west of priory church nave, 
incorporating medieval cross and lintel 

St Bees 
Priory 

I 1967 19th century, incorporating medieval 
fragments 

1137338 Lych gate to north east of priory church 
chancel 

St Bees 
Priory 

II 1984 Early-20th century 

1312351 Sundial in churchyard to north east of priory 
church chancel 

St Bees 
Priory 

II 1984 1649 

1336028 Cross in churchyard to north of priory church 
nave 

St Bees 
Priory 

I 1967 Likely 10th/11th century 

1336029 New College Hall St Bees 
Priory 

II 1967 1863 

1086678 St Bees school buildings around quadrangle to 
south west 

St Bees 
School 

II 1967 Late 16th century and early/mid-19th 
century 

1336026 Railings and gate closing west side of 
quadrangle at St Bees School 

St Bees 
School 

II 1984 c. 1842 

1086683 War memorial adjoining south end of west 
parapet to Pow Bridge 

Station Road II 1984 1923 

1412068 Signal Box Station Road II 2013 1891 

1312314 1-5 Vale View II 1984 19th century 

1336030 Ashley House Vale View II 1984 19th century 

 

P
age 345



 

80 

8.3. Area Maps 

 

Figure 106 St Bees conservation area, showing the three character areas used here to 
appraise it. 

 

Page 346



 

81 

 

Figure 107 St Bees conservation area, showing listed buildings (purple) and other positive 
townscape elements (green). 

Page 347



 

82 

 

Figure 108 St Bees conservation area, showing views, vistas, landmarks, green areas and 
important areas of hard surface. Listed buildings are in purple.  

Page 348



 

83 

8.4. Bibliography 

Ahlfeldt G. M., Holman, N. and Wendland, N. (2012) An Assessment of the effect of Conservation 

Areas on Value. London School of Economics 

Historic England (2019) Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management Second 

Edition, Historic England Advice Note 1. Historic England. Swindon 

Historic England (2021). National Heritage List For England. Online [Available at: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list] 

Hogg, R. (1884) A Guide to the Fruits and Fruit Trees of Great Britain. Journal of Horticulture 

Office, London 

“Houses of Benedictine monks: The priory of St Bees”, in A History of the County of Cumberland: 

Volume 2, ed. J Wilson (London, 1905), pp. 178-183. Accessed at British History Online 

http://www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/cumb/vol2/pp178-183 

Hyde, M. and Pevsner, N. (2010) The Buildings of England: Cumbria – Cumberland, Westmorland 

and Furness. Yale University Press. New Haven and London 

IBRA (2021) The IBRA Bee Boles Register. [online] Available at: www.beeboles.org.uk   

Imperial War Museum. 2021. War Memorials Register. [online] Available at: 

www.iwm.org.uk/memorials 

Knüsel, Christopher J; Batt, Catherine M; Cook, Gordon; Montgomery, Janet; Müldner, Gundula; 

Ogden, Allen R; Palmer, Carol; Stern, Ben; Todd, John; Wilson, Andrew S (2010) The Identity of 

the St Bees Lady, an Osteobiographical Approach. Society for Medieval Archaeology (54) 

Lakesguides.co.uk (2021) Date Stones, Cumbria. [online] Available at: 

www.lakesguides.co.uk/html/topics/datstn.htm   

MacLeod, Innes (1988) Sailing on Horseback: William Daniell and Richard Ayton in Cumbria and 

Dumfries and Galloway. T.C. Farries and Co. Dumfries 

McAndrew I., Sim D. & St Bees Parish Council (2021) St Bees, A Cumbrian Coastal Village. [online] 

Available at: www.stbees.org.uk  

Ordnance Survey (1865) Cumberland LXXII.2 Surveyed 1863. [Online] Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145855 Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1899) Cumberland LXXII.2 Revised 1898. [Online] Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145858 Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Ordnance Survey (1924) Cumberland LXXII.2Revised 1922. [Online] Available at: 

https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145861 Used under CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 license 

Page 349

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list
http://www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/cumb/vol2/pp178-183
http://www.beeboles.org.uk/
http://www.iwm.org.uk/memorials
http://www.lakesguides.co.uk/html/topics/datstn.htm
http://www.stbees.org.uk/
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145855
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145858
https://maps.nls.uk/view/121145861


 

84 

Oxford City Council (2021) Character Assessment Toolkit. Online [Available at: 

www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit) 

Second World War Blog (2014) The Village War Memorials of St Bees. [online] Accessed at: 

2ndww.blogspot.com/2014/07/the-village-war-memorials-of-st-bees.html  

Walker, P. and Crane, E. (1991) Bee Shelters and Bee Boles in Cumbria. In: Transactions of the 

Cumberland and Westmorland Antiquarian Archaeological Society 91: 237-262. [online] 

Available at: 

www.evacranetrust.org/uploads/document/b9812fbb072c13078b5089070794f7097f2aa62e.pdf  

Whitehaven News (2021) Your Memories of St Bees in Years Gone Past. [online] Available at: 

www.whitehavennews.co.uk/news/17115053.your-memories-of-st-bees-in-years-gone-past  

Williams, J. (1869). The visitor's guide to St. Bees, Whitehaven, Egremont, Ravenglass, and the 

surrounding country villages. United Kingdom: (n.p.). Accessed at Google Books 

https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/_/qgAHAAAAQAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=0  

Visit Cumbria. 2021. St. Bees Priory | Visit Cumbria. [online] Available at: 

www.visitcumbria.com/wc/st-bees-priory  

 

Page 350

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20193/character_assessment_toolkit
http://2ndww.blogspot.com/2014/07/the-village-war-memorials-of-st-bees.html
http://2ndww.blogspot.com/2014/07/the-village-war-memorials-of-st-bees.html
http://www.evacranetrust.org/uploads/document/b9812fbb072c13078b5089070794f7097f2aa62e.pdf
http://www.whitehavennews.co.uk/news/17115053.your-memories-of-st-bees-in-years-gone-past
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/_/qgAHAAAAQAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=0
http://www.visitcumbria.com/wc/st-bees-priory


 

 

Appraisal prepared by: 

Dr Sammy Woodford 

Conservation and Design Officer 

Copeland Borough Council 

 

Contact: 

Copeland Borough Council 

01946 598 300 

info@copeland.gov.uk 

 

Visit our front desk, or write to Development Management using the post box at: 

Market Hall 

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

 

Page 351

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 21 August 2020
	5 Shopfront Design Guide
	Item 5 App 1 Draft Shopfront Design Guide

	6 Conservation Area Appraisals
	Item 6 App 1 Cleator Moor Conservation Area Appraisal Apr 2021
	Item 6 App 2 Egremont Conservation Area Appraisal Apr 2021
	Item 6 App 3 Hensingham Conservation Area Appraisal Apr 2021
	Item 6 App 4 Millom Conservation Area Appraisal Apr 2021
	Item 6 App 5 St Bees Conservation Area Appraisal Apr 2021


